
 

Spelthorne Borough Council, Council Offices, Knowle Green 
 
Staines-upon-Thames TW18 1XB 
 
www.spelthorne.gov.uk customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk Telephone 01784 451499 
 

 
 
 
 
 Please reply to:  

Contact: Michelle Beaumont 
Service: Committee Services 
Direct line: 01784 446337 
E-mail: m.beaumont@spelthorne.gov.uk 
Date: 7 January 2021 

 
 

Notice of meeting 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

Date: 

 

Tuesday, 19 January 2021 

Time: 

 

6.00 pm 

 

Place: 

 

Video conference call 

 
To: Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Councillors: 
 
V.J. Leighton (Chairman) 
O. Rybinski (Vice-Chairman) 
C.L. Barratt 
J.H.J. Doerfel 
J.T.F. Doran 
 

R.D. Dunn 
T. Fidler 
M. Gibson 
A.C. Harman 
I.T.E. Harvey 
 

N. Islam 
T. Lagden 
L. E. Nichols 
D. Saliagopoulos 
 

 
Councillors are reminded to notify Committee Services of any Gifts and Hospitality offered 
to you since the last Council meeting so that these may be entered in the Gifts and 
Hospitality Declaration book.  
 

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/
mailto:customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk


 

 

AGENDA 
 

Description  Lead Timings Page 
Number. 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for non-
attendance. 

Chairman 
 

6.00pm 
 

 

2.   Minutes  

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held 
on 3 November 2020 as a correct record.  

Chairman 
 

 
 

5 - 10 

3.   Disclosures of Interest  

 To receive any disclosures of interest from 
councillors in accordance with the Council’s 
Code of Conduct for members. 

Chairman 
 

 
 

 

4.   Call-in of Cabinet decisions  

 No Cabinet decisions have been called in.  
 

 
 

 

5.   Cabinet Forward Plan  

 A copy of the latest Forward Plan is 
attached. 
 
If any members of the Committee have any 
issues they want to raise in relation to the 
Cabinet Forward Plan, please inform Terry 
Collier, Deputy Chief Executive, 24 hours in 
advance of the meeting with reasons for the 
request. 

Chairman 
 

 
 

11 - 16 

6.   The Lower Sunbury Lendy Memorial Lion  

 To make a recommendation to Cabinet in 
relation to the Lower Sunbury Lendy 
memorial Lion. 

Deborah 
Ashman/ Cllr 
Barratt 
 

6.05pm 
 

17 - 108 

7.   Outline Budget 2021-2024  

 To consider the draft budget proposals for 
the outline budget 2021-2024. 

Terry 
Collier/Cllr 
Buttar 

6.35pm 
 

To Follow 

8.   Reserves Policy  

 To note the Council’s Reserves Policy 
effective from March 2020. 

Paul 
Taylor/Cllr 
Buttar 
 

7.25pm 
 

To Follow 



 
 

Description Lead Timings Page 
Number. 

 

 

9.   Treasury Management Strategy –  
half yearly report 

 

 To note the half-yearly report on the treasury 
management position. 

Anna 
Russell/Cllr 
Buttar 

7.35pm 
 

109 - 122 

10.   Treasury Management Strategy Statement  

 To note the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2021. 

Anna 
Russell/Cllr 
Buttar 

7.45pm 
 

To Follow 

11.   Work Programme  

 To consider the Committee’s work 
programme for the remainder of the 
Municipal year. 

Chairman 
 

7.55pm 
 

123 - 124 

12.   Updates from Task Groups  

 To receive updates from the following Task 
Groups: 
 
Climate Change – Cllr Noble 
End of Life Celebration Centre – Cllr Noble 
 
Clean Streets – Cllr Gething was previously 
the Lead member for this Task Group but is 
no longer a member of the Committee.  
 
The Committee is asked to consider 
whether: 
1. to appoint other members to the Clean 

Streets Task Group and  
2. to co-opt Cllr Gething to continue 

working on the Task Group 

Chairman/Cllr 
Noble 
 

8.05pm 
 

To Follow 

13.   Exempt Business  

 To move the exclusion of the Press/Public 
for the following item, in view of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information within the 
meaning of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972, as amended by 
the Local Government (Access to 
Information) Act 1985 and by the Local 
Government (Access to information) 
(Variation) Order 2006. 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 
 

Description Lead Timings Page 
Number. 

 

 

14.   Corporate Project Management  

 To note an update of the current status of 
Council projects. 

Sandy 
Muirhead/Cllr 
Noble 
 

8.20pm 
 

To Follow 

 



 
 

 
 

Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
3 November 2020 

 
Present: 

Councillor V.J. Leighton (Chairman) 
Councillor O. Rybinski (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillors: 

J.T.F. Doran 

R.D. Dunn 

T. Fidler 

N.J. Gething 

 

M. Gibson 

A.C. Harman 

I.T.E. Harvey 

N. Islam 

 

T. Lagden 

L. E. Nichols 

 

 

Apologies: Councillors C.L. Barratt, J.H.J. Doerfel and D. Saliagopoulos 

In attendance: Councillors C. Bateson, S. Buttar, R.J. Noble and B.B. Spoor. 
 

251/20   Minutes  
The minutes of the extraordinary meeting held on 22 September 2020 and the 
meeting held on 29 September 2020 were approved as correct records. 
 

252/20   Disclosures of Interest  
Councillor T. Fidler declared an interest in Item 7 - Leisure centres update, in 
the interest of transparency. He advised that he had dealings with some 
people who were involved in this matter and as it relates to financial 
transactions he would not take part in the discussion on the item.  
 

253/20   Call-in of Cabinet decisions  
No Cabinet decisions had been called in by the Committee. 
 

254/20   Cabinet Forward Plan  
The Committee considered and noted the Cabinet Forward Plan. 
 

255/20   Review of Community Safety  
The Community Safety Officer presented the report on a review of Community 
Safety. He corrected some errors in Paragraph 2.1 of the report: the table 
giving the data on reported crimes over the previous 12 months should refer 
to 2018/19 not 2017/18 and the figure for the decrease in shoplifting should 
be in green font to indicate a reduction. 
 
The Community Safety Officer outlined the priorities and statutory obligations 
for the Safer Stronger Partnership Board and the resources required to meet 
its responsibilities. He provided data on crimes in Spelthorne for the last two 
years and in comparison to the Surrey force area. Finally he gave an overview 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 3 November 2020 - continued 

 

2 
 

of the activities the Partnership had delivered in response to community 
concerns. 
 
He explained the actions used to address crime including: crime prevention 
strategies through use of social media, community protection warning 
systems to address potential offences before taking formal routes for 
prosecution, and referral of offenders to the crime prevention programme.  
 
Borough Inspector Maxine Cilia provided an update on the latest crime figures 
which showed domestic burglary was down, drug offence statistics were up 
due to an increase in the number of people being caught during lockdown and 
domestic abuse had continued to increase, with lockdown a contributory 
factor. This was also the reason for more youth anti-social behaviour at many 
locations.  
 
The Surrey Police and Crime Commissioner, Mr David Munro, gave a 
presentation highlighting his achievements and his priorities for 2020/21, the 
concerns raised by residents and what he was doing to tackle crime.  
 
Cllr R.O. Barratt, the portfolio holder for compliance, reported that he had 
spent a night with the police to understand the issues they faced. He enquired 
about the use of Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) cameras to 
help combat crime. The Borough Inspector advised that there were already 
ANPR cameras in the Borough on the M3 and M25 and also covering Staines 
town and Stanwell but more were needed on the border with the Metropolitan 
Police area between Feltham and Ashford. The Police and Crime 
Commissioner agreed to look at providing more cameras in the Borough.  
 
Mr Munro and Inspector Cilia invited members to contact them about any 
local, or individual ward, issues they wanted to discuss. 
 
The Chairman thanked Inspector Cilia and Mr Munro for attending the 
meeting. 
 
The Committee noted the report on Community Safety. 
 

256/20   Leisure Centres update  
The Chief Finance Officer presented an update on the operation of the 
Leisure Centres. He advised that the situation had changed since the report 
was circulated, with the Leisure Centres closing during a further period of 
lockdown from 5 November until 2 December. As schools would remain open, 
Sunbury Manor School was being given access to the hall at Sunbury Leisure 
Centre for PE classes and Sports and Leisure Management (SLM) staff would 
be available to facilitate this.  
 
SLM had clarified they would take a soft hibernation approach during this new 
lockdown, including the continuation of maintenance and inspection routines 
using minimal staff to allow them to react quickly and smoothly when 
lockdown ended. They had only made one post redundant and hoped to avoid 
further.  The majority of staff were on the extended national furlough scheme. 

Page 6



 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 3 November 2020 - continued 

 

3 
 

Prior to the current situation, the Chief Finance Officer advised that the use of 
the two Centres had been steadily improving. The Council had received 
regular reports on the level of activity usage and monthly accounts on 
expenditure which had given reassurance that the Leisure Centres were 
operating as the Council had anticipated when the support package was 
provided. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer advised that the operator had achieved a small 
surplus compared to the information given in the report. However, they had 
requested flexibility from the Council in the event they required additional 
financial support as a result of the second lockdown. He advised that any 
request for additional funding would be discussed with the Council. Finally he 
commented that the government had ring fenced £100 million to help Local 
Authority leisure centres and details on the allocation of that funding was 
expected soon.  
 
The Committee noted the update. 
 

257/20   Budget Issues 2021-2022  
The Chief Finance Officer gave a presentation (attached to these minutes) on 
the Budget Issues for 2021/22 to 2023/24. He outlined the challenges for 
bridging the significant 2021-22 Budget gap due to COVID-19 and the risks, 
pressures and uncertainties for future years.  
 
The Committee noted that more detailed briefings on the draft Budget would 
be provided at its next meeting in January 2021 and at an extraordinary 
meeting in February 2021.  
 
Resolved to note the presentation on Budget Issues for 2021/22 to 2023/24. 
 

258/20   Capital Monitoring Quarter 2  
Councillor I.T.E. Harvey left the meeting prior to the start of this item. 
 
The Interim Chief Accountant presented the report on the Capital spend for 
the period ending September 2020. 
 
He advised that since the report was written the Council had agreed further 
funding for the Leisure Centre project to make it Passivhaus. This funding was 
would be reflected in the next monitoring report.  
 
Resolved to note the current level of capital spend. 
 

259/20   Revenue Monitoring Quarter 2  
The Interim Chief Accountant presented a report providing a summary of the 
forecast outturn position at the end of the 2020-21 financial year, based on 
income and expenditure up to the end of September 2020 
 
The Chief Finance Officer confirmed that future reports would identify both of 
the Deputy Leaders in the breakdown of spend by portfolio. 

Page 7



 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 3 November 2020 - continued 

 

4 
 

 
During this item, the Committee having sat for three hours, Councillor T. Fidler 
proposed and Councillor N. Islam seconded and it was agreed to suspend 
Standing Order 5, in order to continue to the end of business. 
 
Resolved to note the current level of revenue spend. 
 

260/20   Report from the Climate Change Working Group  
The Group Head for Commissioning and Transformation provided an update 
on the work of the task group and Councillor R. Noble provided a detailed 
supplementary report for the Committee on the meeting held on 28 October.  
 
He advised that although the Council had declared a climate emergency it 
needed to clarify what was meant by that. He outlined the strategy to address 
climate change, including:  

 identifying the Council’s own carbon footprint 

 establishment of smaller sub-groups of the Task Group to focus on 
specific issues, including the key areas of transport; Policies; assets and 
financial investments, 

 partnering with other organisations 

 communications 

 personal ‘Green audits’ for councillors 
 
The Committee noted the update. 
 

261/20   Work Programme  
The Committee noted the Work Programme for the remainder of the Municipal 
year, with the inclusion of the petition on the Lendy Lion memorial in January 
2021 which had been referred to the Committee by Council on 22 October 
2020.  
 

262/20   Exempt Business  
Resolved to move the exclusion of the Press and Public for the following item 
in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the meaning of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by 
the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 and by the Local 
Government (Access to information) (Variation) Order 2006. 
 

263/20   Corporate Project Management  
The Group Heads for Commissioning and Transformation and Regeneration 
and Growth presented the update on Corporate Project Management and the 
confidential report on assets projects, respectively.  
 
Officers agreed to address the following concerns/queries raised by Members, 
in future reports: 
 

Page 8



 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 3 November 2020 - continued 

 

5 
 

 The meaning of the red, amber, green (RAG) status of projects was not 
clear to the reader and needed clarification – a key will be restored to the 
report. 

 The priority flagship Southern Light Railway (SLR) project was shown with 
a green status but no detail was provided of progress, or risk 
considerations.  

 The change to a Committee system agreed by Council at its July 2020 
meeting was not included in the list of projects.  

 A missing column from the assets projects showing forecast spend to 
practical completion, which had been unintentionally removed.  

 Projects identified in capital expenditure were not cross-referenced with 
Project Management.  Assets and finance officers will co-ordinate better 
integration of the project reports with the financial monitoring reports. 

 The project reports do not provide the information members need to 
facilitate scrutiny, in a clear and simple to understand format.  

 That all projects have living business cases and project managers are 
reminded to do a refresh.  

 
The Group Head for Commissioning and Transformation confirmed that 
projects marked as ‘red’ were reviewed by the Project Steering Group and if 
still not progressed referred to Management Team, where project updates 
were regularly on the agenda for discussion. 
 
Members raised a concern that not all the assets projects they were aware of 
had been included in the report. Officers responded that the assets referred to 
were at a very early stage in their development and no decisions had been 
made as to what the projects would comprise. Once those projects were 
developed, they would be included in the list provided to the Committee. The 
expectation from the Committee was to be provided with a list of all projects 
on which any money had been spent, even if they were still at an early stage 
in their development. Members requested a top-level description of the project 
followed by fuller detail where this applied. 
 
Resolved that: 
  

1. a comprehensive list of projects with the appropriate and relevant level 
of detail is provided to the Committee; and  

2. Cllr Noble is asked to work with officers on simplifying the reports to help 
members scrutinise them. 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Published on 23 December 2020  

Spelthorne Borough Council  
Cabinet and Property and Investment Committee Forward Plan and Key Decisions 

 
This Forward Plan sets out the decisions which the Cabinet expects to take over the forthcoming months, and identifies those which are Key Decisions. 
 
A Key Decision is a decision to be taken by the Cabinet which is either likely to result in significant expenditure or savings or to have significant effects on those living or 
working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Borough. 
. 
The members of the Cabinet and their areas of responsibility are: 
 

Cllr J. Boughtflower  Leader of the Council  Cllr.boughtflower@spelthorne.gov.uk  

Cllr J. McIlroy  Deputy Leader  
 
Cllr.McIlroy@spelthorne.gov.uk  

Cllr M. Attewell Deputy Leader and Community Wellbeing and Housing 

 
Cllr.attewell@spelthorne.gov.uk  

Cllr S. Buttar Finance 

 
Cllr.buttar@spelthorne.gov.uk  

Cllr R. Barratt Compliance, Waste and Risk Cllr.barratt@spelthorne.gov.uk 

Cllr R. Chandler Leisure Services Cllr.chandler@spelthorne.gov.uk  

Cllr T. Mitchell Planning and Economic Development 

 
Cllr.mitchell@spelthorne.gov.uk  

Cllr R. Noble Communications, Corporate Management and Environment 

 
Cllr.noble@spelthorne.gov.uk  

 
Whilst the majority of the Cabinet’s business at the meetings listed in this Plan will be open to the public and press, there will inevitably be some business to be considered 
which contains confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information. 
This is formal notice under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 that part of any of the Cabinet 
meetings listed below may be held in private where exempt and / or confidential information is due to be considered. 
 
Representations regarding this should be made to committee.services@spelthorne.gov.uk  
 
Please direct any enquiries about this Plan to the Principal Committee Manager, Michelle Beaumont, at the Council offices on 01784 446337 or e-mail 
m.beaumont@spelthorne.gov.uk  

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 5

mailto:Cllr.boughtflower@spelthorne.gov.uk
mailto:Cllr.McIlroy@spelthorne.gov.uk
mailto:Cllr.attewell@spelthorne.gov.uk
mailto:Cllr.buttar@spelthorne.gov.uk
mailto:Cllr.barratt@spelthorne.gov.uk
mailto:Cllr.chandler@spelthorne.gov.uk
mailto:Cllr.mitchell@spelthorne.gov.uk
mailto:Cllr.noble@spelthorne.gov.uk
mailto:committee.services@spelthorne.gov.uk
mailto:m.beaumont@spelthorne.gov.uk


 

Published on 23 December 2020  

Spelthorne Borough Council 
 

Cabinet and Property and Investment Committee Forward Plan and Key Decisions for 1 January 2021 to 30 April 2021 
 

Anticipated earliest (or 
next) date of decision 
and decision maker 

Matter for consideration Key or non-Key Decision Decision to be 
taken in Public or 
Private 

Lead Officer/ 
Cabinet Member 

Cabinet 27 01 2021 
 

Outline Budget 2021-2024 Key Decision 
It is likely to result in the Council 
incurring expenditure above or 
making savings of up to £164,000 
 

Public Paul Taylor, Chief Accountant 
Finance Portfolio Holder 

Cabinet 27 01 2021 
 

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Anna Russell, Deputy Chief Accountant 
Finance Portfolio Holder 

Cabinet 27 01 2021 
 

Treasury Management 
Strategy - half yearly report 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Anna Russell, Deputy Chief Accountant 
Finance Portfolio Holder 

Cabinet 27 01 2021 
 

Public Space Protection 
Orders - Unauthorised 
Mooring 
To consider a proposal to 
make new powers to prevent 
unauthorised Mooring – 
Proposed Public Space 
Protection Order, following 
the results of stakeholder 
consultation. 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Jackie Taylor, Group Head - Neighbourhood 
Services 
Portfolio Holder for Compliance, Waste and 
Risk 

Cabinet 27 01 2021 
 

Reserves Policy Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Paul Taylor, Chief Accountant 
Finance Portfolio Holder 

Cabinet 27 01 2021 
 

Determination of the 2021/22 
Council Tax base for tax 
setting 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Terry Collier, Deputy Chief Executive, Paul 
Taylor, Chief Accountant 
Finance Portfolio Holder 

P
age 12



 
 

1 January Key Decision Forward plan 
 

Date of decision and 
decision maker 

Matter for consideration Key or non-Key Decision Decision to be 
taken in Public or 
Private 

Lead Officer/ 
Cabinet Member 

Cabinet 27 01 2021 
 

Managed Service for the 
Incubator 
To consider the provision of a 
managed service for the 
Incubator 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Private Keith McGroary, Economic Development 
Manager 
Deputy Leader 

Cabinet 27 01 2021 
 

Exempt Report - Planned and 
Reactive Repairs Managed 
Service Tender 
To consider an exempt report 
on the tenders received for 
the Planned and Reactive 
Repairs Managed Service 
contract. 

Key Decision 
It is likely to result in the Council 
incurring expenditure above or 
making savings of up to £164,000 
 

Private Hilary Gillies, Interim Corporate Procurement 
Manager 
Deputy Leader 

Cabinet 27 01 2021 
 

Exempt Report - Property 
Letting 'L' 
To consider the letting of 
property 'L'. 

Key Decision 
It is likely to result in the Council 
incurring expenditure above or 
making savings of up to £164,000 
 

Private Nick Cummings, Property and Development 
Manager 
Deputy Leader 

Cabinet 27 01 2021 
 

Exempt report - Property 
Letting 'M' 
To consider the letting of 
property 'M' 

Key Decision 
It is likely to result in the Council 
incurring expenditure above or 
making savings of up to £164,000 
 

Private Nick Cummings, Property and Development 
Manager 
Deputy Leader 

Cabinet 27 01 2021 
 

Exempt report - Property 
Letting 'N' 
To consider the letting of 
property 'N' 

Key Decision 
It is likely to result in the Council 
incurring expenditure above or 
making savings of up to £164,000 
 

Private Nick Cummings, Property and Development 
Manager 
Deputy Leader 

P
age 13



 
 

1 January Key Decision Forward plan 
 

Date of decision and 
decision maker 

Matter for consideration Key or non-Key Decision Decision to be 
taken in Public or 
Private 

Lead Officer/ 
Cabinet Member 

Cabinet 24 02 2021 
 

Revenue Monitoring Q3 (Oct 
- Dec) 
To note the level of revenue 
spend to the end of 
December 2020. 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Paul Taylor, Chief Accountant 
Finance Portfolio Holder 

Cabinet 24 02 2021 
 

Capital Monitoring Q3 (Oct-
Dec) 
To note the level of Capital 
spend to the end of 
December 2020. 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Paul Taylor, Chief Accountant 
Finance Portfolio Holder 

Cabinet 24 02 2021 
 

Fees and Charges 2021/22 
To consider the level of fees 
and charges for the period 
2021/11 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Paul Taylor, Chief Accountant 
Finance Portfolio Holder 

Cabinet 24 02 2021 
 

Public Space Protection 
Order - Injunction (Unlawful 
Encampments) 
To consider a proposal to 
make Public Space 
Protection Orders in the 
borough and to consult 
residents on the matter. 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Karen Limmer, Temporary Principal Solicitor 
Portfolio Holder for Compliance, Waste and 
Risk 

Cabinet 24 02 2021 
 

Corporate Health and Safety 
Policy 
To adopt a Corporate Health 
and Safety Policy 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Stuart Mann, Health & Safety Officer 
Portfolio Holder for Compliance, Waste and 
Risk 

Cabinet 24 02 2021 
 
Council 25 02 2021 
 

Pay Policy Statement 
To consider the proposed 
Pay Policy Statement and 
make a recommendation to 
Council 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Sandy Muirhead, Group Head - 
Commissioning and Transformation 
Portfolio Holder for Environment, 
Communications and Corporate Management 

P
age 14



 
 

1 January Key Decision Forward plan 
 

Date of decision and 
decision maker 

Matter for consideration Key or non-Key Decision Decision to be 
taken in Public or 
Private 

Lead Officer/ 
Cabinet Member 

Cabinet 24 02 2021 
 
Council 25 02 2021 
 

Detailed Revenue Budget 
To consider the detailed 
revenue budget for 2021/22. 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Terry Collier, Deputy Chief Executive, Paul 
Taylor, Chief Accountant 
Finance Portfolio Holder 

Cabinet 24 02 2021 
 
Council 25 02 2021 
 

Capital programme 2021/22 
To agree the Capital 
programme for 2021/22. 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Paul Taylor, Chief Accountant 
Finance Portfolio Holder 

Cabinet 24 02 2021 
 
Council 25 02 2021 
 

Draft Capital Strategy Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Heather Morgan, Group Head - Regeneration 
and Growth 
Leader of the Council 

Cabinet 24 02 2021 
 
Council 25 02 2021 
 

Annual Grants 
To agree the organisations to 
which grants will be made for 
2021/22. 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Tracy Reynolds, Community Development 
Manager 
Finance Portfolio Holder 

Cabinet 24 02 2021 
 

Exempt report - Property 
Letting 'O' 
To consider the letting of 
property 'O' 

Key Decision 
It is likely to result in the Council 
incurring expenditure above or 
making savings of up to £164,000 
 

Private Nick Cummings, Property and Development 
Manager 
Deputy Leader 

Cabinet 24 02 2021 
 

Exempt report - Property 
Letting 'P' 
To consider the letting of 
Property 'P' 

Key Decision 
It is likely to result in the Council 
incurring expenditure above or 
making savings of up to £164,000 
 

Private Nick Cummings, Property and Development 
Manager 
Deputy Leader 

Cabinet 24 03 2021 
 
Council 22 04 2021 
 

Calendar of Meetings 2021-
2022 
To agree a calendar of 
meetings for 2021-2022 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Gillian Scott, Committee Services Support 
Officer 
Leader of the Council 

P
age 15



 
 

1 January Key Decision Forward plan 
 

Date of decision and 
decision maker 

Matter for consideration Key or non-Key Decision Decision to be 
taken in Public or 
Private 

Lead Officer/ 
Cabinet Member 

Cabinet 24 03 2021 
 
Council 22 04 2021 
 

Members' Allowance Scheme 
2021-2022 
To consider the report of the 
Independent Remuneration 
Panel on a review of the 
Members' Allowances 
Scheme for 2021-2022 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Gillian Scott, Committee Services Support 
Officer 
Leader of the Council 

P
age 16



 

 
Version: 2 Last saved: 17/12/20 16.41 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

19 January 2021 

 

 

 

 

Title The Lower Sunbury Lendy Memorial  

Purpose of the report To make a recommendation to Cabinet. 

 

Report Author Deborah Ashman  

Cabinet Member Councillor Barratt 

Confidential No 

Corporate Priority Item is not in the current list of Corporate Priorities but still 
requires a Cabinet decision 

Recommendations 

 

Committee is asked: 

 

To consider the report written about the Lendy memorial by 
Alan Doyle and to recommend to Cabinet a course of action 
based on the information currently available. 

 

To consider and accept the offer of supporting an 
application to the Arts and Humanities Research Council for 
a grant to undertake further research on the Lendy statue.  
Respected historians in African History, have approached 
the Council for a letter of support. If any further new 
information is received after this research is undertaken it 
can be further considered by Councillors.  

 

Reason for 
Recommendation 

Full Council has asked the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to consider the issues surrounding the Lendy 
Memorial, as highlighted by the ‘Topple the Racist’ 
organisation which supports Black Lives Matters. A petition 
containing the signatures of over 2000 residents in support 
of the memorial has been received by Spelthorne Council. 

Respected historians in African History, have approached 
the Council for a letter of support to apply for a grant to 
undertake further research on Lendy . If any new information 
is received after this research is undertaken it can be 
considered by Councillors.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 
 

1. Key issues 

1.1 The Lendy Memorial is to two brothers, Charles Lendy and Edward Lendy, 
who originated from Sunbury and who died within 3 weeks of each other in 
different parts of Africa. Allegations have been made against the characters of 
these two men. Specifically, they are both accused of “being responsible for 
murdering African tribes with machine gun fire “. This all happened in the 
nineteenth century.   

1.2 In June 2020 a website was published by the Stop Trump coalition (Topple 
the Racists) in support of the Black Lives Matter protests. The website 
mapped out more than 100 statues across Britain, which they stated paid 
tribute to slave traders and "racists”. The Lendy Memorial is one of these 
statues. 

1.3 Topple the Racists state that they want debate and it’s the responsibility of the 
local communities to decide what statues they want in their local area. They 
are not advocating statues should be destroyed 

1.4 Once the Council became aware of the controversy, immediate action to 
protect the statue was organised. The statue remains covered whilst the 
situation is being considered.    

1.5 The local Sunbury residents initiated an on-line petition in support of the 
statue. This continues to be a sensitive issue for the community and the 
petition now holds over 2000 signatures.  

1.6 Alan Doyle is a local Sunbury resident. He is an investigative journalist by 
profession, who has been researching the Lendy family on and off for over 30 
years. Topple the Racists based the allegations about the statue on a website 
article which makes partial references to a longer paper on the subject Mr 
Doyle had written 10 years ago. 

1.7 The Council approached Mr Doyle after establishing his credentials and 
asked him to review the information and draft a report for consideration.  

1.8 The issues are complex, and Mr Doyle has explained in his report how the 
brothers differed from one another. His findings reflect these differences. 
There are no recommendations as it is down to Councillors to decide what 
course of action may need to be taken.  

1.9 On a separate issue Officers  had previously approached 2 respected 
historians,  who specialise in African history including Slavery and Colonialism 
and asked them if they would be prepared to research and  draft a factual 
historical report on Lendy for Councillors to review . They  responded by 
submitting a proposal to Officers but stated due to the complexity of the 
background to the history of the memorial  they would have to 
charge  £28,000 as it would take extensive research  time to unravel this 
complex story. After discussing this charge with MAT, Officers looked for 
other solutions and Alan Doyle kindly assisted. 

1.10 Spelthorne has now been approached by the historians who are applying for 
a grant from the Arts and Humanities Research Council (AHRC) to conduct 
research into historical monuments and the legacies of Empire. They have 
identified five statues that had been highlighted by the Black Lives Matters 
Movement, of which Lendy is one.  

Page 18



 
 

1.11 They have specified what they will undertake in the research and have listed 
this in the proposal which replicates the specification that Officers had 
previously drafted.   

1.12 The two historians state they intend to undertake the research anyway but 
would like support from the relevant Councils so they can evidence that they 
are working in partnership.  

1.13 The project will be funded by the AHRC so no financial assistance is 
requested from Spelthorne Council. A letter of support from the Council is 
requested which will be included in their funding application. This letter will 
record a commitment to the proposed research project and an explanation of 
the benefits to the Council this project will give.  

1.14 There is no timetable for the research to be started or concluded,  therefore 
the detailed report submitted by Alan Doyle should be considered and actions 
recommended to Cabine .    

1.15 It should be noted that there is also a housing development called Lendy 
Place, also in Lower Sunbury. 

2. Options analysis and proposal 

2.1 Remove the statue. This could satisfy the Topple the Racist organisation, 
however the overriding local community view is in support of the statue.  

2.2 Place a summary on a plaque identifying the controversy (perhaps with a QR 
code so that information can be read using a smart phone). This may satisfy 
some opponents of the statue as their demand has always been that of 
education. 

2.3 Continue to keep the statue covered. This will not satisfy the people that have 
signed the petition. 

2.4 Remove the covering and return the statue as was, however there is a risk of 
damage or destruction by those supporting the Topple the Racists and Black 
Lives Matters organisations.   

2.5 Enhance the information about the statue to visitors of the Walled Garden 
through media such as written reports, books and website links. This could be 
done in conjunction with point 2.2. 

2.6 In reference to the proposals from the research historians,  by agreeing to 
become a partner it will demonstrate to the whole community the willingness 
to review all information available and an openness to ensuring all information 
is known about the Council’s community assets and local history. 

2.7 To refuse to support the additional research proposed. This may generate 
questions as to why the Council wishes to refuse obtaining further information 
free of charge which would enable them to make further informed decisions if 
required.  

3. Financial implications 

3.1 If the Council decides to remove the statue, consideration will then have to be 
taken about the naming of the housing development in Sunbury (“Lendy 
Place”). If it was decided to change the name, the full cost to the residents 
would have to be paid by the Council. This cost would have to be researched 
but would amount to several thousand pounds.  

Page 19



 
 

3.2 The cost of enhancing the information is minimal and could be costed within 
existing budgets.  

3.3 It should be noted that the Council has attempted to involve other specialists 
in this field to further ensure impartiality, however this proved difficult and very 
costly. A figure of £28,000 was asked for to research The Lendy Memorial 
alone.  

4. Other considerations 

4.1 It is evident that Topple the Racists and Black Lives Matter focus heavily on 
education and knowledge about injustices of the past and present. By 
ensuring that information is available by the Lendy memorial visitors would be 
informed about the issues. 

4.2 Consideration has been given to the other 28 statues there are in Spelthorne, 
but none appear to carry the controversy of the Lendy Memorial.  

5. Sustainability/Climate Change Implications 

5.1 No sustainability or climate change implications have been identified. 

6. Timetable for implementation 

6.1 The timetable will depend on the decision of the Council.  

 
Background papers: There are none. 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A 
‘The Lower Sunbury Lendy Memorial’, by Alan Doyle 

Page 20



1 
 

THE LOWER SUNBURY LENDY MEMORIAL 

Alan Doyle 

I have been asked by Deborah Ashman and Jackie Taylor, respectively Joint Group Head of 
Community Wellbeing, and Group Head Neighbourhood Services, at Spelthorne Council, to 
report on the historical background to the Lendy Memorial in the Walled Garden in Lower 
Sunbury. 

The Memorial is to two brothers, Charles Frederick Lendy RA and Edward August William 
Lendy DSO, who died within three weeks of each other in different parts of Africa. Allegations 
have been made against the characters of these two men. Specifically, they are both accused 
of “being responsible for murdering African tribes with machine gun fire.” 

I will deal with each brother in turn, setting out the historical facts as far as they can be 
established, using primary contemporaneous sources where it is possible, and separating out 
as far as I can the accusations and counter-accusations between political parties and factions 
at Westminster and in the press at the time, many of which were notable for being based on 
hearsay and exaggeration. 

I will then discuss other memorials to these two men in other parts of the world, and attitudes 
to those memorials there. Judgement can then be made by the people of Lower Sunbury and 
the Council as to whether the allegations made against these two men are justified.   

 

The Lendy Memorial in the Sunbury Walled Garden 

Summary 

At the outset, I must deal with one issue. The evidence which has been used by the Topple 
the Racists website to justify their call for the Lendy Memorial to be taken down is a brief 
article on a website called The Rhodesian Soldier (http://www.rhodesiansoldier.com), which 
credits my name as a source of research. That brief website article is a very partial summary, 
written by the owner of that website, of a much longer paper that I wrote more than ten years 
ago. I did not write that website article myself.  

Page 21

http://www.rhodesiansoldier.com/


2 
 

I have been researching the Lendy family periodically for almost 30 years. The more I have 
dug back into the records, the more convinced I have become that Charles Frederick Lendy 
has been unfairly treated by history. Much contemporaneous evidence has come to my 
attention since I wrote that original piece more than ten years ago, and as the evidence has 
changed, a different light has been thrown, and my view has changed. 

I have tried to contact the people behind the Topple the Racists website, to explain this and 
other matters, but have received no reply. I have been unable to establish the names of the 
individuals who run that website. 

There is no evidence whatsoever that Edward Lendy was guilty of “murdering African tribes 
with machine gun fire”. 

There are very good reasons, backed by evidence, to conclude that the same allegations made 
against Charles Lendy are unjustified. 

The Lendy Family 

Charles and Edward Lendy were the two sons of Major Auguste Frederic Lendy and his wife 
Sophia, who married in Brighton in 1848. Charles and Edward were born in Lower Sunbury in 
January 1863 and February 1868 respectively. They had two older sisters – Violet and Alice – 
and a younger sister, Julia. The Lendys lived successively in two houses along the river road in 
Lower Sunbury.  

Major Lendy ran a military college in Lower Sunbury, preparing students for the exams for 
entry into the army colleges at Sandhurst and Woolwich. Under their father’s tuition, both 
brothers passed these exams. Charles went to Woolwich, where he trained as an artillery 
officer and was commissioned into the Royal Artillery. Edward went to Sandhurst and was 
commissioned as an infantry officer into the Derbyshire Regiment (the Sherwood Foresters). 

Edward August William Lendy DSO 

Despite the Sherwood Foresters being his 
parent regiment, Edward Lendy was 
immediately seconded to the regular West 
India Regiment, whose ranks were composed 
of black Caribbean volunteers. The West India 
Regiment were often deployed to West Africa, 
and they were in Sierra Leone when Lendy 
joined them. 

In August 1890 he was invested with the 
Distinguished Service Order – a decoration for 
gallantry second only to the VC - by Queen 

Victoria herself at Osborne House on the Isle of Wight - “for services at Foulah Town and its 

London Gazette, 25 February 1890, p5 

Page 22



3 
 

vicinity on the West Coast of Africa, in breaking up a combination of slave dealers and rescuing 
upwards of 250 slaves.”1 

By September 1893 Edward Lendy was with 
the Sierra Leone Border Police, involved in 
an ongoing war with the Sofas2, slave-
soldiers of the Wassoulou or Mandinka 
empire of Samori Ture which was based in 
Mali and Guinea, and tasked with patrolling 
Sierra Leone’s borders with the 
neighbouring French and German colonies 
of Cote d’Ivoire and Guinea. 

On 4 November 1893, Edward Lendy and 
forty Police were at the Sell River on their 
way to open a road which had been closed 
by the war with the Sofas. There was no 
bridge – only a rope made from creepers 
tied from bank to bank. The river had to be 
traversed, the force’s rations were on the 
opposite bank – and the men began to 
cross. Four men ended up in distress, in 
imminent risk of drowning. Lendy dived 
into the water to save them. He and three 
of his soldiers were awarded Bronze 
medals by the Royal Humane Society for 
their courage. (see left, from The Times, 16 
Jan 1894, and Appendix A.) 

Less than two months later, on 23 
December, Lendy was at Waiima near the 
eastern border of Sierra Leone (alternative 

 
1 London Gazette, 25 February 1890, Issue 26026, p 1044 (above) and the Morning Post, August 21 
1890 p5. 
2 TURE, SAMORI (C. 1830-1900). Samori Ture was a state builder in late 19th century Guinea and the 
most effective opponent of colonial conquest in West Africa. Born in a trader family, he early took 
military service in order to free his mother, who had been taken as a slave. He proved himself a brilliant 
military leader and in the 1870s began building his own state, tying together many small Mandinka 
polities. He first clashed with the French in 1883 and realised from the first the importance of French 
weapons. He was able to use trade routes and commercial contacts to acquire modern rifles from 
Sierra Leone traders and horses from areas further north. He was operating in an area where there 
were few commodities he could exchange for his military purchases. Though he had a vision of an 
economically dynamic state, slaving provided him the guns he needed, many of his soldiers, and the 
farmers who produced the food his army and court needed. As a result, he was forced to increase his 
slaving activities. This in turn limited the areas that were loyal to him. He was nevertheless able to 

The Times, 16 Jan 1894 

Page 23



4 
 

spellings Waima and Warina). Early that morning, in thick mist, they were attacked by a 
French force of more than 1200 men under a Lieutenant Maritz. The French had mistaken the 
British for Sofas, and by the time the shooting stopped, the British had lost seventeen officers 
and men killed and fifteen wounded. Lendy and two of his Police were among those killed. 
Maritz died later of his wounds.  

Edward Lendy was elected as a member of the Royal Geographical Society in February 1893. 
The RGS records, however, show that he “never qualified” as a member, the phrase referring 
to his not having paid his annual subscription, almost certainly because he had been killed 
before he could pay it 

There is no evidence whatsoever that Edward August William Lendy was ever involved in 
“murdering African tribes with machine gun fire”.  

Charles Frederick Lendy RA 

Charles Lendy spent seven years with the Royal Artillery in various postings in Gibraltar, 
Bermuda and Shoeburyness, before he was seconded to the British South Africa Company 
(BSAC) in 1890. 

The BSAC, established by Cecil Rhodes, had been granted a Royal Charter in 1889 to colonise 
and exploit the land and resources of south-central Africa. Further to that aim the BSAC had 
secured, in controversial circumstances, the Rudd Concession from Lobengula, the second 
King of the Matabele, which granted the Company mining and other rights in Mashonaland. 
In return, Lobengula was paid a lump sum of money, monthly payments of smaller sums, and, 
crucially for this story, 1000 Martini-Henry rifles, of the same model issued to the British Army 
at the time, and 100 000 rounds of ammunition. It was the offer of these rifles which clinched 
the Rudd Concession deal, as Lobengula and his impis had only between 600 and 800 rifles 
amongst them, without sufficient ammunition.3 

 
fend off the French for 15 years but was finally defeated and captured in 1898. From Klein, Martin A. 
and Woronoff, Jon (2002). Historical Dictionary of Slavery and Abolition. Scarecrow Press. ISBN 9780 
8 108410 2 4 
 
3 “Part of the purchase price given by the BSA Company to Lobengula for the [Rudd] mineral 
concession was one thousand Martini rifles and one hundred thousand rounds of ammunition. As 
Lobengula repudiated the concession almost immediately after signing it, he refused to take delivery 
of these guns and ammunition and on my arrival in the country they were lying at Dawson’s store.  
Just before the outbreak of the war in 1893 I happened to be alone at the store for a few days. One 
morning I was awakened very early by the head Induna of Bulawayo, Magwekwe, [Magwekwe Fuyana] 
who said he was sent by the King to fetch the guns. He had a small army with him. I set to work and 
opened up the cases and found that there was a bayonet for each gun. I had to show them how to fix 
these…one warrior got a pretty severe stab from one of his pals who was a bit clumsy. 
Not long after the guns had been taken I got a message from the King to say that the number [of rifles] 
was not correct.  This was a rather serious matter for me, so I rode over to Umvutjwa [Umvutcha] 
where the King then was. I told the King that I had counted the guns myself and that the number was 
correct. He replied that they were not all there; they have been counted and some are short. I then 
asked where they were, and he replied in the cattle kraal. I went there and found the rifles strewed 

Page 24



5 
 

Mashonaland lay to the north and east of the Matabele kingdom, and Lobengula and the 
Matabele claimed it as a vassal territory. The Matabele kingdom – like the Zulu kingdom of 
which had once been a part - was a highly militarised society. All young Matabele men served 
as soldiers of the King in age-based regiments, “dependent on him for food, weapons and 
even for permission to marry.”4 The Matabele impi, or regiments, ranged into the territories 
surrounding them, looting and pillaging on a regular basis. 

 

Approximate areas of Ndebele settlement and of regular raiding and tribute collections c. 
1830 - c. 1890 (from Ransford, p21). 

 
about all over the place. I got hold of some of the Indunas and had the rifles placed in piles of ten and 
again reported to the King that they were correct. He then sent Mtjan [Mjaan] Induna of his Imbezu 
regiment to count them and I was very much relieved when I heard him report to the King that the 
number was correct.” From the hand-written reminiscences of Percy Durban Crewe, Bulawayo Public 
Library. 
4 Bulawayo: Historic Battleground of Rhodesia Oliver Ransford, 1968 p14 . 

Page 25



6 
 

Below I discuss the incidents which formed the basis of the allegations against Charles Lendy 
in Parliament and the press. 

Ngomo’s Kraal 

In March 1892, Lendy was in command at an action at Ngomo’s kraal (village), in Chief 
Mangwende’s district to the east of Salisbury (now Harare). Lendy went with his patrol to 
where Ngomo (also known as Gonwe), a minor Chief, had established himself, and in the 
ensuing shoot-out 21 tribesmen were killed, including Ngomo. 

The incident sparked a furore in London. Lendy was accused of murder. The incident was 
again raised at the end of 1893 when the Matabele War began. 

Mr H.W, Lee, in an editorial5 in the periodical “Justice” (which described itself as “The Organ 
of the Social Democracy Federation”, a precursor to the Labour Party) said: 

“This Captain Lendy is the same officer who attacked Ngomo’s kraal, and killed the 
Chief and twenty-five of his followers because a few of the tribe had lifted two or three 
head of cattle.” 

Henry Labouchere, MP for Northampton, in an adjournment debate in the House of Commons 
a few days later, said: 

“Everybody would remember the action of Captain Lendy, one of the officers of the 
Company, who for some small theft committed in some particular district, went there, 
fired into a kraal, and killed 20 men.”6 

 
He had made similar statements previously in his own periodical “Truth”, and in Parliament, 
as part of his more general campaign against the BSAC. 
 
There was much more to it than the theft of “two or three head of cattle” or “some small 
theft”. James Bennett, a farmer and trader, had suffered a number of intrusions into his store 
located near Ngomo’s kraal. When he finally remonstrated with Ngomo’s son, who was 
leading the intrusions, Ngomo’s son called upon his people to “kill the white man”. Bennett 
“laid about himself with some vigour”7 and managed to escape. That is attempted murder. In 
addition, there was an unsolved case of the murder of a wagon driver in Ngomo’s area, and 
many other cases of theft and violence. 
 
Lendy had previously tried to enlist the help of Mangwende, the paramount Chief of the 
district, with no success, although Mangwende did provide two guides to lead Lendy’s patrol 
to Ngomo’s kraal. It was built on a massive kopje, and feeling locally (including by 
Mangwende) was that Ngomo was prepared to violently resist. Ngomo had successfully 
resisted Chief Mangwende’s own attempts to curb his criminalities. 
 

 
5 Justice, 4 November 1893, p4. 
6 Hansard, 9 November 1893. 
7 Own Goals, Roger Marston p 18. 

Page 26



7 
 

Lendy’s patrol was met with a fusillade of bullets, pot legs and stones fired from home-made 
firearms. Lendy’s patrol replied with rifles and a small muzzle-loading field gun. Machine guns 
were not used at Ngomo’s kraal. 
 
If the incident cause furore in London, it was welcomed by Mangwende. "Mangwendi 
expressed himself delighted with what had been done”8, as Ngomo had been causing trouble 
for some time, not least as a pretender to his Chieftaincy.  
 
The BSAC strongly refuted the claims made in London and the affair petered out, until it was 
resurrected at the end of 1893. Few of the commentators – certainly not the opponents of 
the BSAC in London - report a subsequent episode later in 1892 where Lendy allowed a thief 
his patrol was trying to apprehend to escape “owing to their desire not to shoot Mashonas 
amongst whom he ran.”9 

The Victoria Incident 

By July 1983, Charles Lendy was resident magistrate at Fort Victoria in Mashonaland, 172 
miles south of Salisbury and the same distance east of Bulawayo. The post was then an 
administrative rather than just a judicial position. The magistrates were responsible for 
keeping the peace as well as presiding over local judicial matters. There were growing 
tensions between the BSAC and Lobengula as to who exercised what powers in Mashonaland. 

The men of a local Shona Chief living near Fort Victoria had stolen cattle from other Shona,  
who were tributaries of Lobengula and holding cattle on Lobengula’s behalf. On 11 June 1893, 
Lobengula sent a “small impi” – some 70 men – from Bulawayo to recover these cattle. This 
impi was reported to be raiding about ten miles from the town. Lendy rode out to meet them, 
allowed the cattle to be taken back to Bulawayo, and sent a letter with the impi for Lobengula, 
warning in polite language about sending his impis into Mashonaland. 

Some weeks later a local newspaper reported that Lobengula was intent on sending a much 
larger impi to punish the Shona cattle thieves. The cattle rustlers, however, continued to 
rustle cattle. On 9 July, two men from Fort Victoria were out riding when they came across, a 
few miles from the town, a number of panicked Shona heading for the town. The two riders 
saw 3500 Matabele warriors advancing behind this crowd of frightened Shona. The Matabele 
eventually entered the town, and 20 Shona were murdered in the streets.10 Extreme violence 
was perpetrated in the outlying areas over weeks. 

Manyao, the Induna in charge of the impi (Indunas were military commanders and the most 
senior advisors to King Lobengula) approached the Fort bearing a letter to Lendy from 
Lobengula. He and his twelve bodyguards saw Shona sheltering inside the Fort and demanded 
they be handed over. Lendy refused. The impi retired from the town but remained in the 

 
8 "Chimurenga 1896 - 1897: A Revisionist Study”, Mark Horn. Master's Thesis, Rhodes University, 
January 1986. 
9 Own Goals, Roger Marston, p 28. 
10 A full description of the behaviour of the Matabele in the weeks leading up to the confrontation 
with Lendy’s men can be read in Appendix B at p4 and following.  

Page 27



8 
 

district pillaging and murdering at will. On 18 July a meeting took place between Manyao and 
his subordinates, and Leander Starr Jameson of the BSAC and others, which was marked by 
intransigence on both sides, and ended in stalemate. Jameson gave Manyao an ultimatum: to 
have his impi begin to move back to Bulawayo within one hour. That afternoon Lendy 
assembled a party of 40 men who rode out with the purpose of encouraging the impi to return 
to Matabeleland. 

They came across some 300 Matabele who were part of the much larger Matabele force. The 
Matabele were moving north – not west towards Bulawayo. Immediately Lendy’s force were 
seen, the Matabele opened fire. Or Lendy’s men opened fire on the Matabele. This was a 
point of contention in Newton’s Inquiry and Report (see Appendix B). Lendy’s men were under 
orders not to fire unless fired upon, so Jameson told the Inquiry. Lendy apparently reported 
to Jameson after the incident that his patrol had been fired on first. Jameson forwarded 
Lendy’s account to the BSAC, and then gave a different account in other correspondence 
saying that Lendy’s men had fired the first shot. 

No Maxims were present at this incident. 

Newton’s Report 

Newton’s Report is included in Appendix B. It rewards reading in full. (Some of the language, 
used by a small minority of witnesses in the Report, is of the time - including the language 
used by the Mashona Chief and one of the Matabele Indunas in their sworn evidence, which 
was highly offensive, in their own languages, even then. However, it should be born in mind 
that there had just been a war when Newton conducted his Inquiry. Emotions were running 
high on all sides.) 

There had been controversy in the national and regional press after news of the incident at 
Victoria reached Britain. Several transcriptions of letters and editorials from newspapers were 
sent to Sir Henry Loch, Governor of Cape Colony and High Commissioner for Southern Africa, 
by Lord Ripon, then Liberal Secretary of State for the Colonies.11 These articles and letters 
made all sorts of allegations against the BSAC and Captain Lendy, and Lord Ripon ordered 
Loch to investigate the incident. Mr Francis James Newton, Colonial Secretary of 
Bechuanaland (at the time a British Protectorate), was chosen to undertake the investigation. 

The following are important points regarding Newton’s Report: 

1. The events in and near Fort Victoria took place between 9 July and 18 July 1893. 
Newton took evidence in Bulawayo on the 21, 22, 23 and 25 May, and in Fort Victoria on the 
11, 12 and 13 June, in the following year, 1894. Newton’s Report was published in August 
1894. Newton took evidence from 25 witnesses appearing in person, and two witnesses who 
sent affidavits. The witnesses in person included Dr Jameson, two senior Matabele Indunas, 
and one Shona Chief. 
 

 
11 See p49 of Appendix B, The Newton Report. 

Page 28



9 
 

The one person from whom evidence was not taken was Charles Lendy. He had died on 13 
January 1894 – more than four months before the enquiry began. This was an important issue 
for Sir Henry Loch. On December 15 1893, he wrote to Lord Ripon.  
 

“The charges made in this letter will be investigated as soon as the present hostilities 
are over, and it has occurred to me that either Mr. Newton, the Colonial Secretary of 
Bechuanaland, or Major Sawyer, my military secretary, might be entrusted with the 
inquiry. In the meanwhile, and until the investigation takes place, I think it only right 
that charges against officers and men who are not in a position to defend themselves 
should be received with some reserve.”12 

Loch wrote before Lendy had died, but the same principle applies to Lendy. 

Two months later, after Lendy’s death, Lord Ripon replied to Loch: 
 

“If the sole object of the proposed inquiry had been merely to inquire into the personal 
conduct of Captain Lendy, as the officer in command on that occasion, I should, on 
receiving the sad intelligence of his death, have considered it only proper to direct 
that the inquiry should not be proceeded with. But Dr. Jameson and the Directors of 
the British South Africa Company have taken upon themselves the full responsibility 
for the proceedings in this matter, and, consequently, the orders given by Dr. Jameson 
on the occasion, and the action of the Company generally, would have formed 
principal subjects of investigation, and as, moreover, a promise has been given to 
Parliament that the inquiry would be held, I have, upon full consideration, come to 
the conclusion that it should still take place.”13  

 
So, Charles Lendy, having died, was not able to give answer to the Inquiry to the allegation 
that he had instructed his patrol to open fire on the Matabele warriors, contrary to what he 
had reported to Jameson when he returned to Fort Victoria, and contrary to what Jameson 
later told the Inquiry he had ordered Lendy to do when he appeared as a witness in person. 
 
2. Later commentators have said that the Inquiry found that Lendy had lied about who 
had fired the first shot. The Inquiry made no such finding of lying. 
 
Newton says the following about the activities of the Matabele prior to the Lendy patrol: 
  

“As to the proceedings of this Matabele impi in the neighbourhood of Victoria up to 
the 18th July there is and can be no question.” (See page 4 of his Report.) 

“The details set forth in the evidence of the events between the 9th and the 18th July 
can hardly be disputed.” (See page 5 of his Report.) 

 
12 Newton Report p 57 (Appendix B) 
13 Newton Report p 57 (Appendix B) 

Page 29



10 
 

There was similar unanimous agreement as to the behaviour of one of the Indunas at the 
Indaba with Jameson. 

However, as to who fired first, Newton says: 

“As to how the firing actually began, there is some conflict of evidence, which is dealt 
with later on.” (See page 6 of the Report.) 

“The question as to who fired the first shot thus arises; and it is necessary to examine 
the evidence, which is very conflicting, before stating any conclusion on the point.” 
(See page 7 of his Report.) 

Newton came to this conclusion on this question of who had fired the first shot: 

“...that the first shots seen and heard by them and everyone were the shots fired by 
the advance guard [of Lendy's patrol]. The weight of evidence appears to me to favour 
this view.” (My comment in brackets. See page 9 of his Report.) 

Lendy was not with the advance guard. (Tactically, that would have been exactly the wrong 
place for him to be.) Men who were with Lendy, with the main body of the patrol - Napier, 
Brabant, Fitzgerald and Weale, the bugler - gave the same evidence as Lendy apparently told 
Jameson: that the first shot was by the Matabele. It is entirely possible that men with the 
main body had a better overall understanding of what happened than men with the advance 
guard. 

So, even though the evidence as to the behaviour of the Matabele warriors leading up to the 
incident was incontrovertible, the beginning of the incident itself was the subject of “some 
conflict of evidence”. Perhaps that is why Newton made no allegation of Lendy having lied – 
the evidence against Lendy was not overwhelming or incontrovertible.  Perhaps he was also 
mindful that Lendy could not defend himself against an allegation of lying. Who knows what 
conclusion Newton might have come to had Lendy been able to give evidence in person in his 
own defence? The “weight of evidence” may well have been more balanced.  

3. Newton set out his findings on page 12 of his Report: They can be read in full in 
Appendix B. However, notwithstanding the question of who had fired first, one of Newton’s 
conclusions bears repeating here: 

 
 “8. That in the pursuit of the Matabele there was no wholesale slaughter of natives 
nor deliberate shooting of men already shot.” 

Sir Henry Loch went further: 

“The young [Matabele} men having only gone some three miles in three hours, and 
having stolen cattle belonging to the white residents (in itself an act of war), was 
ample justification for the action taken by Captain Lendy to enforce obedience to an 
order deliberately given, and upon the enforcement of which, as it would appeal to 
Native intelligence, depended in a great measure a stop being put to the raiding on 
the Mashonas, and, to the Europeans, exemption from the danger of being attacked 
in their laager at Victoria. (My emphasis. See page 3 of Newton’s Report.) 

Page 30



11 
 

And Lord Ripon, writing to Sir W.G. Cameron, Acting High Commissioner of the Cape Colony, 
went a little further still:   

“I enclose printed copies of Mr. Newton’s Report. It should be communicated to the 
Managing Director of the British South Africa Company at Cape Town, and in doing so 
he should be informed that it has given me sincere satisfaction to find that the result 
of an inquiry so exhaustive and impartial has been clearly to exonerate Dr. Jameson 
and the officers of the British South Africa Company generally from the serious charges 
which had been made against them in connexion with these occurrences. (My 
emphasis. See p1 of Newton’s Report.) 

The Battle of Bembesi 

Two months later, in October that year, the BSAC invaded Matabeleland. Two columns set 
out, one each from Forts Salisbury and Victoria, towards Bulawayo. They joined together, with 
a combined strength of 690 mounted men, about 400 Shona tribesmen on foot, two seven-
pounder field guns and eight machine guns, of which five were Maxims. The Fort Victoria 
column was commanded by Major Allan Wilson. The Fort Salisbury contingent was 
commanded by Major Patrick Forbes, who was also in overall command of the combined force 
once they merged. 

Lendy would have been one of very few professional soldiers in this combined column. The 
vast majority of the mounted men were prospectors, shopkeepers and farmers, riding their 
own horses and carrying their own hunting rifles. The Salisbury column was mockingly 
described when it mustered as comprising “one commander-in-chief, three other 
commanders-in chief, forty-seven Major Generals (in gaiters), fifty-three Lieutenant Colonels 
(in spats), eighteen Captains, twenty-two Lieutenants and six full privates”.14 

Such was the reputation of Lobengula’s impis, the columns were not expected to be seen 
again. A Matabele impi, like that of its Zulu cousins, was a formidable body of shock troops, 
who had completely dominated and subdued the entire region of Matabeleland and 
Mashonaland for the previous fifty years using very successful military tactics, as the British 
Army in Zululand found out to its cost when of its 1800 troops at Ishlandwana were 
overwhelmed and 1300 killed, and a smaller body just survived at Rorke’s Drift, in 1879. And 
the Matabele had 1000 modern Martini Henry rifles and much ammunition at their disposal. 

On 1 November the combined force was laagered at Bembesi in two small encampments 
separated by a small kraal of eight huts which restricted their fields of fire. There was also 
thick thorn bush and dead ground nearby, which enabled two of the Matabele impis to get 
very close, undetected. The oxen and horses of the columns were nearly two kilometres away 
where there were pools of water in the Ncema River headstream. The troopers were 
scattered making lunch and the thorn fences to join the two laagers were not completed. 

At midday eight impis of riflemen and warriors totalling 6000 men mounted a surprise attack 
on the laager, after overwhelming a mounted picket. Those in the combined columns armed 

 
14 Bulawayo: Historic Battleground of Rhodesia, Oliver Ransford p54. 

Page 31



12 
 

with firearms were thus outnumbered almost nine to one. The Matabele riflemen fired with 
concentrated accuracy. 

“The Salisbury and Victoria Columns (British South Africa Company’s forces) formed laager 
about midday on 1st November 1893. During the halt they were heavily attacked by a large 
force of Matabele … The battle was hard and the Matabele charged with the greatest courage 
three times in the face of machine gun fire, but after suffering very many casualties were 
compelled to withdraw.”15 

 “The Im'Bizo Regiment set fire to their big kraal then retreated quite out of sight and in no 
particular hurry. They gathered up a number of Martini Henry rifles, part of Rhodes payment 
to Lobengula for the concession.”16 500 Matabele were killed or wounded. 

 

 

Lendy, as an artillery officer, was involved with the artillery at the Battle of Bembesi. However, 
it is incorrect to blame Lendy on his own, as many do, for the use of the Maxims and other 
guns in the battle there. Lendy had been due to command the whole Victoria Column, but 
deferred to Allan Wilson, who took charge.  However, there was a change in the command 
structure when the artillery troop joined the two columns. In practice the tactical command 
of the weapons was passed to Major Wilson17, and above him, Major Forbes. 

 
15 From the inscription on the cairn on the site of the Battle of Bembesi. 
16 From the notebooks of Jack Carruthers, present at the Battle of Bembesi. In the possession of 
Carruthers’ descendants. 
17 “Lendy had been appointed senior artillery officer to the force and had general superintendence 
over the guns, their maintenance and the training of the crews; the deployment and firing of the 
individual artillery pieces was left to individual commanders. There was, once the gunners had met 

Page 32



13 
 

There is another important consideration: war is deeply unpleasant, but it is not murder.  

The Battle of Bembesi, or Egodade as it is known to the Matabele, was the turning point in 
the Matabele War. Within a week, Lobengula’s capital at what is now called Old Bulawayo, 
south of the modern city (since reconstructed as a museum), had been razed to the ground, 
and the Matabele impis put to flight. Another patrol under Major Wilson set out after the 
King and his army, and were wiped out by the Matabele at Shangani in the final action of the 
Matabele War. But that Matabele victory was to no avail. Their military power had, for the 
time being, been defeated, although the Matabele and the Shona rose again in 1896. A large 
stone cairn with a bronze plaque inscribed in both English and SiNdebele still marks the place 
of the battle. 

Lendy died in Bulawayo on 13 January 1894, it is thought from an internal injury he suffered 
throwing the heavy shot in an athletic competition. 

Lendy is often accused of being part of a colonial expedition which seized a country from the 
hands of those who fought to keep it as theirs. However, it should be remembered that the 
Matabele themselves, under King Mzilikazi18, had invaded the area from the south in the 
1820s, displacing the Shona who had previously occupied the area, and treating the Shona in 
the surrounding areas of Mashonaland as vassals, forced to give tribute to the Matabele at 
the point of a rifle or assegai. 

The Shona themselves were part of an earlier migration from the Great Lakes region of Central 
Africa, who invaded the land between the Zambezi and the Limpopo (present day Zimbabwe) 
from the north, pushing its previous inhabitants to the periphery, including the San people 
who were forced into the Kalahari desert. The Matabele completed the job the Shona left 
unfinished.  

The Sunbury Memorial 

Some weeks after the deaths of both brothers, the wars they fought in were still in the news. 
On 24 February 1894, in the Leeds Mercury, there were two separate articles in a single 
column on the fate of Allan Wilson’s Patrol at the Shangani River, and Anglo-French tensions 
in West Africa in the wake of the Waiima incident in which Edward had died. The two deaths 
were felt very keenly locally in Sunbury. There was an appeal for funds, and the memorial to 
the two brothers at Sunbury was constructed in 1895. 

As the fundraising letter to The Standard newspaper (see overleaf) published on 12 February 
1894 makes clear, the memorial was not a celebration of colonialism. The “deaths, within a 
few days of one another, have cast a gloom over the village in which they were born and 

 
the Salisbury and Victoria Columns at Iron Mine Hill, some difficulty over the command structure. 
The gunners owed allegiance to Lendy rather than Wilson because he had formed them as an 
individual troop. Forbes gave them a simple choice: serve under Wilson or return to Fort Victoria. 
They decided to stay and fight.” [i.e. under Wilson’s command; my comment] Own Goals, p 66. 
18 Oral History Statement of Ntabeni Khumalo, son of Mhwebi, who was a son of Mzilikazi, National 
Archives of Zimbabwe. 

Page 33



14 
 

educated. The suggestion has received the 
approval of their widowed mother, who has the 
sympathy of all in her terribly sudden 
affliction." 

The memorial originally stood on the side of the 
road along the river, almost in front of the 
Lendys’ residence at Riverside House. It 
incorporated a drinking trough in its base for 
passing cattle and horses. It was damaged by 
bombs in the Second World War, and then 
spent some time in the grounds of the District 
Council offices until it was placed at the centre 
of the much loved Walled Garden in Lower 
Sunbury.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Lendy Memorial in its 
original position on the 

riverside 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



15 
 

Memorials in Sierra Leone and Zimbabwe 

Sierra Leone 

 

Edward Lendy’s grave and the Memorial at Waiima in Sierra Leone 

Edward Lendy was buried where he died at Waiima in Sierra Leone, his grave marked with a 
stone cross. This cross was later incorporated into a larger memorial together with a stone 
cairn commemorating the deaths of the men of the Sierra Leone Frontier Police, the West 
India Regiment, and the French soldiers, who died in the same incident. The monument and 
graves are well maintained, I understand.19 

Zimbabwe 

An increasingly bitter war was fought over the period 1960 to 1980, which resulted in the end 
of white government in Zimbabwe. After Independence, some street names (by no means all) 
were changed, but there has been no attempt to remove other commemorative memorials 
from the colonial period. 

There is – still - a very large memorial to Charles Lendy on Leopold Takawira Avenue, the main 
boulevard leading out of central Bulawayo to the Johannesburg Road. It was erected on that 
spot in 1894. It lies in Centenary Park, between the Bulawayo Theatre and the Natural History 
Museum of Zimbabwe.  

Charles Lendy is buried in the municipal cemetery in Sauerstown in Bulawayo, his grave 
marked by a simple stone cross, much like his brother’s. Neither his grave nor his memorial 
has ever been moved, desecrated or harmed in any way in the forty years since Independence 
in 1980. 

Cecil Rhodes is, of course, buried on a very imposing granite hill in the Matopos Hills just 
outside Bulawayo. His grave is marked with a large bronze slab set into the rock. The graves 
of the first white prime minister, Charles Coghlan; Rhodes’ friend and business associate 

 
19 http://www.sierraleoneheritage.org/sites/monuments/captainlendy 

Page 35



16 
 

Leander Starr Jameson; and the memorial to Allan Wilson and the Shangani Patrol share the 
site. Despite Rhodes being the architect of British expansion into Mashonaland and 
Matabeleland in present day Zimbabwe, and being the arch-villain, alongside Ian Smith, in the 
eyes of the post-Independence government, neither that slab, nor any of the other memorials 
and graves on the same site have ever been desecrated or harmed. 

 

The Lendy Memorial in Centenary Park, Bulawayo 

Indeed, there is a visitors’ centre at the foot of the hill explaining, at some length on a number 
of large mounted posters, the background to the site and the memorials there. Neither the 
ex-President of Zimbabwe, Robert Mugabe, nor the current President Emmerson 
Mnangagwa, nor the National Museums and Monuments of Zimbabwe, have ever argued for 
the removal of his, or other graves. 

A statue of Rhodes used to stand in the centre of one of the major intersections in central 
Bulawayo. After Independence it was moved a few hundred metres down the Avenue to a 
spot in the gardens outside the Natural History Museum in Centenary Park, not far from the 
Lendy Memorial, where it can be easily seen by people enjoying the tranquillity of the park. 
A statue of Charles Coghlan, the first prime minister of colony of Southern Rhodesia, stands 
next to it. 

In the Bulawayo City Hall, on the walls of the grand staircase leading to the Mayor’s Office 
and Council Chamber, are lined the portraits of Mayors of Bulawayo from the first one in 1893 
right through to the present incumbent. A bas relief in bronze of the Great Indaba (meeting) 
in 1896 between Rhodes and the Matabele Indunas stands prominently above the main 
entrance to the City Hall. 

 

 

Page 36



17 
 

Bibliography 

African Law and Custom in Rhodesia. Bennie Goldin QC BA LLB and Michael Gelfand CBE MD FRCP 
(1975) Juta & Co. ISBN 0 7021 0658 5 
 
Bulawayo: Historic Battleground of Rhodesia. Oliver Ransford (1968) AA Balkema. 
 
“Chimurenga 1896 - 1897: A Revisionist Study” by Mark Horn. Master's Thesis Rhodes University, 
January 1986 
 
Gukurahundi in Zimbabwe (2007) Hurst Publishers Ltd. ISBN 978 1 85065 890 0 (Previously 
published as Breaking the Silence: Building New Peace in 1997 by the Catholic Commission for 
Justice and Peace and the Legal Resources Foundation. 
 
Guns and Rain: Guerrillas and Spirit Mediums in Zimbabwe. David Lan (1985). James Currey. ISBN 
978 0 852552 0 18 
 
Notebooks of Jack Carruthers, present at the Battle of Bembesi. In the possession of Carruthers’ 
descendants. 
 
Oral History Statement of Ntabeni Khumalo, son of Mhwebi, who was a son of Mzilikazi, National 
Archives of Zimbabwe. 
 
Own Goals - National pride and defeat in war: the Rhodesian experience Roger Marston (2009). 
Roberg Marston and Paragon Publishing. ISBN 978 1 899820 81 8 
 
Reminiscences of Percy Durban Crewe, Bulawayo Public Library. 
 
Report by F.J. Newton on Collision between Matabele and Forces of British S. Africa Company at 
Fort Victoria, July 1893, and Correspondence 
 
Rhodes and Rhodesia: The White Conquest of Zimbabwe 1884-1902. Arthur Keppel-Jones (1983). 
Montreal, Quebec and Kingston, Ontario: McGill-Queen's University Press. ISBN 978 0 773505 34 6. 
 
The Croydon Arsenic Mystery. Diane Janes (2010). The History Press. ISBN 978 0 7524 5337 8 
 
The Horsemen from Beyond. Basil Freestone (1981) Dobson Books Ltd. ISBN 0 234 77211 5 
 
The Matopos. Sir Robert Tredgold (ed) (1956) (Revised edition of “A Guide to the Matopos” by Dr 
E.A. Nobbs). Federal Dept of Printing and Stationery. 
 
Three oral history statements were made in 1937 by amaNdebele warriors present at the killing of 
Allan Wilson and his patrol on 4 December 1893 at the Shangani River, National Archives of 
Zimbabwe. 
 
Voices from the Rocks: Nature, Culture and History in the Matopos Hills of Zimbabwe. Terence 
Ranger (1999) James Currey. ISBN 978 0 852556 0 47 
 
Wars of Imperial Conquest In Africa, 1830 – 1914. Bruce Vanderfoort (1998). Routledge. ISBN 978 1 
857284 8 74 
 

Page 37

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/ISBN_(identifier)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Special:BookSources/978-0-7735-0534-6


18 
 

Appendix A 
 
Extract from the Case Book of the Royal Humane Society, 15 January 1894: 
 

 
 
Transcribed as:  
 
26902  
 
Name, address and occupation of the person who saved or attempted save a life: Capt 
E.A.W. Lendy, Inspector General of Police; Marcus Smith, Sergt and Corporals Amadoo 
Zambal and Edward Parkins 
 
Subject: Name, address and occupation: Morris Bangarah, Constable, Sierra Leone Frontier 
Police Force 
  
Time and Place: 11. a.m. 4 November 189, Seli or Rochelle River, Sierra Leone 
 
Particulars: A force of police (40 men) under Capt Lendy were sent to open up a road shut 
owing to the war when they came to the river 80 yards broad and swollen very much, the 
Sergt, two Corporals and the Constable endeavoured to swim across, but Bangarah got 
exhausted when some distance from shore. Alligators are plentiful.  
 

Page 38



19 
 

Exertions of the Claimant: Sergeant Smith seized the man and held him until the corporals 
came but they were all so exhausted that they could not save the man and only managed to 
swim ashore. Captain Lendy, seeing the state of things, dived in, swam to Bangarah, seized 
him under the armpitts (sic)  and brought him to the bank. 
 

 
 
Witness to the Accident, Name and Address: The case is sent by the Colonial Office. 
 
Date When Paid: 27 January 1894 Sent by (illegible name of courier) to the Under Sec’y of 
State. Bronze to each (4) Bronze’s. Colonial Office Sec memorialised as to disposal of 
accolade in case either of the Salvors have been killed in action. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix B 
 

Page 39



20 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



MATABELELAND. 

B. E P O B I' 

BT 

MR. F. J, NE\¥TON, 

UPON THE CIRCOMSTASCB3 CONNECTED WITH THE 

COLLISION BETWEEN THE MATABELE AND 
THE FORCES OF THE 

BRITISH SOUTH AFRICA COMPANY 

Vve^enteTj to fiotj JiJougeg of fJarlftuncnt 6j|> arommaiili of ji)ev iaajc0ti?. 
August 23,1894. 

LONDON: 

PRINTED FOR HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICE, 
BY EYJRE AND SPOTTISWOODE, 

rniNTEItS TO TUB QUEEN’S MOST EXCELLENT MAJESTV. 

And to be purchased, either directly or through any Bookseller, from 
EYRE AND SPOTTISWOODE, EA.ST HAKDINO STUEET, FLEET STKEKT, E.O., and 

32, ABINGDON STREET, WESTJUNaTEu, S.W.; or 
' JOHN MENZIES & Co., 12, HANOVER STREET, EDINBURGH, and 

90, WEST NILE STREET, GLASGOIV; or 

HODGES, FIGGIS, & Co., LIMITED, 101, GRAFTON STREET, DUBLIN. 

AT 

FORT VICTORIA 

IN JULY 1893, 

{A Map tviU be found at page 39.) 

1894. 
[0.-7555.] Price Sd. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 41



House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 42



'I'AELE OF CONTENTS. 

— To Sir W, G-. Cameron An-. 23 Bequ«ats that he will convey to ]\rr. Newton an 
expression of the Sccrchiry of State’s api)rcciation 
of the manner in which he luis ciirrictl out 
his instructions, and concurrence in the con- 
clusions arrii'ed at; the British South Afric.a 
Company should he informed of Lord Eipoii’s 
satisfaction at the cxoncnitinn of Dr. Jameson 
and the olHcials of the company gcnendly. 

Sir H. B. Loch 

1894. 

July 18 
(Rec, Aug. G.) 

PART I. 

J 'J'ransmits ^fr. Newton’s report on certain occur- 
rences at Victoria in -Tulv 1893. 

! 

PART II. 
COKttE5POXDK.\CE. 

1 Sir II, B. Loch 

Ditto 

1893. 

July 12 
(Rec. Aug. I.) 

1 
Transmits copy of a telegram from Dr. Janjcson 

to Dr. Harris relative to the Matahclc raid near 
Victoria, 

Dr. .Tameson to British 
South Africa Com- 
pany, Capetown. 

To Sir H. B. Loch - 

-July 22 
(Rea C. O, 
Aug. 14.) 

Tel^raphic. 

Nov. 2 

7 

Ditto 

Sir H. B. Loch 

Ditto 

To Sir H. B. Loch - 

Nov. 20 

Dec. 5 I 
(Rec. Dec. 22.) 

1894. 

Dec. 15, 1893 
(Rec. Jan. 8, 

1894.) 

Feb. 15 

Reports the circnnisfancca of the encounter between 
Captain Lendy with .38 men and 300 Alatabcle 
indunas. 

Transmits newspaper extracts bearing upon the 
affray between the Jlatabele iinpi and the Com- 
pany’s police near Victori.a, points out that these 
accounts differ materially from that furnished by 
the Administrator, and requests that the matter 
may be investigated. 

Encloses a furtlier newspaper extract as to the 
affray near Victoria, and observe.s that the whole 
subject needs (he most searching investigation. 

Transmits copy of correspondence with the British 
South Africa Company respecting the collision 
with the Matalielc at Victoria. 

States that the charges against Captain Leiidy 
will be investigated njion the conclusion of 
hostilities, and recommends that the inquiry 
should be referred to Major Sawyer or Mr. 
Newton. 

States that, notwithstanding the death of Captain 
Lendy, the imiuiry into his actions at Fort 
Victoria should he proceeded with, and that the 
investigation should ho intrusted to some officer 
of the necessary professional training hut wholly 
unconnected with the political aspects of tho 
question. 

47 

.luly 19 Transmits copy of a further telegram from Dr. 4S 
(Rec. Aug. 7.) Jameson respecting the ^lafabsle r.aid near 

Extract. Victoria. 

49 

49 

51 

56 

56 

57 

M 83160. Wt. 9080. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 43



V iv 

Serial > 
No. i From or to vrhom. Date. Subject. Page. 

10 

Sir W. G-. Cameron - 

Ditto 

1894. 

iMay 1 
(Ree. May 21.) 

Extract. 

May 10 
(Rec. .Tune 2.) 

Extract. 

Forwards copy of Proclamation conferring powers 
on a commissioner to inquire, into the Victoria 
incident, and of instructions to Mr. Newton as 
such commissioner. 

'J'ransinits copy of a telegram to the Administrator, 
British Bcchuaualand, conveying further instruc- 
tions to INfr. Newton .as to the scope of the inquiry 
to be conducted by him. 

57 

02 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 44



THE MARQUESS OE RIPON 

TO 

SIR W. G. CAMERON (ACTING HIGH COM.MISSIONER). 

SIR, Downing Street, August 23, 1S94. 

I HAVE received and considered Sir H. Loch’s Despatch of the ISth ultimo, 

forwarding Mr. Newton s report of his inquiry into the occurrences at Fort Victoria in 

July 1893. 

I request that you will express to Mr. Newton my appreciation of the manner in which 

he has carried out his instructions. He appears to have conducted the inquiry carefully 

and thoroughly, and his c.Kamination of the evidence collected by him is clear and 

impartial. It is, therefore, unnecessary for me to do more than state that I concur in 

the conclusions at which he has arrived. 

I enclose printed copie.s of Mr. Newton’s Report. It should be conimuaicated to the 

Managing Director of the British South Africa Company at Cape Town, and in doing so 

he should be informed that it has given me sincere satisfaction to find that the result of 

an inquiry so exh^iustivc and impartial has been clearly to exonerate Dr. .lameson and the 

officers of the British South Africa Company generall}% from tiie serious charges which 

had been made against them in connexion with these occurrences. 

I have, &c. 

(Signed) RIPON. 

K S31()0. A 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 45



House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 46



MATABELELAND. 

PART I. 

REPORT 
»y 

iMI{. f. .1. NEWTON, C.M.G., 
UrON THB 

OIRCCJMSTANOBS CONNECTED WITH THE COLLISION BETWEEN TIIE 
MATABBLB AND THE EOBCBS OF THE BRITISH SOUTH AFRICA COMPANY 

AT FORT VICTORIA IN JUIA- 1893. 

SIR H. B. LOCH to the MARQUESS OF RIPON. 
(Received August 6.1894.) 

Goverument House, Cape Town, 
MY LORD MARQUESS, July 18,1894. 

I ii.AYE the honour to tmnsmit, for your Lordship’s information, the report from 
Mr. Newton, dated the 7th instant, giving the result of the inquiry held by him at 
Buluwayo and Yictoria into the events that look place at Victoi’ia in July last. 

The report is accompanied b\^ the evidence of a considerable number of witnesses, 
taken on oath before him, as well as the evidence embodied in affidavits of persons 
who were unable to be present. 

Other documents, either of an explanatory character or bearing on the case, are 
likewise forwarded. 

Mr. Newton’s report has been prepared ivith much care and ability, and the general 
conclusions at which he arrives appear to be based on a careful analysis of the evidence 
and of all the circumstances connected with the incident. 

The evidence shows beyond all doubt that Doctor Jameson’s order w'as for the 
Matebele to withdraw w'ithin one hour—not across, but towards, the border; that it 
was a wise and proper order to give, and was fully understood by the Matebele. 

The young men having only gone some three miles in three hours, and having stolen 
cattle belonging to the white residents (in itself an act of war), was ample justification 
for the action taken by Captain Lendy to enforce obedience to an order deliberately 
given, and upon the enforcement of which, as it would appeal to Native intelligence, 
depended in a great measure a stop being put to the raiding on the Mashonas, and, to 
the Europeans, exemption from the danger of being attacked in their laager at 
Victoria. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) HENRI B. LOCH. 

Enclosure 1. 
SIR, Vryburg, July 7,1894. 

IN accordance with the instructions contained in Sir W. Cameron’s Despatch of 
the 1st May last, I have the honour to report to your Excellency the result of the 
inquiry, held by me at Buluwayo and Victoria, into the events which took place at 
Victoria in July last. 

2. Sir W. Cameron’s Despatch reached me at Buluwayo on the 18th May, and 
Dr. Jameson and Mr. Caldecott, Crown Prosecutor of Mashonaland, the officer appointed 
to appear on the Company’s behalf, arrived on the 20th. On the 21st, 22nd, 23rd, and 
25th I took evidence at Buluwayo, and on Tuesday the 29tli, iminediatoly after finishing 
other business there, I left for Victoria by waggon. The journey took 13 days, but was 
a shorter way of reaching that place than by waiting several days to go round either by 
the Charter or Tuli roads. 1 arrived at Victoria on Monday morning the 11th Juno 

A 2 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 47



4 

and examined witnesses on tliat and tlie two following days. I also went over tlie 
country wliere Captain Lendy’s force came in .contact witli the Matebele. 

On returning tlirougli Palapye I met the Rev. "W. C. Willoughby, whose letter to the 
“ Daily Chronicle” was forwarded to me for r.he purposes of this inquiry. His evidence, 
with that of Mr. Moffat on one point is attached. 

3. I have now the honour to enclose :— 
(1.) Schedule and Index of Evidence taken, setting forth the names of the witnesses 

and their callings. 
^2.) p3.; (4.) Minutes of the Evidence, taken down by myself, of twenty'-five sworn 

witnesses, at Buhiwayo, Victoria, and Palapye respectively. 
(5.) Affidavit by J. S. Bastard. (jSt't* Schedule and !^nutes.) 
(6.) Affidavit by M. B. Weale, trumpeter. {See Schedule and Minutes.) 
(7.) A list of the mounted patrol which went out, by- Dr. Jameson’s instructions, 

under Captain Lendy’s command, to drive off the Matebele. I made a point of 
calling as witnesses every man of this patrol that could be found. The evidence 
of eighteen of them has been secured. 

(8.) Sketch of the country where Captain Lendy’s patrol met the Matebele. 
(9.) Copy of the “Mashonaland Times” of the 20th July, referred to in this report, 

and in Mr. Willoughby’s letter. 
4. I will now proceed to give Your Excellency* a narrative of what is known as 
the Victoria Incident,” generally^ from the time of the arrival of the Matebele in the 

neighbourhood of Port Victoria on the 9th July last, and jparlicularly of the events of 
the 18th July, up to the return of Captain Lendy’s patrol on the evening of that day^ 
In doing so I shall, when necessary, refer, in the margin, to the evidence of witnesses 
according to the numbered pages of their evidence. 

I propose afterwards to deal with specific points which have been raised in the 
Secretary of State’s despatch and its enclosures, where the official accounts of the 
incident are alleged to differ from accounts furnished by other persons, or where other 
persons have made allegations which do not appear in the official accounts. 

5. Narrative. 

ilanrow, p. 23. 

JiOnl n. Paulet, p. 13. 
Mr. Vigers, p. 1C. 

_ Xapicr, p. IS. 
„ Weir. p. 20. 
.. Chalk, p. 23. 

Tr. Forrwlall, p. SO. 
Mr. JJrahant. p. 32. 
Makooiahi. p. 3C. 

Makoomhi. p. SO. 

On the afternoon of Sunday the 9th July, that part of Mashonaland surroundino^ 
Victoria was overrun by a large force of Matebeles. I am in a position to give what I 
believe to be a fairly accurate estimate of the numbers of that force from the evidence 
supplied by Manyow, the Matebele Induna in command of it, who appeared before me 
at Buluwayo on the 23rd May. It consisted of three Matebele regiments, the 
Mhlahlaiihlela, the HBuka, and the E’Sima, and the fighting forces of eight towns— 
N’Sinda, Euxa, Oyinga, Mobanbeni, H’Singo, H’Swananyc, Sizinda, and H’Gwetiwe, 
besides a lot of stragglers from the Magholes (serfs) belonging to those towns. About 
2,500 Majakas (young warriors-soldiers) left Buluwayo, and the Magholis picked up 
on the way were about 1,000 in number. 

As to the proceedings of this Matebele impi in the neighbourhood of Victoria up to 
the 18th July there is and can be no question. The whole country s*warmed with them. 
The Mashonas had fled—some to their kopjes, where they were besieged, some into 
Victoria, and others far aw’^ay -westward. Many of the men were barbarously murdered 
—stabbed and mutilated. It is unnecessary for me to discuss to what extent these 
barbarities were defensible from the Matebele point of view, but it is impossible to 
ignore the feeling of indignation and disgust which was felt by the inhabitants of 
Victoria and the district at the indiscriminate slaughter by the Matebele of the 
Mashona men and the abduction of the Mashona women and girls. It may be perhaps 
urged that Lobengulu’s impi was acting technically within Lobengulu’s rights; as 
the facts cannot be gainsaid, it appears to me the only point that can be urged on 
behalf of the Matebele. But there can be no doubt the Matebele exceeded any so-called 
right of Lobengulu to harry the Mashonas. The impi was directed to proceed against 
Zimuntu and Bere (Mashona Chiefs), who were known to have assisted white settlers of 
the district by furnishing them with grain and labour. But the Chief Manyow had 
little or no control over the younger and headstrong Majakas or over the troops of 
Magholes (serfs), who had followed promiscuously from the towns on the road from 
Buluwayo to join in the raid. The whole country north-east and south of Victoria was 
scoured by them. Mr. ’Willoughby, in his letter of the 16th October * to the “ Daily 

* Enclosure in No. 6-(Part II.), pnge 53. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 48



5 

5 

Olironiclo,” throws some doubt on a statement that one English farmstead was raided, 
as no report had reached him to that effect other than the official report quoted by hiim. 
I gather from the evidence, and am quite satisfied, that serm-aZ English farmsteads were Mr.>>ior.jtis. 
raided. By “raiding” I mean that the Matebele came upon these farms, stayed there, 
chased the herds, killed all the Mashona servants they could catch, and appropriated KSu‘en,’j?‘»C 
all the cattle they could find, without inquiring whether they were the property of 
Mashonas or English. Many of the cattle so captured they must have known to he 
the property of white men. Some branded cattle were found in their possession on Mr.xapior.p.'is. 
the day when the patrol went out fi-om Fort A'ictoria, others were returned by the 1 
more reasonable Induuas, after pressure by Captain Leiidy. previous to the arrival of M?."cS.’pTk 
Dr. Jameson at Victoria. Many of the cattle captured and carried off were the pro- - For^ii7p.». 
perty of the Company or of private individuals; and it was pointed out, with some “ nStat^p.k 
force, by more than one witness, that among FTatives the capture and carrying off of ” 
cattle is an act of war, and it is in fact one of the principal methods of carrying on 
warfare among I^ative tribes- The Matebele, therefore, who captured wliite mens 04 

cattle, and retained possession of them, must have known they were liable for the 1 Moir"t.’p.37.’ " 
consequences. 

The retails set forth in the evidence of the events between the 9th and the ISth 
July can hardly be disputed. I take it as proved and accepted that the Matebele were 
in nossession of the whole country side, that they entered the precincts of the town of 
Fort Victoria, not merely according to map as alleged by Mr. Willoughby, but close to 
the hospital and church, as deposed by the Civil Commissioner, Mr. Vigors, and others; sir. VJ?^P^C. 

that they squatted on the “ commonage ” (which I may^ here inform Mr. Willoughby is T. 
a tract of grazing ground set apart and adjoining every South African township, for 7 
the common use of its inhabitants), and that mming, agricultural, and pastoral pursuits 
were at a standstill owing to their presence. The Chief Manyow entered the town 
prior to the arrival of Dr. Jameson, and called upon Captain Lendy, who was magis- iwa.irMct^p.13. 
trate, to hand over to him the Mashona refugees—men, women, and children—whom J 
he saw had obtained a sanctuary in the fort. Captain Lendy gave the only reply " ' 
which it was possible for an officer in his position to give, but he couched it in terms 
of extreme fairness. He did not exonerate the Mashonas from any charges made 
ao-ainst them, but in reply to the grim undertaking by Manyow that he would not 
kfli the prisoners in the river and dirty the water, but would take them into the bush and 
kill them there, he said that as magistrate he would not surrender them untried, but 
if Manyow would make a charge against them he w'ould try them. 

Dr. Jameson arrived at Victoria on Monday the 17th July, passing troops of raiding 
^fatehele close to the town. Immediately on his arrival he sent word to Man^'ow that 
he must come in on the following day to speak with him. The Indunas, armed, and 
accompanied by armed men, duly arrived within 300 yards of the fort. Here Sergeant 
Fitzo-erald with four men was sent out to tell them they must lay doum their arms, 
with°which order they complied- An indaba was then held about mid-day at the 
gates of the fort, of w'hich a full account can be gathered from the evidence of 
various witnesses who were present- Captain Mapier acted as interpreter, and 
Mr. Brabant, wffio also understands Setebele, was also in attendance. Besides 
Dr- Jameson, Captain Hapier, and Mr. Brabant there were present Mr. Vigers, 
Lord Henry* Paulet, Mr. Drew, and others. It would appear that Dr. Jameson 
look a strong line in speaking to Manyow^ told him he was lying to him, and 
asked him why he had permitted all these proceedings in the neighbourhood. 
Were they, by the King’s orders, interfering with whites? Why had they 
killed servants and carried off cattle ? He then proceeded to ask Manyow 
whether it was true that he had lost control over his young men, and on Manyow 
admitting this Dr, Jameson told him, “ You, Manyow, and those tvlio obey the King’s 
Orders,, must go across the border. I give you an hour to go.” (In interpreting “ one 
hour,” Mr. Napier pointed to the sun as it was then and as it would be in about 
an hour.) “Leave your young men, and I will deal yvith them.” In saying this, or 
words to this effect, Dr. Jameson pointed at the guns in the fort, thereby giving the 
chief to understand that force would be used should the young men decline to retire. 
He then walked away. The chief sent h message after him by Lord Henry Paulet to 
ask where the border was, to which Dr. Jameson replied,. “ Tell him he knoyvs.” The 
meeting then broke up. All witnesses agree in their: description of the conduct, of the 
young Indnna Hmgandab at this meeting; he was insolent in yoico and manner, 
constantly intermpting the speakers and endeavouring to assert liimself. , At„the. end 
of the. indaba he. made use of some such expression as ** We will be driven across, 

A. 3 

Jlr. Chalk, p.^. 
„ rcrrMtaU,p.3}. 
„ £ksteen,p.3t. 
„ nrew, p. 35. 

Lord II. l^ulet. p. 13. 
Mr. Vjseis,p.ld- 

^ Xapier, p. 19- 
Ilr. Jameson, p. 19. 
JIatiyow. p.SS. 
Mr,aialk.p.2S. 

„ Forrcatall, p.30, 
M Jlrahant, p. 3i 
„ Drew, p. 35. 
. Dastanl, p. 

Ix)rd H. Paulet, p. (5. 
3Ir. ViKcrs.p. 10. 

„ Jfapicr.p. 18. 
Dr. Jameson, p. 19. 
Mr. Chalk, p. 28. 
„ Forrestall, p. 30. 
„ Dfook,p.3I. 
„ Dratant, p. 32. 
„ Kkaiccn, p. Si. 
„ Stroyan,p.35. 
„ Diew, p.35. 
„ Willoughby, p, 3<5, 
„ Dastard, p. 38.. 

Ixr.l ILPaviIet, p 15, 
Mr. Xaplor, p, 18. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 49



■> » ;< 

Dr. Jiimcson, p. 1!>. 
Sltiiivow.ii. 25. 
Mr. iJraUint, p. 32. 

H. Paulct, p. 13. 

Jameson p. W. 

Dtielosure 5. 

l^nclos-.irc S. 

Scr^. KenncH.v, p. 22. 
<i)rp. Gloag. p. 20. 
'Sr. Dr«ok, p. 31. 

liOnJ n. PauIcl, p. 15. 

Sfanyow, p. 25. 

3raIcoombi, p. 30. 

3Ir. Brabant, p. S2. 

Sir. Jfapier, p. 18. 
„ M’cir, p. 20. 
„ Voasclt, p. 23. 
.. Neal, p. 2J. 

5Ianyow,'p.25. 
Mr. sinter, p. 27. 

„ GIoag,t).2«. 
„ U-vstard, p. 33. 

6 

or “Let US drive them.” 'i’Le evidence is slightly conflicting as to what he did 
actually say, hut he certainly said something, which created the impression in the 
minds of those present that he meant to disregard the Doctor’s warning. The evidence 
of Dr. Jameson and Messrs. Napier and Brabant leaves little room for doubt as 
to this. 

On the departure of the Mafebele, the Europeans went to lunch, and orders were 
given to Lord Henry Paiilet (the officer commanding the Victoria Rangers), by 
o If \ O v,/x oy j UJ 

Captain Lendy, to select as many men as he could find horses for, to parade at 
2 o’clock for mounted patrol. The parade fell in at two and it was some time after 
j 1 • ^ 1 _ n-. . t •. *r 3—.2-   xi. .    T 

Mr. Stokcs« p. 15. 

“ I don’t want them to think it is merely a threat; they have had a week of threats 
“ already, with very bad results. Side out in the direction they have gone, towards 
“ Magomoli’s kraal. If you find they are not moving ofi^, drive them, as you heard 
“ me tell Manyo w I would, and if they resist and attack you, shoot them.” Dr. Jameson 
cannot guarantee that these words were his orders verbatim, but he states that they 
are probably very nearly so, as the orders were given verbally in the same w'ay as he 
then repeated them before me. 

It w'as about an hour and three-quarters after the close of the indaba when the 
patrol left the fort in column of half-sections. It consisted of about 40 men. I could 
get no accurate list of those w'ho formed it, but 35 men were warned, and it is probable 
that 38 men fell in in the fort, and perhaps some five or six who had horses to ride 
afterwards joined. A list of the names and ranks of those known to have been present 
is attached. The volunteers rode first out of the fort, the police beino- in the rear. 
The columns cantered a few yards away from the fort, and then settled down to a walk 
(which pace the}’' maintained till the Matebele were sighted), and proceeded in a 
direction slightly west of north, according to the accompanying sketch. After pro- 
ceeding a short distance from the towm an advance guard of a sergeant and four men 
was sent forward, and flanking parties thrown out on either side. Sergeant Kennelly, 
of the Victoria Rangers, Avas in charge of the advance guard, which consisted of 
himself, and Troopers IBezuidenhout, Brook, Campbell, and Gloag. The course taken by 
the advance guard and column is shoAvn, I believe, fairly accurately on the sketch, 
Avhich is draAvn from information given me on the ground by Messrs. Brabant and 
Brook. About three and a half miles from Victoria, while the column, Avhich had 
been at a walk the whole time, was making its way across some fallow ground, the 
Matebele were first seen, moving sloAvly, in disjointed lots and groups, from the south- 
Avest to the north-east, in the direction of Magomoli’s kraal, Avhere it Avas known that 
ManyoAV had his head-quarters. It appears fiom the evidence that at the end of 
the indaba, ManyoAV and the chief Indunas ’went straight ofl’ to their camp near 
Magomoli’s kraal, which they were investing; that Manyow and the older section of 
the impi had a strong difference of opinion with TJmgandan and the youno- Avairiors, 
who deliberately announced their intention of staying to continue their raidf It is also 
clear that on that same afternoon Makoomhi’s and Mazibili’s kraals were respectively 
attacked and raided ; the latter Avas empty, the inhabitants having fled, but there is 
every reason to believe that the party of Matebele and Magholi, overtaken by the 
patrol, was not a regular rearguard of Manyow^’s impi retreating in accordance with 
Dr. Jameson's orders, hut simply a lot of Matabele and Magholis, witR stolon cattle 
and grain in their possession, hurrying back from a raid at Magibili’s, to join the main 
body, when they saAV the body of white men mounted and armed. The direction they 
were taking and from which they Avere coming, and the fact that some were carrying 
grain and diiving stolen cattle leads me to this assumption ; and I may here mention 
that in the course of the pursuit Avhich folloAved, several men of the patrol observed 
cattle which had evidently been in the possession of the attacked and %ing Matebele, 
The cattle were not recovered at the time, hut were identified by colour and brand as 
tho property of a resident in the district. 

Tiie Matebele were probably first seen by the advance guard, but small lots of two 
or three were soon visible to tho whole column. 

As to how the filing actually began, there is some conflict of evidence, Avhich is dealt 
Avith later on. It is enough for the present to say ■uhat some single shots were fired by 
the advance guard on receipt of orders from the commanding officer. The general order 
to commence filing having then been given by Captain Lendy, the column advanced and 
extended at a canter. Tho skirmishing order taken at once became a mere chase, 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 50



7 

Tlio Matebelo beat a retreat, their point evidently being Magomoli’s kraal, where the 
Induna Manyow and the head-quarters of the Matebele impi were known to bo. 
Beyond the incident of the man who fired at Fitzgerald, referred to later on, a 
statement by one witness that the Matebele threw an assegai or two, and by another 
that a Matebele shook his spear at him, there is nothing to show that any organised or 
individual resistance Avas offered. As a witness said: “ They got on the run, and we 
“ kept them on the run.” Those with good horses got to the front, and the badl}’’ 
mounted fell behind. The ground was, however, very bad for horsemen, being in 
places umideable at any pace, from the deep ridges and fun*ows of the cultivated 
land. This fact, and the kopjes close by on the right, saved the lives of many 
Matebele. After the pursuit, for it can hardly be called anything else, had been 
going on for about ten minutes. Captain Lendy gave orders to cease firing. 

Some of the patrol had pursued a much greater distance than others; some went on 
so far as Makoombi’s kraal, which the}’ found being invested by Matebele. A message 
VYQS seat back to Captain Lendy to that effect, and a few shots were fired at long range 
at the besiegers, AA'IIO immediately retired, leaving the fortunate Makoombi and his 
people free to descend from their kopje. It Avas from Makoombi that I ascertained 
that Mazibili’s kmal had been raided on that afternoon. He had been watching the 
proceeding.^, and the attack of the whites, from his hill-top. 

On the an’ival of Captain Lendy and the main party at Makoombi’s, the patrol 
halted for a fev/ minutes, and then rode straight back to Fcrt Victoria, Avhich they 
reached about sundown. 

The number killed during the brief period of the pursuit has been variously estimated. 
The Induna Manyow and his colleague Hmyeng wane say—and they should know best— 
that 11 men Avere missing, of whom nine are believed to have been killed, and two to 
have run aAvay. Makoombi states that of the whole number killed only three were 
Matebele, the rest Avere dogs ” (Magholcs). The Induna IJmgandan, who had so 
distinguished himself by his insolent behaviour at the indaba, was one of the first shot. 

6. I now propose to deal with the points referred to in the fourth paragraph of this 
report; and for convenience of reference I here insert, in extemOy the official account 
of the afiair sent by Dr. Jameson to the High Commissioner on the evening of the 
ISth. 

Dr. JAMESON, Victoria, to HIGH COMMISSIONER, Cape Town. 

18th July. . . . The Indiinas arrived after my last telegram. After some con- 
versation, during which they would not consent to return beyond the border, I told 
them I would give them an hour to retire, and if they did not I would send my men to 
drive them out as I had informed the King. At the stated time Captain Lendy, with 
38 mounted men, rode out, and found about 300 still on the commonage: these fired 
at Lendy’s party. Lendy then fired and pursued for about nine miles; a few men Avero 
killed, including two head-men. Lendy has noAV returned : no casualties. I believe 
the whole lot will now return to Mateheleland and further raiding cease. We are taking 
all due precautions in case of any returns, which I do not anticipate. 

7. The Secretary of State’s Despatch to your E.vcellency of the 2nd FToveraber 
points out a material difference between the foregoing account and certain statements 
forming enclosures to that Despatch, from which it would appear that the Matebele had 
not fired or attempted resistance Avhen the police opened fire upon them. 

The question as to who fired the first shot thus arises; and it is necessary to examine 
the evidence, which is very conflicting, before stating any conclusion on the point. 

As an instence of the conflict of evidence, I may point out that several witnesses on 
either side on this question depose to having heard the trumpeter sound the “ commence 
firing.” The trumpeter says he never sounded it at all. After the time that has 
elapsed since the incident occurred, discrepancies between the evidence of individuals 
must he expected. I have attached most weight to points on which several witnesses 
are agreed. 

The testimony of those who say the Matebele fired first may he divided into three 
groups, each of which differs from the other tAVO. 

1. Dr. Jameson states that Captain Lendy, on his return, reported that they came 
across the Matebele on the commonage, “ that Sergeant Fitzgerald had been 
“ fired upon by them, but not hit, that then he ordered his men to charge 

them and fire.” 
A 4 

Air. Sluter, p. 2*. 

Air. Stokc$, p. 13. 

Air. Kennel ly.p. 22. 
,. I’ojselt. p. 23. 
.. Slater, p. 27. 
.. Forreittall. p 30. 
,. Itrook. p. 31. 
„ AVeir, p. 20. 

Air. Forrcstall. p. 30. 
„ lltnliant,p.32. 

Alakcoinla, p. 30. 

Alakoombi, p. 3G. 

Dr. Jameson, p. 10. 
Mr.FotscU.p.SA. 

„ Brook, p. 31. 

Alakoombi, p. 35. 

See £C. 7171J, p. 53. 

Air. Kennclly, p. 22. 
„ Clinik, p.2t). 
,, Drew, p. .35. 
„ Bastard, p. 39. 
„ AVcale,39. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 51



8 

p.l6. 

p.15. 

p.3i 

p.35. 

P.2I- 

p.M. 

p. 27. 

p.31. 

p 21. 

Mr. Vigors, tlie Civil Oommissionor of Victoria, states that on tlie return'of tho 
patrol, Captain, then Sergeant, Eitzgerald, told him “ that the first shot lired 
“ was by a Matebele in the rochs by Makoombi’s kraal, when they first came 
“ up with the Matebele, and the bullet struck in between him and the man 
“ who was riding with him; that he had always understood that to have been 
“ the first shot fired on either side.” 

2. Captain Isapier deposes that “ someone of the four men who were riding in 
front shouted out ‘ they are firing at us.’ I heard the shot. It seemed to 
come from the left front. Fitzgerald was one of tho four. We asked 
Captain Lendy, what are we to do ? When he felt satisfied that we had been 
fired upon, ^^e told us to extend in skirmishing order and fire. We extended 

“ at a gallop and commenced firing.” 
Mr. Brabant deposes : “ I heard a shot fired fi’om the Matabele. I saw it fifed, 
it was on our right front. It was just about the time the advance guard sent 

“ the message back.” 
These two witnesses both agree that the shot was fired from the front. 

3. The Trumpeter Weale says: “About three miles from camp he heard shots fired 
“ ahead, and immediately two or three of the advance guard returned and 
“ reported having seen a number of Matebele and having been fired upon. 
“ The patrol at once cantered up to the advance guard, and firing then 
“ commenced on both sides.” 

CC 

cc 

c< 

The three foregoing -«*itnesses all depose that the firing was from the front. The 
evidence of the men of the advance guard must therefore be very nearly decisive. 

The advance guard consisted of Sergeant Kennelly and four men, Bezuidenhout, 
Brook, Campbell, and Gloag. (Sergeant Fitzgerald was not of the advance guard.) 
The evidence of Bezuidenhout and Campbell could not be obtained, but that of 
Kennelly, Brook, and Gloag is clear. They agree with each other but are entirely at 
variance with that already given. 

Sergeant Kennelly, in charge of the advance guard, states that Trooper'Gloag, whom 
he had sent to Captain Lendy to say the Matebele were in sight, brought back a 
message to say he was to open fire, and he also heard the bugler sounding to commence 
fire. He fired a shot in the air, and that was the first shot that he heard, and he fired 
it after receiving the order. Cross-examined he says that he could not say, but not 
to his knowledge, there was not a shot fired before Captain Lendy gave the order. 

Trooper Gloag deposes that he took Kennelly’s naessage and rode along at Captain 
Lendy s left side while that olficer had some conversation with Lieutenant Fitzgerald. 
Captain Lendy then told him to return to his post. When he had gone abCut 250 
yards he heard Captain Lendy shout out to him to “Halt,” and he then heard 
Captain Lendy say distinctly as an order to him (Gloag) “ Commence firing.” He 
waited to have the order repeated and heard it repeated by several voices; he then 
went off to Kennelly and gave the order. Kennelly then fifed a shot and Gloag 
followed suit. Kennelly’s was the first shot he heard. He also tells the story of 
Fitzgerald having been afterwards fired at by a native, who missed him. This incident 
clearly was not the occasion of the first shot being fired. 

Trooper Brook, also of the advance guard, states even more explicitly that by tho 
time the order, through Gloag, had been received, the Matebele had rmmded a small 
kopje in front, so “ we had to go some distance to sight them again- This was after 
“ the order was received to commence firing, but before the first shot was fired— 
“ Kennelly fired the fifst shot.” The evidence of the men of the advance guard is of 
importance on the question of who fired the first shot, and I regret that I was uiiablo 
to procure the attendance of Troopers Campbell and Bezuidenhout. The three men 
quoted, however, gave their evidence clearly and well, and it is diflBcult to imagine, 
considering the position they were in, how a shot could have been fired from the front, 
as alleged by Messrs. Weale, Napier, and Brabant without these three men hearing or 
seeing it. At such a moment everyone would have been on the alert, and I cannot but 
think that if the Matabele really did fire first, tho evidence oh the point would* be 
overwhelming, and the men of the advance guard would have been the first to know 
of it. 

Another witness, Mf. Lloyd, corporal in the Victoria Rangefs, says he was ordered 
in to tho main body from a flanking party and “ immediately afterwards heard firing— 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 52



9 

5<5 ; 

“ tlio advancG guard was firing. Kennelly was one of the advance guard. We all 
“ raced forward and commenced firing ourselves on the word being given by Captain 
“ Lendy to fire.” Later on he relates the someAvhat familiar incident of the native 
firing at and missing Fitzgerald. Many men saw this—and nearly every witness 
mentioned it—but it was clearly not the first shot fired in the day. 

Mr. Posselt also states :—“ The men ahead of us fired the first shot—the advance p.23. 
“ ffuard. I could not see who fired first. I hoard the shot. The advance truard was 
“ close. "We could see the men shooting, but I could not say who it was. I did not 
“ see any Matebele shooting. I did not see them fire a shot at all,” and later, “ I 
“ could not say positively whether the Matebele fired the first shot or no, but I do not 
“ think they did.” 

Mr. Bastard says in his affidavit, “Immediately they wore sighted. Captain Lendy p-w. 
“ grave the order to commence firing, Avhich was sounded on the bugrle. The main 
“ body commenced to charge, and the advance party commenced firing ”; he then tells 
the story of the man who fired at Fitzgerald as distinctly occurring after the firing had 
become general. 

A Matebele Chief, Umgengwane, who was one of the part}* pursued by the patrol, p-^" 
gave evidence before mo, and stated without hesitation: “ the white men fired the 
“ first shot.” 

One or two witnesses said the}* heard it said that a shot was fired by the Matebele on 
the left flank, but this was not confirmed in any wa3^ 

Messrs. Brabant and Brew, two witnesses at Victoria, said the}' believed, or hfid 
heard, that Dmyandan fired the first shot, but this was not eonfirmed. 

Br. Jameson and Mr. Vigers say they were told the first shot was fired at 
Fitzgerald. Mr. Brabant says it was fired just about the time the advance guard sent 
the message back. 

If the first shot was fired by the Matebele at this time nearly everyone would 
have seen and heard it. Ifapier only says he heard a shot fired, but he also says that 
one of the four men in front shouted out, “ they are firing at ns,” and that Fitzgerald 
was one of the four, but Gloag, who had been sent back, says that Fitzgerald was riding 
and conversing with Captain Lendy. (Fitzgerald was certainly not one of the advance 
guard, and was no doubt Avith the main body at this particular moment.) 

I think that Br. Jameson and Mr. Vigers are mistaken in attributing the well-known 
incident of the native shooting at Fitzgerald as the occasion of the first shot, Avhile 
the recollections of Messrs. Ifapier and Brabant do not agree with each other or anyone 
rise’s. On the other hand, the three men of the advance guard told a clear and distinct 
story, which is supported by the evidence of Lloyd, Posselt, Bastard, and the, Indiina .s^cpp.2i.2?,2c. 
Umgengwan. 

I am further influenced by the consideration that if the Matebele had really fired 
first, there Avould have been plent}* of witnesses, not only to say so, but also to give a 
dear and compact account of the matter. For these reasons I believe that Messrs. 
Napier and Brabant Avere mistaken, and that the first shots seen and heard by them and 
GA'eryone were the shots fired by the advance guard. The Aveight of cvidenco appears 
to me to favour this vieAv. 

8. Dr. Jameson’s Ultimatum at the Indaha. 

The first enclosure to the Secretary of State’s Bcspatch of the 2nd November is an 
extract from “ Truth” of the 19th October, and is referred to hcrein-after and in the 
evidence as Statement A. It contains the following passage:— 

“ Last Tuesday the Matebele came into camp . . . Br. Jameson held an iiidaba 
and gave them one hour to get out of Maslionaland (30 miles).” 

The second enclosure is an extract from the “ Times ” of the 16th October, in Avhich 
it was published as “an extract from a private letter just received by a Swansea 
“ gentleman from his brother Avho has a farm about three miles from Fort Victoria.” 
It is referred to herein-after and in the evidence as Statement B. It contains the 
following passage:— 

“ The end of it was, Jameson told him (tho head Induna, ManyoAv) he gavo him 
(ManyoAv) an hour to give up tho cattle and got over the border, and if they Avere not 
across by then, wo should help them.” 

* Enclosure 3 in No. -1 (Part JF.), page 51. 
It 831 CO. B 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 53



r 
10 

A sub-enclosure to a despatch, from the Secretary of State of the 20th November is 
a letter from the Eev. W. C. Willoughby at Palapye. It contains the following 
passage:— 

“ Since then I have been favoured with the sight of a private letter from a gentle- 
man at Port Yictoria, and the letter, while giving an ampler account of what transpired, 
is in strict accord with the non-official accounts to which I have referred. The letter 
says. Dr. Jameson ordered the Induna across the frontier, which was thirty miles away, 
within two hours. The doctor must have had a high opinion of the jffij'sical powers of 
the Matebele.” 

The allegation, in each of these statements, is to the efiect that Dr. Jameson 
knowingly called upon the Matabele to do what he knew to be impossible, and it leaves 
it to be inferred that he sent Captain Lendy to punish them for not doing it. 

p.M. The charge is repudiated by Dr. Jameson emphatically, and his repudiation is 
supported by every witness who could give evidence on the subject. Dr. Jameson’s 
order to IManyow neither was, nor was it intended to be, nor was it construed as, an 
ultimatum impossible of performance. 

The writer of the letter referred to as Statement B. appeared before me and admitted 
that he was on his horse in the fort square while the indaha was going on at the fort 
gates and that he could not hear what passed : when examined on the point he stated, 
“ That is only what I heard from others. I was not present at the indaba and do not 
“ adhere to that statement ”; and he stated further, in replj* to a question from myself, 
that he did not consider that the Matebele were making a hona fide attempt to leave 
the country as instructed previously by Dr. Jameson Avhen the patrol came up with 
them. 

The point does not call for much remark. The witnesses are almost onanimous that 
the Doctor ordered the Matebele to clear, or be on the move, or to start, or words to 
that effect, within one hour, and that ihe space of an hour was indicated b}' Mr. Napier, 
the interpreter, hy the position of the sun. Mr. Willoughby himself quotes the correct 

1.^9. story in his letter, viz., that given briefly in the Yictoria newspaper, which says that 
the Doctor “ simply tells them to clear within an hour, or he will make them.” 

ir 9. Bemuinder of Sfut^Tnent A. 

.5t«sTce{cb,p.39. 
and Vnigsns- 

trane. 

Jfr. StoVes, 
- 
„ „ Jvcnncl 
„ JVascll 
.. Vorrcsl 
„ linlxu 

Mr. Wir, p. SO. 
„ llrabant, p. 32. 

3Ir. XspkT, p. 18. 

It is not necessary for me to do more than correct some minor mistakes in this 
statement, a copy of which is attached:— 

i. The Matebele were met about 3| miles and not 7 miles from the camp. 
ii. The number of killed was not between 25 and 30. Ten or 11 is the probable 

number. 
iii. The statement “ It was like buck-shooting, for the poor devils took to their heels 

“ and we galloped up and almost shot them point blank. I don’t suppose any 
“ of them got less than four or five hubets in him,” is highly coloured. One 
or two men were shot at close range, but the evidence is incontestable that most 
of the firing was at a range of over 100 yards. The expression, “ It was like 
“ buck-shooting,” seems intended to convey the idea of horsemen riding, as it 
were, into a troop of springbuck. Nothing of the kind occurred, and every 
witness examined on the point has denounced the statement as misleading cr 
untruthful. The supposition that none of the killed got less than four or five 
bullets in him is probably exaggerated fi’om the fact that the chief Dingandan, 
who was conspicuous fi*om the feathers he wore, was fired at and hit by two if 
not three men. 

iv. The concluding paragraph of the statement is also incorrect. A mounted patrol 
did go out under Captain Napier, it is true, but they had no “ brush,” and killed 
no one. 

10. Bemewh'i on, Statement B. 

“ The brother oE a Swansea gentleman ” gave evidence before mo clearly and well. 
He admits now that he cannot adhere to his statement as to the terms in which 
Dr. Jameson conveyed his ultimatum. He states that the first shot was fired by 
Serjeant Kennelly, which I iDelieve, and does not now think that his original 
estimate of 40 and 50 killed is a correct one. The statement calls for no further 
remaik, 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 54



11 

55 a 

11. Statement 0. contains no specific allegation furnishing grounds for inquiry. 
The ■writer shares in the general opinion that Captain Lendy’s party fired first. This 
point has already been dealt with. I am unaware of the identit}*^ of the writer, but he 
appears to have gauged the intentions of the Matebele impi with sagacity. I agree 
with him, from all I have heard, that it was the intention of the chief of tho impi in 
entering the district to harry the Mashonas and irritate the Europeans, without 
infringing the King’s instructions, only they went too far. 

Statement D. 

jilr. Wardlaw Thompson has not formulated anything into a charge which can be 
made the subject of inquiry and makes no direct allusion to the facts of the Yictoria 
Incident. 

Mr. "Willoughby, whom he introduces to the Editor of the “ Daily Chronicle,” has, 
however, contributed a letter, which has been the principal indictment, so to speak, in 
this inquir}*. It contains, to begin with, a sweeping insinuation, in the shape of a 
general exhortation to British subjects, that they should at least “ abstain from copying 
“ the ti’eachery and cruelty of the savages that they may have to chastise.” Further 
on, he repeats a complaint made by Lobengula to a fj-iend of his that the white men 
had fired on his soldiers when they were retiring. I will only pause to remark that the 
evident reason why the Matebele were fired on was because they were not retiring. 
Matebeleland lay due west, and the men fired upon were mo^dng from south-west to 
north-east, and were making no genuine attempt to retire when the patrol came upon 
them. He next states that he hear 1 from ^fatebeleland that the Matebele who were 
attacked w'ere the rear guard of the impi. I think he has been misinformed on this 
point. It is true that Sergeant Kennelly and Trooper Forrestall state that they thought 
they were the rearguard of the impi, but the evidence of Manyow and Makoombi, and 
several men of the patrol, confirms me in the belief that the n_en attacked were a 
handful of Matebele, with a following of Magholcs, who had been raiding the Mazibili 
kraal and joining in the attack on Makoombi’s kraal, and were scurrying back to 
rejoin head-quarters round Magomole’s, when they saw the armed force coming out 
from Victoria. 

He then mentions a report that this rearguard were carrying a sick Hiduna, and that 
the sick Induna, and the Induna in charge of the party, were shot. 

I have inquired of nearl}' every witness, of Manyow himself, and Umgengwane, who 
was an Induna present when the Matebele met the patrol. (These two witnesses were 
examined in each other’s presence, and it is difficult to separate their evidence. "What 
they had to say on this point is found only under Manyow, but Hmgengwane 
corroborated him). The only possible sick induna was TTmgandaii, the same man who 
had made himself conspicuous by insolent behaviour at the iiidaha earlier in the day. 
He had had an attack of culic that morning, so Manyow said. He was not incapable of 
walking. He was not being carried. He wa.s strong enough to cany a gun. Ho one 
saw a really sick Induna, or an Induna being earned. Hmgandan was the Induna in 
charge of the party, and was conspicuous by the white feathers in his head-dress. He 
was shot at by several men and lalled, but he was deserving of no sympathy on the 
score of sickness, or of being in charge of this party. 

Mr. "Villoughby then proceeds to quote from a letter, a portion of which he had been 
permitted to read. I have already dealt with the statement of his informant as to Dr. 
Jameson’s ultimatum to the Indunas, and with the question of who fired first. 

I now giv'e a remarkable extract:—“ Captain Lendy then ordered his men to charge 
“ and fire, which they did. The impi took no notice, but quietly went on. Lendy’s 
“ horsemen pursued them, each picking out his own man and firing at him, sometimes 
“ when not more than five or six yards away. The Matebele hid and tried to escape ; 
“ but they uttered no sound and showed no fight. Hot even a groan was heard. When 
“ a Matebele warrior found that he could not escape he turned towards his pursuer, fell 
“ on one knee, and held up his little shield in token of submission. But no quarter 
“ seems to have been given.” 

I think it is true that tho Hatives (they were not an impi, but a parcel of young Majakas 
accompanied by some Magholis) took no notice, in that they showed little or no 
resistance, and it is very natural to suppose that horsemen would get within close range 
of men on foot, and that they should firo on them when ordered to do so, but I have 
already stated that there was no wholesale slaughter at close quarters, as alleged, so far 

B 2 

3rr. Kcnnell.r, p. 22. 
p. 31. 

.. Jinlont. p.32. 
„ lis,;.nid.p.SS. 

pp.2i.5-?- 

Ifr.SSoVes.p.lS. 
„ Xnpicr, p. IS. 

I)r. Jameson, p. 19. 
Mr. Weir. p.20. 
„ Kennelly.p. 22. 
.. Meal. p. 21- 

Jlanjo'W. p. 23. 
31r. Gloar. p. 2-5. 

Chalk, p. 2S. 
„ 3lrDOl;.p.31. 
^ llaslard, p.53 

antic! hen. 

-\lso fee 3fr. IVnioiish* 
by’a evidence, p. 20.' 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 55



12 

as I have been able to ascertain from the evidence of 17 witnesses. The idea has 
been generally scouted, and the number of the killed was only nine, ten, or eleven. 

But the whole passage is a highly-coloured piece of composition, and reads and 
sounds as if the author were straining at effect. Mr. Willoughby has not marked it 

I'-®'- by inverted commas, but stated before me that the words used are as nearly as possible 
those of the writer. The pathetic description of the “ Matebele warrior kneeling on 
“ one knee and holding up his little shield in token of submission,” has certainly been 
very faithfully reproduced from memory. But I do not believe that the attitude 
described was ever adopted by a suppliant bTative, nor does it appear that such an 
attitude is that generally accepted among Zulus and Matabele as the posture of a man 

^l,'''rSI';nualr.p.2i. asking for quarter. Messrs. Jfapier and Colcnbrander know Zulu and Matebele 
customs as well as any white^man. So do Messrs. Moffat and Brabant. They agree in 
saying that a Native asking for quarter would lay down his arms aud hold up his'hands. 
To hold up a shield is, moreover, no token of submission—but might possibly be a 
sign of intended resistance. Even assuming the attitude to be typical of submis- 
sion, I have found no evidence whatever of any Matebele having adopted it on this 
occasion. 

It is, I think, to be regretted that Mr. Willoughby should have given currency to 
such a story, when he is not in a position to sub.stautiate it by facts or evidence beyond 
his quotation from the letter of a correspondent whoso name ho is not permitted to 
divulge. 

Bi conclusion, I have the honour to submit to your Excellency the following 
conclusions at which I have arrived on the principal points calling for inquiry:— 

1. That the Matebele did raid European farms as well as Mashona kraals and 
carried off the cattle of white men. 

2. That the Matebele committed wholesale horrors in the Yictoria district. This 
is not disputed. 

3. That at the indaha. Dr. Jameson gave them a fair ultimatum and that there are 
no grounds for saying that he called upon them to perform the impossible. 

4. That the instructions Dr. Jameson gave to Captain Lendy were not only justifiable 
but politic. 

5. That Dr. Jameson was misinformed when he reported officially that the Matebele 
fired first on the whites. 

3lo!Tat. I*. 37. 

3!r. Stokrs. ji. 13. 
_ XajiuT, j«. IS. 

Isr. Jamoon, ji. 11*. 
Jlr. Wclr, j>. 

„ K«mrfIy.P-22- 
_ ]i.3. 
_ Xial.p.S7. 

„ yJatirr.p.Sr. 

„ KumaiJall. p.3>>. 
^ lirmk. p.3l. 
„ Jk»!3nl.p.SS. 
„ WlUjushKy, p. 35. 

6. That the sergeant of the advance guard fired the first shot. 
7. That the Matebele practically offered no resistance. 
8. That in the pursuit of the Matebele there was no wholesale slaughter of natives 

nor deliberate shooting of men already shot, 
9. That the Matebele, when attacked, had only gone three miles in three hours, and 

were then caught in possession of cattle stolen from Europeans. 
10. That the story of the sick Induna being shot, without being absolutely and entirely 

untrue, is, at least, an embellishment of an immaterial fact. 
11. That the story of the Matebele ^varriors asking for, and being refused, quarter, is 

unsupported and highly improbable. 
I have, &c. 

His Excellency the High Commissioner, (>Signed) F. J. NEWTON. 

Cape Tow'll. 

P.S.—The enclosures to your Excellency’s Despatch of the 1st May last, with 
schedule, are herewith returned. It will be seen that four of the sub-enclosures 
are referred to in the Report and the Minutes of Evidence as Statements A., B., C., and 
D., and they have been marked accordingly. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 56



13 

O 

Enclosure 1. 

SCHEDULE AHD INDEX TO MINUTES OF EVIDENCE. 

Date. Name of Witness. Occupation. Puiic. 

Bnluwayo. 
Mav 21 

1} 

Jlay 22 

Jfay 23 
» 
?> 
J* 
» 

Mav 25 

Jfay 26 
Victoria, 

June 11 
June 12 

.Tunc 13 

}> 
Palapye. 

Juuc 2 

» 

June 30 

Herbert Lester Stokes - 
Henry Paulet 
Charles llobcrt Vigors - 
"Williain Hapier 
Lcander Starr .Tameson 
Percy Vipond Weir - 
Henry Llewellyn Lloyd 
Williain l*atrick Kcnnclly 
Harry Posselt - - - 
William Georgff Nc:d 
Johaun Wilham Coicnbrandcr - 
Manyow - 
Umgcng^vane - - - 
Kenneth Gloag - 

Edwin Amalric Slater 
Thomas Arthur Chalk - 

Peter Forrcstall 
Arthur Woodford Brook 
John Somerset Brabant 
John William Ekstecn - 
Bobert McCormick Stroyan - 
Alfred Drew - . - 
Makoombi - - - 

William Charles Willoughby - 
John Smith Moflat - 

JBy Affidavit before a Magislrritc in 
Cape Colony. 

William S. Bastard 

By A ffidavit before a Magistrate at 
Victoria, Masftonaland. 

Mansel Edge Wcalc - 

! 

General Jr:iii.*jger, .Mashonaland Agency 
Syndicate Man.agcr - 
^lining Coimiiissioncr 
itrerclmut - - - 
Administrator, Mashon.’d.'ind 
Merchant . . _ _ 
Hotel-keeper - - 
Contractor - - - 
Parmer - - - 
Pros[>ector - - - 
Native Agent, B.S.A.Co. - 
^fatabele Induna . _ - 
^latabclc Induua - - 
jkssistaut, Bechuanaland Trading 

iVssocmtion. 
Auctioneer and hotel-keeper - 
Sub-InsiMictor B.S.A.Co.’s I’olice 

Trooper B.S-A.Co.’s Police - 
Parmer _ - . 
Native Commissioner, Victoria 
Trooper B-S-A.Co.'s Police - 
Sergeant B-S-A-Co.’s Police 
Clejrk to B3L Victoria 
jMashena Chief - - 

3Iissionary - - - - 
Assistant Commissioner. Bechuanaland 

Protectorate. 

Fanner 

Emploj'c, Victoria District Gobi 
Mining Agency. 

f 

13 
15 
16 
l.S 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
21 
21 
25 
26 
26 

27 
28 

30 
31 
32 
31 
3.5 
3.5 
36 

36 
37 

38 

38 

Enclosure 2. 

BULUWAYO. 

EIEST DAT. 

Monday, 21st May 1894. 

First Witness.—HERBEBT LESTER STOKES, Grencral Manager, Maslionalancl Agency. 

Was at Victoria in July last. .A-drived at ray camp, Fernspruit near Lundy Fiver, on 
the lOth July. Began to hear rumours of Matabelo impis round Victoria raiding and 
marching. Great alarm amongst whites. Messages exchanged in camps, great 
apprehension; Dr. Jameson arrived on the 14th, patrols sent out on 11th. On that 
night the huts of our servants near the stables were fired. Went into Victoria Fort 
on the 14th. Was in the fort Avhile the indaba was held at the gate. Was there as 
volunteer on duty. Tho natives left the indaba on foot. The Oliief’s party was 18 or 
20. A larger party in the background. Heard nothing of what was snid. About 
2 hours and 40 minutes after we left. Wo went to lunch in tho town and returned 
to fort for the horses. The officers then had lunch, and we started. That is my 
impression of the time that elapsed. We started in half sections cantering about 100 
yards and then slowly. That part of tho country was new to mo. I should think we 

B 3 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 57



v" Vir , 

X4i 

went about 5 or 6 miles. "We spied some Matabele, four or five of tbom. Aftemvards 
I saw about 50. The}’’ “were gazing at us apparently, and then proceeding across 
our line from left to right. I was some way back, but my impression was that they were 
not going in the direction of the boundary. It was said that a shot was fired by the 
Matabele on the left of our flank. I cannot state that of my own knowledge. It was 
po.ssible that a shot could be fired without my knowing it. The distance from the 
Matabele was about 500 yards. The ground was open with kopjes around. In about 
five minutes we formed into line. We advanced in open order without much forma- 
tion, at a canter. When we began rushing forward amidst some excitement and 
he.sitation, I heard Captain Lendy give the order to fire. The skirmish became a chase. 
The Matabeles fled in a panic. We got into more open ground and came up with them 
scattered about. The pursuit lasted an hour, not firing all the time. I saw nothing 
of the Matabele carrying a sick Induna. 

(Mr. Willoughby $ statement read.)—The firing was too hot for the Matabele to show 
fight. I got separated. I was pursuing a man who shook his spear at someone. I 
shot at him. I am positive 1 saw nr- quarter asked for in the manner described by 
hlr. Willoughby's correspondent [extract read). bTo quarter was given as none was 
asked as far as my knowledge goes. 

Personally I should give a man a wide berth who asked for quarter, as I should bo 
afmid of treachery. 

The result of the patrol gave gratification and general satisfaction to everyone in the 
neighbourhood. IS^ot a dissentient voice on the subject was heard at the time. It 
never occurred to me that I had been engaged in an action which would be the subject 
of anything but favourable remark. 

By Mr. Oaldicott.—1 consider now I acted perfectly justifiably, and would do 
the same to-morrow. I arrived in Salisbury in July 1891, and have been here 
practically ever since. 

There were seven white men in my camp at Pern Spruit. The surrounding mining 
camps (about four) contained each about two white men. They were within about 
2 miles radius of our camp. I understood there -were three or fuur thousand Matabele 
raiding in the neighbourhood. On the night of the 11th I abandoned my camp on 
information fi’om private patrol. 

When the shot was fired I was about the seventh or eighth file from the rear. There 
might have been some resistance by the Matabele without my being aware of it. The 
extent of our front covered about a mile when we were in chase. There were kopjes 
in front and around, and it is difiicult to say ; at times there were only about three other 
white men in sight. Quarter might have been asked for and given without my 
knowing it. The hottest firing was away from me, as I got separated. I saw two 
Matabele killed. 

[Statement A. read.)—The statement is slack and loose. The observation about 
four or five bullets in each man is, in my opinion, ridiculous. About having to clear 
across the border in an hour was not the impression I received. My impression was 
they were given an hour’s start to make a bona fide start to retreat in the direction of 
their own country. That we were to follow them in an hour, and if that bona fide 
sfibrt were not being made we should meet them under difierent circumstances. In 
offering no other remark T do not accept the statement read as a correct one. 

[Extract from Statement J3. as to indaba and pursuit by patrol read.)—That is the 
first I heard about cattle being given up as well as retreat being insisted on. The 
point as tu the border line is also incorrect. The estimate of the number killed is 
exaggerated. By offering no further remark I do not accept the rest of the statement 
as substantially correct. 

[UJxtraet marlccd 11 from Statemmt D. read.)—I have nothing further to add to the 
points raised there on which I have already given evidence, except that I do not. believe 
we over rode them down so as to get within five or six yards. 

(Signed) H. L. STOKES. 

f 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 58



15 

Second Witness.—^Loiin HENRY PAULET, Syndicate Manager. 
Was at Victoria July last; arrived there Saturday, 15th July. Was in command of 

Victoria Kangers, and had selection of men for patrol, taking orders from Captain 
Loiidy. I know of two men who lost cattle by raiding on the impi. All work was 
suspended in the neighbourhood. Everyone was in camp. Several kraals of the 
Mashonas had been burned, to my knowledge, within sight of Victoria. Fires wore 
constantly seen at night. I was present at the indaba on I'ues lay, 18th. The doctor 
took a high hand. Asked natives why they had interfered with the whites. Manyow 
said they had not interfered. Doctor said they had taken cattle and killed servants, 
and were not obeying the King’s commands. Manyow asked doctor if he would 
hear what the man who brought the last letter from the King had to say. 
This man was TJmgandan. The letter was to Captain Lendy. Dr. Jameson re- 
fused to talk with anyone but Manyow. Omgandan was most insolent, constantly 
interrupting the indaba. The doctor then asked Manyow if he had lost control 
over his young men. Manyow* admitted that he had. The doctor then said, 
“You, i^lanyow, and the people who obey the King’s commands, go back over the 
“ border. I give you an hour to go. Leave me your young men, and I w'ill deal 
“ with them.” Manyow then asked where border was. I took the message to the 
doctor, who replied, “ Tell him he knows.” Tiie Indunas then rose to go. TJmgandan 
made some remark in a loud voice, and Sergeant Brabant said to me, “ They mean 
fighting.’’ X asked him what TJmgandan had said, and he translated TJmgandan’s 
speech as being,—that they would sooner be driven than go back to the King of their 
own accord. The indaba took place somewhere betw'een 12 and half past. I then 
received orders from Captain Lendy to select as many men as I could find good hoi-ses 
for, to parade at 2 o’clock for mounted patrol. The parade fell in at 2, and it was 
some time after this before Captain Lendy took over the command of the parade. 
When Dr. Jameson gave the order to Mau}'ow' I did not conceive that he meant him 
to cross the border in an hour, because it was an impossibility. We knew they were 
investing Magomole’s, a Mashuna kraal, about 7 miles distant fi’om Victoria. It was 
merely to stop this and to (1 make them) leave off the burning of the kraals. I 
understood the doctor s orders were in consequence of a letter wTitten by Lobengula 
the year before in reply to a complaint that his people had been raiding the country. 
I heard nothing about their being given a certain time to clear off the commonage. I 
am perfectly certain the expression was not used. If it had been used I should have 
heard it. 

(Mr. Willouglibys Letter, Extract read.)—The statement by Mr. Willoughby’s 
correspondent that Dr. Jameson ordered the Indunas across the frontier (30 miles 
away) w'ithin two hoyrs is incon’ect. Ko mention was made of two hours. It was, 
moreover, at least an hour and 40 minutes before Captain Lendy rode out. It might 
have been more. It could not have been less. Manyow^ was mounted, and from 
information from the Mashunas there is no doubt he left straight for the invested 
kraal, and broke up his camp at once. They must have left very speedily, as lots 
of grain and meat were left behind. Manyow and TJmgandan were certainly not 
in accord at the indaba. TJmgandan was oue of the men killed. He was a young 
Induna. He wa.s the only one insolent, the others were simply sullen. He was insolent 
by interruption, gesticulating, and trying to make himself heard. Manyow seemed 
somewhat afraid of him. 

The order was merely given by Captain Lendy for mountod patrol to fall in at 2. 
Each man had bandolier of 50 rounds usual, just like every man in the fort. I do 
not know what Captain Lendy’s iustruclions or intentions were. I received instimctions 
from him to keep all the men at their posts in the fort until he returned. 

By Mr. Oaldicott.—I could not say how many kraals there Avere burnodj they were 
burning all over the place. I only visited two myself. At one there were five bodies, 
all Avith their right hands cut off. The labour and mining business was entirely 
demoralised by the advent of the impi and the raiding. The boys all deserted the 
mines. The Mashuna refugees asked for protection from the Avhite men. Captain 
Lendy told mo before the arrival of the doctor all that had taken place, viz., that 
the Matabelo had asked him to give up the Mashuna refugees, and that they 
said they AA’:ould not kill them in the township, but they must die as they had 
stolen the King’s cattle. The refugees Avore men, Avomen, and children. I SJ^AV 
about 15 to 20 from Bern’s kraal. Ho offered to the Indunas to hold trial as magis- 
trate, ,as to whether the Mashunas had stolon the King’s cattle. If they (the Matabole) 

B 4 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 59



16 

1 

would make a ckargo against tliem, and if guilty, lie would punish them, hut not surrender 
them without trial. The oflPor was refused, and the Indunas referred to previous case 
when prisoners in Buluwayo had been given up to white men. The kraals raided were 
those from which the native labour of the district was supplied. The Matabele had 
raided the Yictoria District the year previous, destroying grain, &c. A prospector 
named Jackson had two boys killed on the occasion of this last raid. They also 
threatened him. 

The sending out of the patrol and the acts of that patrol were, in my opinion, 
necessary and justifiable, hot only for the protection of the Mashunas, but to restore 
confidence in the country. In my opinion any less stringent measures would have been 
regarded by the natives as a sign of weakness and source of danger to the whole 
community. 

I nave never heard anything from anyone that the acts of the patrol and the officer 
commanding it were not justifiable or for the public benefit. 

(Signed) HENRY PAULET. 

Third Witness.—CHARLES HOBERT YIGERS, Mining Commissioner, Buluwayo. 

In July last was Mining Commissioner and Acting Civil Commissioner, Yictoria 
District. Was there the whole month of July when Matabele first appeared. On 
Sunday, the 9th Jul}*, I was riding with Weir, turned towards Matabele kraals, 3 
miles from Yictoria. When we got close to them wo met a mob of Mashunas, men 
principally, some women and children. They told us that the Matabele were close at 
hand, and advised us to ride into the camp. We did not think much about it, and rode 
on. AVhen we got up to the kraals we saw' the whole of the granite kopjes covered 
with armed Kaffirs, and we also saw on looking right and left across the flat large 
numbers of Kaffirs with shields and guns already between ns and the town. YTe rode up 
to a large party of them, in charge of an Induna, and asked them what they were doing. 
He said they were hunting Mashunas to kill them for stealing the King’s cattle. 
He also told us that there was a letter from the King with the main body. We rode 
hack, and when we had got as far as the hospital, Brabant, who was a patient, shouted 
out of the window that there was a very large body coming down the road from the 
direction of Magomole’s kraal. He told me to hunt them hack. I looked up the road 
and saw probably about 200. I rode up to them and told them they must not come 
into the camp. They w'ere within the township, within 100 yards of the hospital. 
They were armed, they were cheeky, and shouted out insulting things, but came no 
further in that direction, but went down towards the TJmshagashe River and so round 
the town. Prom there I rode by the church, when I saw another large mob. I rode up 
to them and got off my horse and went up to a young majaka, who had a rifle. I 
snatched it out of his hand, asking him where he got it from. He said the King had 
given it to him. I then told them that if they came any further they would be fired on. 
This party, I was told afterwards by Mr. %lvester, took his houseboy dowm into the 
hush and stabbed him. A .skeleton I saw myself I}-ing at the spot he indicated a week or 
ten days afterwards. Captain Lendy with police and mounted inhabitants in the mean- 
time were hunting small parties of the Matabeles round about the town, rescuing w'hitc 
men’s cattle that were being driven off. The country at that time was completely 
covered by large parties of Matabele in pursuit of the Makalakas who had taken refuge 
in the hills. This state of things continued till Dr. Jameson’s arrival. The inhabi- 
tants proceeded to fortify the camp. »Surroundiug miners and fanners came in. The 
public buildings and police yard were placed in a state of defence. 

On the 14th Captain Lendy (then R.M.) started away with a patrol to try and see 
the Induna in charge of the impis, and to see if he could not get the letter that was 
addressed to him from Lobengula, of which I had been told on the Sunday, and 
w'hich liad not yet been delivered. After ho had gone, about 11 o’clock in the day, 
the Induna Manyow, with about 12 more, came to the outskirts of the town, bringing 
with them the boy wdio had the letter. They came with me to my room, and I spoke 
to them and kept thein waiting till 4 o’clock, when Ijcudy returned. Wo then asked 
them why they bad not delivered the letter sooner, but had left it till all the damage 
was done. They said because the boy with the letter had got a thorn in his foot. 
They said tliat all they vranted now was that the King’s Mashunas should bo given 
up to them, and they would.go away and not trouble us any more. Manyow added, 
“ I will not kill them in your town and dirty tho place, but I will take them into 

i“ tho hush lower down and then have them killed,” We discussed the matter, and 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 60



17 

agreed that it was utterly impossible to give them up, and therefore refused to comply. 
Manyow and the rest then loft. During the conversation Lendy said, “ If you have 
“ any charge to make against these people I will hear it as a magistrate, and if I 
“ find your charges correct I will hand them over to you to be dealt with, but you 
“ must point out to me the men you charge. I will not give up the women and 
“ children, as they could not have committed any crimes.” Manyow then said, “ All 
“ these Mashunas are the King’s, and he wishes to punish them. "When you wanted 
“ Kaffirs who had committed crimes, the King at once handed those men over to you. 
“ Why should not you do the same for the King ? ” Manyow was told the Mashunas 
would not be given up to him, and he left the place and was very angry. Kothing 
more happened tiU the doctor arrived on the 17th, when messages were sent out 
to Manyow, who was round Magomoli’s kraal. Manyow and the rest of the Indiinas 
came in and an indaba was held at the gate of the police yard. The doctor said, 
“ What do you mean by coming here and doing what you have dene ? ” Manyow 
said. “ I was sent by the King to punish the Mashunas for stealing the King’s cattle.” 
The doctor then said, “ You had no right to come over the border. You know where 
“ the border is.” Manyow replied he did not know of any border. The doctor said 
he was not speaking the truth. After some conversation, in T,'hich several of the 
Kaffirs were very insulting, especially Dmgandan, the doctor said to Manyow, “ Is 
“ it not true that you have no control over your young men?” Man^-^ow said, 
“ Tes.” The doctor said, “ Very well, you and the older men may go, and I will 
“ deal with your young men if they do not go.” He added, “ How you start for the 
“ border. I give you an hour and a half {indicating hy the sun mtk Ms hand) to do so. 
“ If vou have net started within that time I shall send my young men who will 
“ make you do so.” The indaba then ended, and the doctor went into the police 
yard. The indaba took place, I should say. about 1.30, and the patrol left, I should 
say, about 3.30, but I did not take particular notice of the time. It got back about 
dusk. I did not think that Manyow had any intention of retiring; I think they 
meant to stop until fuiiher order.s from the King, which would have meant a further 
stay on their part of about at least 12 days. When the doctor gave the order for 
Manvow and his people to leave it did not give me the idea that he meant him to 
cross the border within that time. I Imew it was an impossibility. It is from 27 to 
30 miles. It was never said, to my knowledge, that Dr. .Tameson had given an order 
such as that, which everyone knew v.^as an impossibility. 

By Mr. GaUicotL—l have been 10 years in South Africa, and in Mashonaland 
three )'6ars since the opening of the country. I was head of the district as Civil 
Commissioner. I knew' that the advent of the Matabele stopped all mining enterprise 
and labour in the district. I knew it as Mining Commissioner. The continual raids 
so frightened the mining labourers that they would not stop. The inhabitants were 
very uneasy, and most of them came into the town. Nearly all of them; some 
fortified themselves by the mines. , .v ,, 

When the patrol returned Captain, then Sergeant, Fitzgerald (now dead) told me 
that the firat shot fired was by a Matabele in the rocks by Mahoombi’s k'raal, when 
they first came up to them, and the bullet struck in between him and the man whow'as 
riding with him. That I have always understood to have been the first shot fired on 
either side. 

The white population of Victoria at that time was about 400 men and probably 90 
women and children, all told. The total number of the impi, from native sources, I 
gather to have been from 5,000 to 7,000 men. 

Mr. Vigors (continued).—^There was a largo Mashuna population in the district. The 
number of huts burned during the raid was about from 150 to 200, and a correspond- 
ing number of granaries. 1 saw bodies of murdered Mashunas. One at Brooks’s 
farm, the one in the hush I have mentioned, and at the old camp, the Shangaan pulled 
off the waggon and assegaied, hut the grass was long. I heard of many more. 

By Mr. sVewlon.—^In general talk on the pursuit by the patrol I never heard the 
question of quarter being asked or given mentioned. 

lam auito clear on the point that the doctor’s orders to Manyow were neither 
intended to bo or construed as an ultimatum impossible of performance. 

(Signed) CHARLES B. VIGEIIS. 

u 83LGO. c 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 61



18 

SBGOm DAY. 

22nd May 1894. 

Fourfeli Witness.—'WILLIAM ifAPIER, Mercliant. 

Was in Yictoria in July 1893, mercliant and senior captain in Major Wilson’s 
yictoria column. Tlie first raid in \rliicli I was concerned was that at Oiiibi’s, and 
there had been several before the arrival of the impi on 9th July. In all these the 
Matabeles have come down and raided all the Makalaka Stadts on the line of niarch, 
takino- women and children and cattle, and destroying kraals, and taking, buraing, or 
Bcattwino- grain. When I went down to Chibi’s at the doctors request, as I kneAV the 
lauo^uao-^ I took Lord H. Paulet -with me. We were sent because Mashunas cora- 
planief that the Matabeles were robbing and destroying, as stated above. We followed 
the impi for 4 or 5 miles, and found most of them in their scherms, the other 
side of Zimbabye. I saw one of the Indiiiias, Mufula, in charge; the other Indunas 
iiad gone ahead. I asked why they wei*e raiding there. They said they were collecting 
taxes. I asked why they took women and children from the kraals. They said they 
had not; that was untrue. I heard aftenvards they had liberated some on payment of 
cattle. They still had a girl there. I asked whj- they had crossed the border without 
the Elino-’s leave. They said they had the King’s leave, the border being the hills this 
side the Shaske. I told them what the doctor had said to me about killing men and 
takino-women and children, andinformed them this would be represented to Lobengula. 
We then returned and reported the matter to Dr. Jame.son. All the Mashunas were 
on the rocks, none on their own grounds, being in fear of the Matabeles. 

At the time of the Yictoria raid I was in Sahsbury, and came down with, the doctor. 
The day we anived there a mes.sage was sent to the Indunas, 15 miles outside Yictoria. 
We had outspanned our cart, and saw a rush of Mashimas to the kopjes. They had 

.p^e^^ousl3' been talking to us. Thej- shouted that the Matabeles were comii^g. The 
Mashunas saw the Matabeles coming on 1|- miles off, and took refuge in. the rocks. 
They were in hopes that the Matabeles would not attack them, as they had left one of 
their prettiest girls on the rocks with a calabash of food. The Matabeles. passed, on 
•without attacking the kraak and never noticed the girl, jfearer Yictoria, 5. or '6 
miles off, we saw lines of Matabeles carrying grain away from burning kraals. On 
reaching Yictoria the chief Induna, Manyow, was sent for. The-next day I interpreted 
for the doctor at the indaba. The account given by Manyow to-day was really what 
actually happened. At the end of the indaba the doctor distinctly told them, “ I giye 
“ you an hour to prepare.” Manyow had said he could not control his young men. 
The doctor said, “ Then leave them for me to deal with; you go along with the old 

men.’* The impression 1 got was, they had an hour to make their preparations to 
clear. It could never have occurred to anyone that they were meant^to be over the 
border in an hour. That is about 25 miles off, and io -n-ould have been an impossibility. 
The indaba took place from about midday to shortly after 1, after which we hurried 
down to lunch. I was then lieutenant in the Yictoria Kangers. The orders given 
were to saddle up after lunch and follow slowly on, to see if the Matabeles had moved. 
"We fell in about three, and we probably left about half-past. Captain Lendy in 
command. We -walked out iu the direction of the kopje, the boundary of the tewn 
commonage, 3 miles from the town. We went at a -\valk the whole way till we 
came' to the Matabeles at about 4 o’clock. 1 was then riding on the left flank. 
Captain Lendy was riding to the right of me, about a length ahead, a little nearer than 
h the eentre of the troop. When we got into the nek the Matabeles were seen running 

nbout among the rocks, and .someone of die four men who were riding in. front sbp.ated 
out, “They are firing at us.” I heard, the shot. It seemed to come from f he left front. 
Fitzgerald was one of the four. We asked Cautaih Lendy “What arc* w© to do?” 
When he felt satisfied that we had been fired upon, he told us to extend in skirmishing 
order and fire. We extended at a gallop and commenced firing. We went on firing 
and galloping for fully a mile, wheii Lendy sounded the retire. It could not have 
lasted more than a quarter of ah hour or twenty minutes. , . 

By this time the Matabeles were retiring in all directions. The men we met were 
all yo.uiig men., After the retire we rode straight array to the fort, and got back about 
sundown. We saw a few cattle with them, to our left front some distance away. 
They were certainly in possession of the cattle. We recovered a few of Dunlop’s cattle, 
and brought them back with us. I remember them well, eight or nine red oxen. I 
was at the head of the line, about the centre, The line was very much extended. We 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 62



c / 
19- 

got to about {in average, of 100 or 150 yards of them. Ifc was certainly not like 
“ shooting tiiem down like bucks.” It is hard to estimate their numbers. They were 
all over the place. I should think more than 250 or 300. 

{JSxtract from ilfr. Willoughbi/s correspondent read.)—1 should not say th{it was a 
correct statement of what took place. It is not reasonably probable. It is not true 
they took no notice. After they fired we fired. They then began to clear. They 
were all separated, and in disorder. It is not true that the Matabeies were on occasions 
not niore than 5 or 6 yards away. Our men were perfectly under control, and were 
under orders to dismount and fire, which they did. "When a Matabele is showing 
submission he does not hold up his shield. He would drop his shield and hold up 
his hands, or he would fall on both knees and throw up his hands. I never saw a 
Matabele ask for quarter that day. They do ask for quarter sometimes, but hot in 
the way described here. Holding up a shield is not submission. Most of the men 
against us had guns. Ho quarter was given as none was asked. There was no 
running in amongst the Matabeies. It would have been risky to do so. It is haid to 
sa}' how many were killed. 

I had no doubt about it at the time that the shot was fired at us from the Matabeies 
first. I have no reason to doubt it now, 

I saw nothing of a sick Induna being carried. I do not believe there was a man 
being carried. 

By Mr. Galdicott.—At the indaba the doctor, when Manyow claimed some refugees, 
said that white men would not give up Mashuna women and children to be slaughtered 
when once they had claimed protection; but if they had done wrong they w'ould be 
tiled before the magistrate, and if found guilty punished, Manj-ow objected to that, 
and said they wanted to take them away unconditionally. 

1 know several instances of European faims having been raided. The doctor sent 
me on a patrol round the district after the affair of the ISth to see if the Matabeies had 
really crossed the border: I took 10 mounted men. We saw no Mjitabeles; they had 
gone across the border. I crossed the border myself to.make certain. As we saw 
none we could not have killed any. The last sentence of Statement A. is utterly 
untrue. There was no other piatrol sent out except mine. That sentence must refer 
to my patrol. We had no “ brush,” and we killed no one. In passing our own larjm 
I found the place had been looted of everything—cattle, goods, furniture, grain, &c. 
Arnold’s farm was burnt; Clarke’s and Eksteen’s looted of a lot of things. Gloag’s 
w*as also looted. I believe .Parker’s too. I saw three dead bodies (Mashunas) in one 
place, several in all, all close to the town. The Makalakas sufiered greatly. The 
Matabeies surrounded several kraals, and stopped the way to the wells. One girl gave 
herself up, sbe could not stand the thirst. They took ber away as a slave. At another 
kraal TOJiead of cattle died from thirst. , 

At the indaba tbe Matabele Indunas were insolent and overbearing in manner torthe. 
doctor. Hmgandan was conspicuous in that respect. I bad repeatedly to check them 
at doctor’s request. Tlmgandan, on going away, said to the other Indunas “ Let us 
drive them.” Brabant heard this and drew my attention to it. It certainly applied 
to us. ■ He could not have meant it to apply to the Mashunas. I gathered from that 
that they meant fighting. He said it out loud. 

(Signed) W. HJLPIER. . 

Pifth Witness.:—^LEANDJER STARR JAMESOX, Administi’ator of Mashonaland. 
I arrived in Yictoria on Monday, 17th July—afternoon. Eor the last few miles 

driving into Yictoria I saw Mashuna kraals burning on both sides. Matabeies with 
shieldl and assegais crossing the road in front of mules, loaded up with-plundeb. 1 
shut outnt'Oiice poli6e-from Yictoria to request the Induna in chiifge of the Matobeles 
to come and interview me the next morning. Manyow with seveinl of th^6‘"indunas 
affived the next-day—the iSth. What occurred has been described fairly correctly by 
Manyow-this morning.- I told Manyow wbat the Matabeies had been doing ohthq 
eoramonage of Yictoria. Told him this-could not continue. That theMashund WOm'bfi 
and- children in the fort ^ivould not be given up. That I was in communication with 
the Kino-, and that he and his people must cross the border at once. He stated his 
people would not obey him. I told him to take those who would obey him with him, 
and leave, me to deal with tho. rest, and I pointed at the guns, and the insn-round'them 
on -tho: ;^yall. I then finished the, interview, telling Manyow that I would only givo-bim 
aishorliHnio, to §tart,,going, this- being interpreted by Mr. Hapier,. with reforenco. to 
the..,pQ5itioj} -,qf the sun. And..that if I found they wor^ not-going I should! drivevthem 

   0 2 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

I 

Page 63



20 

across the border. TJmganclan, the Induna of Euxa kraal, sitting next to Manyow, 
jumped up and said Then we will he driven.” 

Manyow and his followers then left. The whole indaha lasted about 20 minutes, 
somewhere about midday. I then told Captain Lendy to get 50 mounted men, or as 
many up to that number as horses were fit for, and to have them saddled up in about 
a couple of hours for patrol duty. I then went to lunch, and the men also. "When 
Captain Lendy had paraded his men about two hours afterwards, I ga\e him orders 
as follows; “ You have heard what I have told the Matabele ; I want you to carry this 
“ out. T do not want them to think it is merel}'^ a threat. They have had a week of 
“ threats already, with very bad results. Ride out in the direction they have gone 
“ towards Magomoli’s kraal. If you find they are not moving off, drive them as you 
“ heard me tell Manyow I would, and if they resist and attack you shoot them.” 

Captain Lendy returned with his patrol of 35 men at sundown and reported to me, 
then and there, that on the edge of the commonage he had come across about 300 of 
the Matabele, with TJingandan amongst them, that they were not moving away, but 
were remaining on the commonage; that Sergeant Fitzgeiuld had been fired upon by 
them, but had not been hit; that then he ordered his men to charge and then fire; that 
about 30 natives were killed; and that he had then ordered the retire, as it was getting 
towards sundown. I asked him if ho was sure about his numbers 300 and 30 
respectively. Ke said “ No,” but somewhere about that number, he should think. 
That night I had a long conversation by telegraph with the High Commissioner and 
Mr. Rhodes. Described everything which had occurred, and discussed future pro- 
ceedings. 

(Extract Statement A., Dr. Jameson, . . . , 30 miles’\)—^Thatis absolutely false. 
Whatever time was stated was expressed by movements of the sun, through Mr. Napier, 
the interpreter. And Manyow distinctly understood that they were to start going 
within that time, showing their intention to obey my order. Any such order, apart 
from the truth of the story, would have been ridiculous. This statement answers 
itself as being impossible, and therefore untrue. I entirely repudiate the charge that 
I ordered them to do what I knew to be impo.ssibie. That reply applies also to Mr. 
Willoughby’s observation on the point. The account I have given of my orders to 
Captain Lendy I cannot guarantee as verbatim, but they are probably' very nearly so, 
as they were given verbally, as I am now giving my evidence. 

When Captain Lendy made his report on the doings of the patrol I was quite 
satisfied, and told him he had done well. I considered that the fact of his finding them 
where they were, making no attempt to move, even if the shot had not been fired, was 
quite enough to justify him in charging on them. From Manyow’s statement, and the 
attitude and words of Hmgandan at the close of the interview, I thought it probable 
that they would attempt resistance; therefore I made the party as strong as the horses 
at my disposal would provide for. 

The first I ever heard of the incident of the sick Induna, who was being carried 
having been shot, was on reading this yesterday here in Mr. Willoughby’s letter. 

Nor had I ever heard of the fact of any Matabele having asked for quarter, and its 
being refused. I do not know myself what happened there at Yictoria, but in the 
subsequent engagements with the Matabele I do not know of any instance of asking 
for qiiarter ; perhaps this is that no Matabele, so far as I know, was ever shot at, unless 
resisting to the danger of the white men attacking him. 

(Extractfroni Willougliby s letter re quarter: “ The Matahele—have heen given ” is read.) 
—^i^Iy comment on that is, that it is nonsense. The attitude would not be familiar to 
a trooper as one indicating submission. 

I have no recollections of any statement having been made to me on this matter by 
Captain Lendy or anyone else since dead. Beyond the report made to me by Captain 
Lendy, to which I have alluded, the substance of which I immediately wired to the 
High Commissioner and Mi*. Rhodes the same evening. 

By Mo\ Caldicott.—I was satisfied then and still am that the action of Captain 
Lendy under my instructions was absolutely necessary for the safety of the community, 
and that the instructions were properly carried out. 

(Signed) L. S. JAMESON. 

Sixth Witness.—^PERCY YIPOND WEIR, Merchant at Buluwayo and Yictoria. 
Was at Yictoria last July at the time of the arrival of the Matabele. Was with Mr< 

Vigors when he first met them. We were going to some farms westward of Yictoria 
when wo met Mashunas who said the Matabeles were chasing them. We went on and 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 64



21 

mefe tlie Matabeles and asked them what they meant. They said they were after the 
Mashunas. We told them to come into camp with us, to which they were not inclined. 
We tried to take two prisoners, but they slipped away. I rode back to the fort, and 
told the people there the Matabeles were rushing in. Ten minutes afterwards they 
were right inside the town. That was on Sunday, the 9th July. The following day 
Captain Lendy and 15 of us went out to interview the Chief Induna, who we found 
had come into Victoria. On our way there we found natives stabbed along the road, 
some of them our own boys. The Matabele were very cheeky; they were not violent, 
simply threatening. At all the Mashuna kraals the inhabitants had taken refuge in 
the rocks. The kraals were burning. The burning went on the whole time that week, until 
the arrival of Dr. Jameson. I was not at the indaba. I was inside the fort. I was on duty 
as burgher. I only know from hearsay what occurred then. Everybody who had a horse 
was ready. We fell in after lunch, and rode out about 2.30., but I did not take 
particular notice of the time. I was a sergeant and riding near the rear. We rode at 
a walk about 3 to 4 miles. Captain Lendy sent out flanking parties when AVO 

were about 2 miles out. I first heard that the Matabele were shooting on the left. 
I did not hear any shooting myself. We received the order to extend and advance at 
a gallop- The line spread out a great deal, and the country was broken, and we were 
going over rice fields. I Avas at the right centre of the line. I first saw them Avhen I 
was galloping, but when they were first seen I was behind. When I saw them they 
were dodging among stones and bushes about 400 or 500 yards away; when the 
fire became too hot they retreated. I did not see any Matabele firing. Some of 
them appeared to be trying to rally the others. At the time I got up most of them 
were well on the run. I was near TTmgandan when he was shot; I suppose about 
60 yards off. He was identified by the feathers on his head. Captain Lendy came 
up soon after, and retreat was sounded. We had gone about a mile and then we went 
round some Mashuna kraals ; one party Avas sent off under Hapier. We got back just 
about sundoAvn; some men got nearer to the Matabele than I did. Coming back we 
saw some cattle which had been in possession of the Matabele- They were white men s 
cattle; I saw nothing of a sick Induna being carried. I saAV no Matabele in an 
attitude suggesting he was asking for quarter. I never saw anyone so near as 5 or 
6 yards. I never got a shot less than 200 yards. 

[Bxtract from Willoughbys letter, re quarter: The Maiahele—been given'’read.)— 
I saw nothing like that. That is not a sign of submission. I should not haA'e 
understood it as such. As long as a Matabele has his shield it is a sign he is 
guarding himself. 

{Statement A.—“ Captain Lendy—bullets in him,” read.)—There is no doubt they ran 
when we began to gallop, as they are unused to horses; they got on the run,” and we 
kept them on the run. I saAV no case of point-blank shooting. It is possible some may 
have had more than one bullet. 

I cannot state anything as to who fired the first shot, except that I heard the aeAVS 

come up the line that the left flank had been shot at. 
By Mr. Oaldicott.—I have been 14 years in South Africa, and about three years in 

Mashonaland. I consider that if decided steps had not been taken the white people 
Avould have had to leave the country. The action on that day Avas necessary. Until 
then we had to live on the defensive- After that we could go out to our farms and 
keep boys there. The Matabele had looted our stock, and destroyed Avhat they could 
not carry away. As it is, there are two of my herd-boys missing noAV, who have never 
been seen since. The Matabeles looted both our cattle posts. 

(Signed) Psiicv V. WEIR. 

THIHD DAY. 

Seventh Witness.—HENRY LLEWELLYN LLOYD, Hotel-keeper. 

Was at Victoria last July, also there as hotel-keeper. Was corporal in the Victoria 
Bangers. I was a sufferer from the raids. My farm is west of Victoria, on the com- 
monage. On the 9th the boys on my farm Avith my stock told me they had brought me 
ray cattle; they were running off towards Zimbabye, they would not remain at Victoria. 
They left my cattle with me in Victoria. I found they had only brought on a part of 
the cattle. The rest Avere still outside with the oxen I had been Avorking. That A\ms 

0 3 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 65



22 

"before sunrise. I -went out and reported to Sergeant Fitzgera-ld tliat the Matal)ele were 
there, and I was going out to get my cattle in. I went out and could not And cattle 
or herd. I lost them, and have never seen them since. Tliere were seven. I "believe 
the herd was killed. I saw two dead "Mashunas recently Idlled hy the Matabele. I was 
in the fort at the time of the indaha and could not hear what was said. It was some- 
time after breakfast. I was told to be ready for a mounted patrol. "We fell in about 
3, and left half an hour afterwards. "Wo went out at a walk. I was on the right 
flanking party, quite parallel with the column. We had gone about 6 miles. The 
bugles sounded us to fall into the main party. We did so, and then marched along 
as before. Immediately afterwards I heard firing. The advance guard was firing. 
Kenuelly was one of the advance. We all raced forward and commenced firing our- 
selves, on the word being given by Captain Lendy to fire. We pursued them about a 
mile. When I first saw them some were running away to the kopjes. On . my right, 
after having had a shot at one or two of them, I saw one of them firing at Sergeant 
Eitzgerald in the kopje. Those in the hills certainly showed resistance. The man who 
fired atMtzgerald was shot, probably, before he pulled the trigger, but he did fire. I 
got within 10 yards of a Matabele in the open. I was running him down. He was 
shot by another man. Most of the men got right up to the Matabele. 

When called in by the bugle I took my place in the middle of the column. I cannot 
say with any certainty who fired the first shot. I should say that the statement that 
“ they had not fired or attempted resistance when the police opened fire upon them ” is 
not an accurate statement. 

(Bead: “J do not sitjpjpose—hillets in Mm”)—That is nonsense. One man may 
have got more than one bullet in him. I saw nothing resembling any shooting at men 
already dead or wounded. 

(Bead Willouglihy's letter: “ Tlie Maidbele Md—quarter given”')^!. saw no case 
of that kind, nor heard of such. 

I think the idea of the Matabele was to draw us in to the main body. Their retreat 
was intended to draw us on into a nest. 

I know that country very well, and knew where the Matabele’s main body was, as 
I had been trying to get my cattle back from them. 

(Signed) H. L. LLOYD. 

Eighth Witness.—^WILLTA^I P.\TRICK KESNELLY*. Contractor. 

Was at Yictoria last July. Contractor there. Was sergeant in Victoria Hangers 
at outbreak of hostilities. Was also troop-sergeant-major in Iho Bechuanaland Border 
Police; tillApnl last was in C troop. Was on duty in the fort at the time'ofiihe 
indaba. It was over about noon. I got orders to warn men to get saddled up, and to 
start away two hours after. There were 35 men warned, and others squeezed in. We 
left about 2. We rode out slowly for half the way. I was in charge of the advance 
guard. There were four of us—Cloag, B. V. Campbell, Bezindenhout, and myself. 
We were 600 or 700 yards ahead of the main column. After riding about 4 miles 
I came on what I took to be the Matabele rear-guard. They were making for a point 
due north from Victoria. They were moving all .on foot, and armed. They were* 
about half a mile off ■when first 1 saw them, about'60 or 70. We could see them quite 
distinctly, with their shields prominent. I saw no man being carried. I got to within 
200 or 3U0 yards, and then sent Gloag back with a message (verbal) to Captain Leiidy 
reporting the Matabele, their number, and the direction they were taking. Gloag 
brought message back from Captain Lendy to say I wns to open fire, and I also heard 
the bugle sounding to commence fire. I fired a shot in the air. That was. the first 
shot I heard, and I fired it after receiving order from Captain Lendy. I closed in my 
advance guard, and by that time the main body had closed up, and the firing became 
general. They had been coming up .in half. sections. I cannot say exactly what 
formation they v:ev6 in behind me, as I was watching the Matabele. After I fired 
a shot Gloag fired a shot. I dismounted and fired another myself at them. By that 
time the firing became general. We did not see any cattle amongst them just then. 
Later on we saw the cattle. I took my place in the line about the centre. ’ Wo were* 
then all advancing at a canter or gallop. We seemed to be under no orders, but each 
man for himself, after the firing became general. We did not get right, in' among 
them, but as they got scattered we got close up to them., I was within 3 yards when 
one man was shot. Most of the Matabeles were shot at 150 yards interval.' "VT’e rode 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 66



.23 

'afteivthorn-aboul}.Similes, dismounting and shooting, and then Captain Lendy sounded 
the i’ecall. 

{Statements fi:o?7i paragraphs 2 and 3 of despatch. Secretary of State to Sir Henry Loch, 
2nd November 1893,* read.)—The latter is the correct statement as far as I know. 
One: man .did .fire a shot after w.e had opened fire on them. Ho fired at Fitzgerald. 

{Paragraph 5 of the same despatch is read.)—^They were going along at a steady jog 
trot;.towhrds their main camp. Ho, they had not attempted any resistance when the 
police opened fire so far as I know. 

{Statement A. read.)—That about thefour or five bullets is not true. The account of 
the pursuit so far as chasing them is concerned is true. 

It is possible the Matabele may have been trying to dr-aw us on to tho main body. 
There were 8,000 waiting at the main camp. 

{WiUotiglihy's extract: “The number of the Matabele—been given' read.)—^Ho, that 
is hot a correct account. I never saw a Matabele iu that attitude, I never heard of a 
Matabele asking for quarter, either on that day or on any other day. I served 
throughout the rest of tho campaign. 

As far as ray own knowledge goes I fired the fii-st shot, and I fired it on receipt of 
the order from Captain Lendy. The only resistance I saw was the one shot at 
Fitzgerald. I saw no quarter askefi. I Siiw no sick Liduna shot. 

By ilfr. Caldicott.—^AVhen we first saw the Matabele they were going parallel to the 
border, but wore making for their main camp. Sixty would be about the total number 
attacked. Of that about half were killed. Had w'c gone another tluec-quarters of a 
mile Ave should have come on the main body, but we did not know that at the time. 

(Q.) There has been some evidence given as to a shot having been fired at on left 
flank?—{A.) I Avould not say there was not a shot fired before Captain J^endy gave the 
order. 

I know Gloag. He is very excitable. He was excited Avhen the firing began. I 
heard Captain Fitzgenild shout to him then to keep quiet. He was shouting loudl3% 
I saw him fire two shots. He may have fired more. His horse fell, and ho A^as left 
behind. He closed up with the skirmishers just whea the recall sounded. Personally, 
I have suifered no loss from the Matabele, but many of my friends haA*e. 

By Jfr. Newton.—sent Gloag with a message to Captain Lendy. He brought a 
message back, on receipt of which I fired a shot. J also heard a bugle sound 
“ commence firing^’; that was before I had fired. The bugle confirmed the message. 
I haA’^e no reason to doubt that the message to and from Captain Lendy was correctly 
given. 

By ilfr. Galdicott.—^There Avere about 60 or 70. lYe did not count them. Tfo had 
no time to coimt them. I sent him (Gloag) back with a message immediately, and 
before he could haA'e had time to count them. 

(Signed) N. P. EJBNXELLT. 

Hinth "Witness.—HENRY POSSELT, Farmer, in Mashonaland. 

Have been here tivo years. A German, born in Hatal, South Africa. Was at 
Victoria in July last. Had' a farm near there. Was on the patrol when it rode out 
after the indaba. We started in the afternoon about 2, perhaps later. We went 
out at a walk, not very far, about 3 or 4< miles. Mr. Brabant, Mr. Lloyd, and 
myself Avere a flanking part^* on the right. We were called into the main body. I 
Avas on the left of the line when we advanced and saw the Kaffirs. I was not in front. 
Wo all spread out. We came over a little rise and saAv the KaJ05rs. I saw Gloag come 
in from the advance guard before wo saw the KaiBBrs. Ho rode up to Captain Lendy. 
We went on all together. The firing began after we had come up to the Kaffirs. Wo 
galloped up. The men ahead of us fired the first shot—the advance guard. I could not 
see who fired first. I heard the shot, the advance guard was close. We could see the 
men shooting, but I could not say Avho it was. I did not see any Matabele shooting. 
I did not see them fire a shot at all. We got close. The first shot Avas about 200 oi 
300 yards, and then Ave got close, but at all sorts of distances. I did not see any^ 
Matabele on our side (the left) shoot back. They were all running away on tlie flat. 
I fired about four shots, tho others must have fired more. 

{Account in Statement A. read.)—Of course some got more bullets thau one. I do not 
think more than 10 or 15 Avere shot. I never saw any Imcel doAvn and ask for quarter, 
I fought tho rest of’the Avar. I never saw any Matabele afterwards ask for quarter. 
” "" * No. 10 in [0—7290], February 1894. 

C 4 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 67



24 

By Mr. Oaldicott.—think-what was dono that day was justifiable and very necessary 
under the circumstances. I could not say positively whether the Matabele fired the 
first shot or not, hut I do not think they did. When we first saw them there were 
about 30 Matabele; afterwards I should think there were about 200 spread about. 

By Mr. Mewton.—I saw some cattle belonging to white men in possession of the 
Matabele. "We did not recover the cattle. 

(Signed) H. POSSELT. 

Tenth Witness.—^WILLIAM GEORGE UTEAL, Prospector. 

Was in Victoria in July last. Was out prospecting at the outbreak of hostilities on 
9th, west of Victoria 30 miles, close on the border. We were called in by the police. 
We lost 18 head of oxen and over 701. worth of goods. I have seen the oxen since, 
but I cannot get them. I saw them on the day of the fight in possession of the 
Matabele. We were in Victoria about a week before the indaba. I was a volunteer 
for the patrol that day. I rode out with the column. I was about eight from the 
rear, about midway. We went about 6 miles. We met the natives and the shooting 
started almost simultaneously. I saw them before the shooting began. They were 
going along at a jog trot. The shooting began with single shots, and then we all 
started. I was on Fitzgerald’s left, when a Matabele fired at him. Fitzgerald fired 
and shot the native. We advanced at a gallop, and they were running in all direc- 
tions. I got close to one. about 3 yards off; only that one. There were between 
300 to 500 at the time the firing was going on. I saw nothing of a sick Induna being 
carried. I saw no native ask for quarter. The cattle ahead}- alluded to were 
recognised by me after the fight. They were in the native gardens. Captain Lendy 
would not let us take them. At the time we were searching for more Matabeles, and 
he said we had come out to find natives and not to get cattle. The Matabele, when 
they attacked our waggon on the 9th, and took our o.xen,—the oxen were outspanned 
and feetling with the boy. The boy escaped into Victoria. They said to my partner, 
“ We have come for you, we have come for jou.” My partner’s name is Dunslerville. 
lie replied, “ I will have some of 3'ou first.” Anyone who knows jiative laws knows 
that the seizing of cattle is a declaration of war. That act was a declaration of war 
against the whites. 

By Mr. Galdicolt.—^V'hen Captain Bendy stopped us taking the cattle he did not 
want to hamper his force. I think he was right, as it might have endangered the lives 
of the men in charge of them. We did not know what was going to happen, as firing 
was still going on. 

(Signed) W. G. NEAL. 

Eleventh Witness.—JOHANN WILLIAM COLENBRANDER, Native Agent for the 
British South Africa Company. 

First came here in 1888, and have been here off and on ever since. I accompanied 
Baviaan and Mushette to England. I w'as born in Natal. I have been amongst 
natives all my life. I lived on the borders of Natal and was always in Zululand. The 
customs of Zulu and Matabele are very much the same, in fact exactly. Their language 
is exactly the same, and also thoir practice and method in warfare. The Matabele 
are more cowardly however, and bigger thieves. 

{Extract read from Wiltouglibijs letter: “ The Matabele—been given.)—was through 
the whole of the Zulu war and afterwards with Usibepu in Zululand. Through' the 
whole of my experience I have only once come across a native that asked for quarter. 
They give none, and expect none. If they never ask for it then there can be no 
typical attitude of asking- As long as a native kept arms in his [hands], I should never 
consider such an attitude as that described in extract as one of submission. I gave a 
native quarter once, and he hit me on the head with a battle-axe {showing scar); had I 
not just guarded the blow he would have killed me. He said “ baba ” (father), and 
when I turned my head hit at me with his battle-axe. When saying “ baba ” he did 

■not adopt the attitude described. I have never seen a native go on one knee as 
described yet. I should only consider ho meant submission if he throw down his arms, 
but I have never seen them do that even, 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 68



25 

By Mr. GaldiooU.—I should consider the forcible taking of cattle by natives as an 
act of war on. their part {see Neal’s evidence), in fact a declaration of war; and they 
would consider it as such, and if after having committed such an act they had met with 
no retaliation they would have considered it a sign of weakness. And having 
captured cattle in their possession, they would be on the look out, and consider them- 
selves liable to be attacked at any time. 

(Signed) J. W. COLLXHRANDER. 

Twelfth Witness —^IANVOW, sworn according to Matabele custom. 

All that I said yesterday is true. {Itejjorl of interview put in.) 

Further Emminaiion. 

The sun was still early in the day, and the doctor tlicn told us that should we still 
he anywhere near when the sun Avas there {pointing to about 4 o’clocJc) he would talk 
to them in a different manner. The doctor said nothing about any rivers or border. 
After the doctor Avarned ns at the indaba, some of our people went and killed some of 
the white men’s serA'ants. That is Avhy the doctor’s people shot at us. I could do 
nothing with the young men. I had with me the 

Mhlahlanklela Regiment. Mobawbeni Towns. 
No Seiko 
No Lima 
No Linda 
Eiixa 
Ozinga 

O 

do. 
do. 

Towns. 
do. 
do. 

No SAA'ananzi do. 
No Lingo do. 
Lizinda do. 
NogAvetine do. 

And we picked up a lot of stragglers—all the Araaholes belonging to these towns. 
In numbers about 2-,u00 Avarriors left BuluAA'ayo, and I picked up about 1,000 
Maholes. 

BVIDEXCE given by the Gliief MAXVOW before F. J. NE\VTOX% Esq., G.M.G-., 
at Buluwayo, on the 22nd .Afay IS94. 

Manyow stated that he remembered the doctor at Victoria, and also Mr. Vigers. 
Manyow he is very sick, having lately had small-pox, Avith fever on him now. He is a 
coward, and had been afraid to come in before. He recognised Mr. Newton as the 
Queen’s representative, and was willing to tell, all he knew about the occurrences in 
Victoria last year. He was the head of the Hatabele impi sent to the Victoria district, 
and was in command of the party Avho had an indaba with Dr. Jameson at Victoria. 
Umgandan was also there, second in command. He had brought one letter from the 
King, but the last one Avas brought by Umgandan. He gave his letter to Mr. Vigers, 
and remembered well Avhat took place on the occasion. Dr. Jameson had told them 
that their men (Matabelo) had killed Mashuua servants, and it AAmuld not be allowed. 
Dr. Jameson refused to give up the native women and children who had taken refuge 
in the fort, and ordered back the impi over the border, stating that he (Dr. Jameson) 
Avas in communication Avitli the King direct. 

He (Manyow) replied that he could not make his young people recross the border, 
and remembered that Dr. Jameson then told him and the older men who understood 
the thing to go back, leaving Dr. Jameson to settle Avith the young men. When 
Dr. Jameson had finished he said, “Now go, or I Avill drive you across,” and he 
(Manyow) got up and left. 

Then Umgandan said, “ Very well, Ave Avill be driven across.” Dr. Jameson told 
them distinctly that they had exceeded their orders by crossing the Shashi River, and 
that he was in communication with the King. When Manyow Avent back tOAvards 
Magomoli’s kraal the young Majakas Avent and looted a lot of trained cattle out of 
Mr. Vigers’s kraal, including those belonging to the Company and to private individuals. 
Those cattle had never been returned. Some had also been captured before. ManyoAV 
tried to get the cattle given up, but the young men declined, and drove them back at 
the point of their spears. 

M 83 ICO. D 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 69



26 

-Umgaudaa also remained behind to drink water at a spring, and while Vesting* under 
a ’ shady tree got mixed up with the Majakas, with the other Indunas also resting with 
him. This was when the Majakas were driving the cattle off, and were being chased 
by -the horsernen. Manyow then returned stmght to the King, and told him all that 
had occurred. They all understood distinctly what Dr. Jameson had told to their faces, 
that he would drive them back b3}’’ond the Shashi. But although the matter was 
discussed between them all, the young men -would not do so. Even, afterwards on 
returning the young men raided more cattle, and left their Indunas behind. 

The Majakas were in possession of the stolen cattle in their own camp when the 
•white liorsemen pursued tliem. 

Manyow stated then. Dr. Jameson had previous to the same indaba sent a white man 
and a coloured boy to talk with the impi, and in the "way, fortunate for them, that 
Manyow met them and took them under his protection, as otherwise the^' would have 
been killed, as he (Manyow) saw' mischief in the eyes of the young men. Manyow 
took the two messengers away. There was only one sick Induna, and he was not 
carried. That was Dmgandan, who was suffering that day from an attack of colic. He 
was the only one sick. 

During the indaba XJnigandan was very cheeky and constantly interrupted the 
doctor, who shut him up, saying that he did not want to talk to boys, but only with 
the men. 

End of e.xamination. 

(Signed) CII.\RLES S. MORRIS MEWM.\X, 

Eeuter’s Special Commissioner 
for Matabeleland. 

Taken do-wn from the oral translation by Mr. Johann Colenbrander, the Mative 
Commissioner of Matabeleland, who interpreted. 

Thirteenth Witness.—JIGEKGW.AXE, Matabele Induna, sworn by Matabele custom. 

Was with the body which was pursued by the patrol. We were some distance from the 
town, as^ far off as the big tree yonder (about 1 mile). The white men fired the first 
shot. There wf a.good many shots. We ran awa\'to where part of our impi was 
and then clearei We did not fire back, not the party that was with me, but I do not 
know if the otheis did^ We were in open order, but pretty thick. I only know of 
tvyo who were shot. Mo, I did not see them shot, or their bodies, but I was told so. 
lyben we first saw the white men some of us were moving, some sitting down, some 
drinking water. ^ We were slow, in starting; that is why we took so long. We did not 
start till late. The Majakas went to Makooinbi’s kraal after the indaba, and overtook 
ns when they were pursued. I was not with Dmgandan. 

. • Caldicott.—We Indunas had decided to return, but we had a- row with the 
young fellows, who called us cowards, and said they were going to stay behind, and 
they went, put raiding on their own account. Manyow did his best to stop these young 
fellow.s-fro^ going out, but he could not. The Majakas went straight to Makoombi’s 
kraal to raid it. They were there in the kraal raiding when the white men came np 
■\vith them. That is when the shooting began. 

manyow (recalled) .—only know of nine men shot—^menkilled;, there are one or 
two still missing, hut they may have run away. • 

EODRTH DAY. 

25 Ih May 1894. 
fourteenth Witness.—KENNETH GLOAG, in the employ of the Bechuanaland Trading 

Association. 
Was at Victoria last July. Ifas then book-keeper in the Bechuanaland Trading 

Associatjon store. Was corporal in tho Victoria Bangers. Was in the fort on the 
I8th July on the morning of -the indaba. Was on duty in the fort, I Avas on the 
wall and saAV the natives. I did not hoar anything that took place. After the indaba 
we were warned for mounted patrol after lunch. We fell in about two hours, say. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 70



27 

after, tbe indaba,*ancl we rode out in half-sections. I was the second half-section from 
the front. Tip to a certain distance, about 2 miles, I was witli the main bod3^ 
Then Captain Lendy told Sergeant Kennelly to take a section as an advance paity. 
Sergeant Kennelly, myself as corporal, a man named Campbell, Arthur Brooks, and 
Wienand Bezuidenhout from Mafeking. "We cantered off about 500 yards, and kept 
that distance ahead. We went at a walk across the veldt in a south-west direction. 
We had. gone about half a mile when I saw some natives. I said they were Matahele, 
and Kennelly asked me if I was sure ? I said Yes, cannot you see their shields and 
“ assegais ? ’* They were about half a mile off. When I first saw them they were 
ti*avelling. I think I saw them before they saw us. Kennelly said, “ How many do 
“ you think there are.” I said from what we could see there were about G5. He 
told me to count, we varied from 60 to 80. He told me to go back and report to 
Captain Lendy there were about G5 3Iatabele travelling in a north-westerly dii’ection. 
I reported to Captain Lendy as Sergeant Kennelly told me. I rode slowly at his left 
side, while he had some conversation with Lieutenant Fitzgerald. He then told me 
to return to my post. That was all he told me. When I had gone about 250 y’^ards, 
T heard him yell out to me to Halt.” I faced round immediately'. I then heard 
Captain Len% say distinctly, as an order to me, “ Commence firing.” I waited to hear 
the order repeated. I heard it repeated hy several voices. I immediately went off as 
hard as I could to Kennelly and told him Avhat the orders were. Kennelly then fired 
from his horse one shot. I dismounted and fired a second shot. They were .some- 
distance ofil I fired immediately aftei* Kennelly^ Kennelly’s was the first shot I heard. 
The rest of the party then came up, and the firing became general. The natives Avere, 
I should say. then about 300 yards off. We then scattered about, cantering forward, 
and dismounting and shooting. I Avent off towards the right towards MagamoU’s. I 
got quite clos^to one native. I did not shoot. I Avas thrown from my horse who 
went into a game pit. I Avent over his head. I got up and went on. I did not see 
any cattle amongst the natiA’^es Avhen we first saAv them. Wc saAV cattle afterwards 
Avhen we went about Avith Lendy', after the retire bugle sounded. They Averc cattle 
tbe Matahele had stolen. They had evidently been in possession of the iiath'es Avbom 
Ave attacked- 

When Ave first saw them there Avas no man being earned among the lot AVC attacked. 
I never heard of it before now. It Avas impossible that there should have been one. 
I Avas most of the time with Fitzgerald. Fitzgerald fired at a nati\’e and rode on. 
The natiA'e dropped, and after Ave had passed him he fired from a blunderbuss. He 
missed Fitzgerald. We both rode on. I do nol= knoAV whether he Avas afterwards 
killed. I turned round and said, “He is shooting at us.” Fitzgerald said, “ Oli, it 
“ is just a dying shot; it is no good firing a second time.” I did not myself see 
any natives shooting hack. There Avas a lot of firing going on. 

{Extract about quartvr: “ The Matabelc—(jiuai ” read.}—1 never saw a Matahele hold up 
his shield. I should think if he did. so he Avas protecting himself. If he wanted to give 
in he Avoiild throAV it down. I never saAV a Matahele in the attitude described. I liavo 
had some experience of natives. The attitude described is a fighting attitude, not 
one of giving in. I think there were about 30 killed; I saw about 20. I did not 
count 20, there may haA'e been more or less. We pursued them too fast, and Ave 
had good shots amongst us. Their idea was, I think', to get to the main body, and 
then turn on us. We knew where the main body was, and rode accordingly to cut 
them off. 

(Signed) KENNETH B. GLOAG. 

Fifteenth Witness.—EDAVIN AMALRIC SLATER, Auctioneer. 

Was at Victoria last July. Was auctioneer and hotel-keeper then. Was in the fort 
on the day of the indaba. I was under arras with the rest. I heard part of the 
conversation. I heard the doctor say they must go away at once and not come near 
Victoria. I remember the old Chief saying he could not help it; he could not control 
his young bloods. Those Europeans that had horses had orders to saddle up and bo 
ready. AVe fell in about 3, and left about 4. We rode out at a walk and an 
occasional canter. I was not in the line, but I was on the right side of the column 
close to Captain Lendy. When we got about 6 or 7 uiiles from camp Are saAv 
.some natives. I said to Captaip .Lendyj ‘‘ There are some'natives ahead.” That was 

B-2 ' • -- ■ 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 71



28 

■ \, 

before the message came from tbe advance guard. Immediately after the message 
came in the natives I saw were moving; they appeared to be coming to a kraal on 
our right, which they had looted before. They (the natives) were on our left front. 
We came across some cattle. That was after the fighting. Ten cattle there were that 
belonged to Dunsterville. The natives whom we attacked were in possession of those 
cattle. The cattle were recovered sometime afterwards. After the message came we 
advanced, dismounted, and fired. We were going at a canter. We got right up to 
them. I was well mounted. We got right round them, and turned the left portion of 
them. There were about a dozen natives there where I was. I saw no native being 
carried. I am perfectly certain there was not one. I did not see any native shoot 
back, but I was told one had shot at Fitzgerald. It was considered he had had a most 
wonderful escape, having been fired at a few yards oflT. I saw the natives as soon as 
anybody. I was the first to point them out to Lend}’". I should not say it was correct 
to say the}’’ were retreating; of course they retreated when they saw us coming on 
charging them. It was too late for them to resist; we ran them down. IMy idea is 
they were raiding about when we came upon them. They did not believe what the 
Doctor had said, and thought they might do as they liked. I saw a few men killed. 
The number killed was roughly computed at 30. I saw about nine bodies. I savr no 
case of a native asking for quarter and being shot. 

(“ Quarterextract read.)—^I never saw anything like that. I am sure it never 
occuiTed. The shields were not very little. I saw no sign of submission. They 
held up their shields, and threw an assegai or two. They most of them had guns. 

By Mr. Oaldicott.—^I have been in South Africa about 15 years. I think the action 
of that patrol under Captain Lendy was necessary and justifiable in the interests of the 
country. 

Seven of my servants were killed by the Matabele. Five were caught when out 
cutting grass, and two were taken off the wagon and stabbed and left in the road. 

(Signed) B. A. SLATEU. 

FIFTH DAT. 

mil May 1894. 

Sixteenth Witness.—THOMAS AHTHUII CHALK, Sub-Inspector B. S. A. Company’s Police. 

Was in Victoria last July, was then Second Class Sergeant in the Company’s Police. 
Before the 9th July an iinpihad been close to Victoria raiding. I accompanied Captain 
Lendy to interview the Induna of that irapi. Captain Lendy spoke to him, and told 
him they were coining too close to Victoria. He also gave him a note to Loben. from 
himself. He wrote it there himself, when w'e met the impi. He explained to the 
Induna he ’vvas Loben.’s friend. Loben. had given him the road to Buiuwcyo, and in 
the note he wrote rvords to the effect that the impi was coming too close to the town 
of Victoria. The Induna said he rvould deliver the note and would take the impi 
away. We left him; we did not hear of them close to Victoria again. On Sunday, 
the 9th, I heard that natives and cattle were imshing through the town. Wo (the 
police) saddled up immediately, rode dowm the Magamoli Eoad a little past the hospital, 
where we met a great crow’tl of them. I stayed there, while some of the other police rode 
among them on the commonage, close up to the Vicarage. The impi itself was besieging 
Magamoli’a eight miles oft’. That week the people there were reduced to great straits 
for food and water, oven to drinking their owm urine. For that week an old Mashuna 
Chief, Mazibili, close to Victoria, took refuge in the fort w'ith his people. The country 
all round was being raided. Tatives (Jllashunas). assegaied, w’ere lying on the road 
within a mile of the township, and several other bodies svere found further off. 
Magamoli’s people were reduced to absolute starvation. Although Manyow, the chief 
of the Matabele, had a note from Loben. to Captain Lendy, he did not deliver it until 
we rode out to Magamoli's and got it. It was a note to the efl’ect that his impi were 
going to punish the Mashunas I’ound Yictoria; and he requested that no notice should 
be taken of them. A herd boy belonging to a farmer called Ekstcen was killed by them. 
All the -white men's cattle were scattered over the country. Some taken by the 
Matabele, others lost because the herds yore either killed or had run away. Previous 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 72



29 

to that, Manyow, when he first came in, said the while men’s cattJe would be o-iveii up 
a he second time, when he came to see Captain Lendj, he saw the native wonien and 
children who had taken refuge in the fort, and asked Captain Lendy to c^ive them up 
to him, saying, “ I won’t pollute your water, I will take tliem over the stream,” mean- 
ing to kill them. Captain Lendy said, “ 'No, show me any that have done any harm 

01 wrong, and I will tiy them, and if guilty will hand them over.” Itfanyowinsisted 
on having them, saying he must have them all. Captain Lendy would not crive them 
up. Manyow then went away in a rage. Said he ivould not give ever the cattle. We 
all went into the fort then. The place had been in .a- state of siege for some time 
When the Administrator came dow^n I was sent out with an esetrt to find some 
Matebele to tell them that the great White Chief haa come down and that their Chief 
must come in and have an iudaba. They said something to me which Mr. Brabant 
translated as, “ When are we to be allowed to fight the white men ? ” I replied that 1 
did not know. The place was in an absolute state of siege, nothing but night and day 
patrols. The outside stores all had to come in, bringing their stufi’ ivith them. I was 
one of the escort who went out to bring the natives in to the indaba. They were coming 
in a large body, and four of us, under Fitzgerald, met them 300 yards from the entrance to 
the fort, and told the Chief and those of his people who were coming in that they must 
leave their arms. They laid dow'n their arms and went up. I w^as present, and stand- 
ing within 12 yard.s. I did not hear ail that -was said, as I am deaf. I heard towards 
the finish the doctor tell ManyoAV that he had lied several time.-^. I heard the doctor 
ask Manj'ow if it was a fact that he had said that he was unable to control his youno- 
men, and Manyow replied, “ Yes, it was so.” The doctor then said, “ Well, you and 
“ your old men go away quietly, and leave me to deal with your young men.” The 
doctor said he would give them either one or two hours to clear out. The interpreter 
defined the time by pointing at the sun. Umgandan, a minor chief—a young man, 
bad been interrupting during the greater part of the indaba; and he went away very 
cheekily. He was oflensive in his manner. 

We waited from two hours to two hours and a half. Some Avere saddled up and 
some got the order at the end of that time. I was in charge of the police; there Avero 
four or five of them. We left about 2.30 or 3, and rode along for about an hour. I 
was in the rear. We took the right of the line and Captain Lendy AA'ent out left in 
front. The force was composed of Yictoria Bangers, burghers, and police. I heard 
firing in front of the line. We went in column of half-sections, when the firing beo-an, 
and as we got up they extended. The bugle sounded, “ commence firing.” There°was 
one shot fired before the trumpet sounded. I could not say from which direction the 
shot came. I am perfectly sure I heard a shot fired before the trumpet Avent. I could 
not say from which direction the shot came. I cannot locate sound, as I am deaf in 
one ear. The shot Avas certainly fired before I heard the trumpet. He might have 
sounded “ commence firing ” more than once. I do not know who Avas trumpeter. 
My impression is, it Avas Weal. He is probably in Victoria now. Mr. Vigors Avould 
know. We were then in an extended line. We were slightly in rear, on the right. I 
Avas riding close to Captain Lendy, Avhen I myself first saw the Matabele. They were 
running aAvay, and we were pursuing them. We got within 200 or 300 yards. That 
Avas the closest I saAV at any time. We were cantering, dismounting, shooting, and so 
forth. I did not see any natives actually drop to a shot, but I saw them on the 
ground, dead. I saAV about four or five. It is impossible to estimate hoAv many there 
Avere killed. I do not think there were as many as 30. I saAv nothing of a sick 
Indiina being carried. I never heard of it, until you mentioned it now. I never saw 
or heard anything of natives asking for quarter, and being refused. From my 
knowledge of the Matabele, I should say, they are not in the habit of asking for 
quarter. This Avould not apply to the Maholes (serfs). Personally I saAv no show of 
resistance. Captain Fitzgerald, hoAvever, told me a man jumped up, out of the grass, 
and shot at him. He shot him dead. I have no means of saying Avhat the Matabele 
were doing Avhen Ave overtook them, as I Avas quite in the rear. There Avere some cattle 
about. I first SHAV them just before the ‘‘ cease firing ” sounded. I believe they were 
driven in. I do not knoAV whom they belonged to. It appeared to me that the cattle 
were driven away by the natives we attacked. The appearance of those AA’ho ran aAvay, 
and those who Avere shot, Avas that of young mon—Majakas. A majaka is a young 
unmarried Avarrior, a generic name for soldier. I have no means of saying, who fired 
the first shot. All I know is, I heard a shot fired before I heard the “ commenco 
fifing ” sounded. 

(Signed) T, A, CgAr.K, 

D^3 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 73



30 

r 
j 

Enclosure 3. 

VICTORIA. 

E.IRST DAY. 

11th June 1S94. 

Seventeenth Witness.—TETER EOKRESTALL, Trooper in B. S. A. Company’s Police. 

Was at Victoria last July, was there larioing. Had been in the Company’s police 
before. AVas farming four miles west of Victoria, the time before the impi came. 
Pirst I saw of them was Sunday the 9th. My herd told me the Matabele were 
clearing off with my catde. There were over 100 head. I lost oO. The}* were split 
in two lots by the Matabele. I caught up one lot and demanded them back, and 
said I would get the Induna to give them back, if they were not returned. They then 
returned about 50. The others I never saw. AVhile 1 was away from the ki*aal, five 
Matabele came there and killed my Mashuna herd. The others mn awaj* into the 
hills. I saw the boy lying dead, stabbed in two places. The other boy was a Swazi, 
and they did not touch him. I went into Victoria at once. On my way I met large 
parties of Matabele, close to the town, and found the town in a state of e.xcitement. 
I attached myself to the Police for duty, and was with them when Dr. Jameson 
anived. I was one of the five men who went out to tell the Matabele to put down 
their arms before coming to the indaba. They asked why they should while we were 
armed. We replied that white men, on going to see Lohengnla, had to go imanned. 
They eventually did so. About 20 to 30 followed us to the fort gates. I was present 
at the Indaha. I remember the doctor spoke to Manyow, as to why they came 
in, and TJmgaradan tried to interfere several times. The doctor told him he 
was only speaking to Manyow, as he was the Chief. The doctor told Manyow 
that he had heard his young men were unruly, refusing to give up cattle, &c. 
He told him he could leave the young men if the}*" did not want to listen, and 
he (Manyow) could go home. Then he eventual!}' told him, he would give him 
an hour to be on his way towards the border. Mr. Hapier, the interpreter, pointed 
at the sun to e.xpress one hour. I am quite clear he said to be on his way 
towards the border. At that time the Matabele Impis \vere all round the town. 
The doctor got up then. The Chief sent in to ask him where the border was. 
The doctor told him they knew. That was all. AVe then came in the fork We 
waited nearly two hours, and then went out under charge of Captain Lendy. That 
was sometime in the afternoon. I was in the rear. The burghers were marched out 
first. We went out at. a walk, out amongst the hills about four miles- There was 
firing in front. We all went forward. When I got up there were not manj Matabele 
“to be seen. The ground was very broken Kaffir land—^rice fields with, deep furrows. 
I do not think I saw more than 10 while we were advancing. I saw two shot. 1 got 
up about 200 to 300 yards up to them. I never saw anyone (Matabele) neamr than 
100 yards. My impression is when the tiring began, there were .a few single shots, 
and then the firing became general. I do not know that any turned,round and showed 
fight. I did not see any. I was too far behind. They were armed with guns—some 
of them—and all lhat 1 saw had shields and assegai.s. In the beginning I- was too far 
behind to tell what the Matabele were doing when we first came up with them^ After 
the retreat sounded, we were much scattered. I was on the right flank with Mr. 
Napier. AVe went towards Makoombi’s kraal. AVe saw a lot of Matabeles there all 
round the kraal, apparently attacking it. Mr. Brabant was with me. Both, the 
Posselts, and Mr. Geer and Stead. I heard shots from the kraal, not Martini shots 
but hlunderbuses. I suppose those shots were fired by Mashunas defending themselves 
against the Matabele. This was soon .after the retreat sounded. There were about 
10 of us. Awhile lookingiat the uatives about 100 Matabeles came out.behind some rocks, 
just in front <of us. : AVe were moving towards the kraal. They then turned to the left 
through some bush, AVe had some shots at them, but did nob follow, as we heardllie 
retire sound .again. AVe fired two long range shots at the Matabele while they were 
attacking Makoorabi’s kraal. It was almost 1,000 yards. I then rode with a message 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 74



from Oaptaiii JTapier to Captain Leiidy to tell iiim the Matabole were attackino- 
Makoombi’s. Captain IvTapier soon followed me and we all Avenb to Makoombi’s, but 
the Matabele had all gone then. The Mashunas came out of the kraal, and were very- 
glad that we had driven the Katabele away. We rested a few minutes there, and then 
returned to camp. I never saw anything to give me the idea that the Matabele even 
asked for quarter. 'We cdme up with several head of cattle when we were advancing. 
They looked to nie as if they bad been in the possession of the Malabele, and were left 
behind in their retreat. I saw no Matabele resisting. Those vv^e saw were, I think, the 
rearguard in charge of XJmgandau, who when he left the camp, certainly gave us the 
idea he meant to fight. 

Before the doctor came down I had been sent in charge of two men to find any 
stray Matabele to take a message to Manyow, to tell him the white Indiina was 
coming down, and that he wished to see him. I came across about 50 getting grain 
from a kraal near here. All ring-kops and armed. They would not listen when I asked 
them to come down. And I gaUoiied round the kopje to cut them off. They sat 
down with their rifles m their hands. I gave my message. They said I would have 
to go on to the Chief. 1 eventually persuaded them to take the message themselves. 
I am quite clear in my recollection as to what the Doctor said to them', about giving 
them an hour to be on their way. It never occurred to me that they wore given an 
hour to cross the border as that v/ould have been an impossibility. I never heard that 
construction put upon it. We thought wo were going to be attacked that night. 

(Signed) PETER PORREST.\LE. 

SBCOJS^D DAY. 

Ylth June 1894. 

Eighteenth Witness.—ARTHUR WOODFORD BROOK, farmer, near Victoria. 

Wasson my farm in Victoria last July. Three and a half miles from Victoria north- 
■vvards. I remember the Matabele impi coming on the 9th Jul}*, Sunday morning, 
hiy Mangwato boy told me they were coming. About 800 came to my house. I sent 
boy to see where the cattle were. He did not go far vrhen he was seized. I took him 
away'from them. Told them he was a Mangwato, and told Chief to leave my cattle alone. 
The Chief was TJmgandan. Shortly after I saw my cattle being driven away about a 
mile off across the river. I told the Chief to. send after them: He sent a boy, but 
did not bring them hack. I went after them myself with the boy, and got them back 
about three miles from the house. On the way I had great difficult}* in preventing 
.them from molesting my boy. I got those cattle back. About half my herd. On 
returning I /found the Chief was gone and the remainder of the cattle I had left 
behind. I have never got them back, except one bull. I came into town the 
next day, Monday. On the way I found the body of a Mahole boy who had been 
working for me. That same day I went with Captain Lendy and about 20 men 
to try and get the cattle back. The Chief admitted he had my cattle, and 
would send them back, but they never came; I then stayed in camp as a 
volunteer. I was mounted in the fort square while the indaba was going on. 
I could not hear what passed. About an hour or more after, we started off under 
Captain Lendy. We were in half sections. I was in front, and afterwards in the 
advance guard. The advance guard was sent out after we had gone out about miles. 
There were six of us. Keniielly (the late Adjutant) was in charge. Grloag, myself, 
Campbell, Davis and another. I am not quite certain Davis was there.* We went 
about two miles further, and saw a,bout 50 or 60 Matabele. We all saw them about 
the same time, about a quarter of a mile off. We could hardly count them. There 
•\vere a few stragglers and then a lump of them. The stragglers were joining the 
others. They were coming from the south to the north. They were not huirying 
themselves. I remember two stopping and turning round. Hennelly sent back Cloag 
to tell Captain Lendy we had sighted 50 Matabele, as he reckoned. I heard him tell 
Grloag. We were out of sight of the column, about 500 or 600 yards in front. Wo 
halted. Oloag came back and told us we were to commence firing. He told that to 
Kennelly. G-loag was Very excited. He shouted as he came along that we wore to 
commence firing, but we waited until he got up to us. By that time the party of 

* lie was not.—F.-hlST- 

D 4 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 75



32 

Matabolo liad ixjuiidcd a small kopje in froiil of us, so wu had to gallop some distance 
to sight them again. This was after the order was received to commence firing, hut 
before any shot was fired. 'When we sighted them, Kennelly sent three one side of the 
kopje, and he, myself, and Grloag, the other side. "We came in sight again, and they 
disappeared behind the rocks. It gave me the idea they were taking up a position. 
Then two showed up on a paddy field, right up against the kopje, and we all dismounted. 
Kennelly was the first to fire, and I was next. Kennelly fired the first shot. There 
was some shooting the other side, about the same time. There were three or four 
shots, I should think, and I do not see how they could all have been fired by our men. 
Some might have been fired by the Matabele. I did not see the Matabele fire any 
shots. I did not see the Matabele fire at all, but I was on a veiy bad horse, and when 
the main body came up, I was soon left behind. I only saw two men shot; almost 
immediately after we fired first. The main body came up, and -we all advanced at a 
gallop. The Matabele retired. It would have been quite easy to have stopped and 
shown fight. I think if they fled, it was more to draw us on to the main body, the 
big impi, which was at Magaraoli’s. There was one Matabele w’ho was hidden in the 
grass. He got up right amongst us. There were about six of us together. Karris 
was one, and I think Stokes. The Matabele was shot. He had a rifle, but did not 
shoot. He was shot at once. 

[The Extract TTuirlccd B. read.)—^That is an extract from a letter I wrote. I do not 
think my estimate of the killed is correct. I think there were between 20 and 30 
killed at the most. No doul)t there were many more Matabele there than we first 
sighted. 

{Extract re qiuirtrr from Willoughby's letk^' read.)—I saw nothing that could make 
me confirm that statement. I heard nothing. I was in the rest of the campaign and 
lever heard them asking for quarter. I should say the incident described there is 

improbable. 
I saw nothing during the day committed of a treacherous and cmel nature. As a 

member of that force on patrol, I do not consider that anything that was done on that 
day was anything to be ashamed of. I saw some cattle on our return after the 
“ retire.” There were, I think, about 20 bullocks. They were evidently being carried 
away by the party we had attacked. My impression at the time was that those cattle 
were in the possession of those men. 

After the order to fire we must have ridden three or four miles. Some went much 
further than the others. 

By Mr. Galdicott.—X saw four dead Matabele. I estimate the dead at about SO, from 
what I hear. I should not dispute the fact, as stated by Mauyow, that there were only 
nine killed. 

{Extract read from B. re ichat Dr. Jameson said to Manyoio about crossing the 
harder.)—That is only what I heard from otherrs. I was not present at the indaba, and 
do not adhere to that statement. 

By Mr. Newton.—do not consider, from what I saw of the Matabele when we first 
saw the party under ITmgandan, that they were making a bona fide attempt to leave 
the country as instructed previously by Hr. Jameson. 

(Sighed) A. TV. BROOK. 

June l^th. 
On yremov.s oath:— 
I saw nothing t)f a sick Matabele being carried by the others. Being on the advance 

guard I should probably have seen him, if he had been amongst the first lot. There 
w'ere several parties, but I saw no one being carried. 

On our side of the kopje v/e were the first to fire. Kennelly fired the first shot. 
That was the first shot fired in the day. On the other side of the kopje, I cannot say 
which side fired first, 

(Signed) A. W. BROOK. 

Nineteenth Witness'--JOHN >SOMERSET BRABANT, Native Commissioner for Victoria 
District. 

Was in Victoria last July. Was then sergeant in tho Victoria Bangers. On Sunday, 
9tli Jul}^ I licard the Matabele were near, and in the afternoon I saw them coming into 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 76



33 

tliG town. I know that during that week they raided tlio Masliimas all round tlio 
town (in Ziniundu’s district). They took the Mashunas’ cattle. They took between 
50 and 60 of Forrestall’s cattle. They took Bezuidenhout's post cattle, and Brook’s 
cattle, and some of the Civil Commissioner’s cattle. 

On l^onday, the 17th, Dr. Jameson arrived. Everybody was there in laager in the 
fort. Dr. Jameson sent me to warn the Chiefs, Manyow and Dmgaudan, that he 
wanted to see them th.c next morning. I warned the Chiefs through some of their men. 
The next day they came in with 200 or 300 men. The doctor then sent mo to 
tell tuem he only wanted the Chiefs, not all the men. The Chiefs were rather obstinate. 
They eventually came in themselves. The doctor interviewed them. I was present. I 
wa.snot inte *preter. !Napier was interpreter. I heard all that passed. I undei-stand the 
language perfectly. The doctor asked Manyow' who had sent him ? jifanyow said the 
King had sent him. The doctor asked him if the King had sent him to raid white 
men’s cattle, and stab people, jllanyow said, yes. The doctor said he was a liar. 
Dmgandan tried to speak. The doctor told him to keep quiet as he was not head 
Chief, but was mumbling and laughing the whole time. The doctor asked Manyow, 
“ Can you keep your young men in control t ” Manyow said, “ Ko.” The Doctor said, 

Well, then, leave them behind, and I will manage them.” Meaning that Manyow him- 
self was to go on, and if the young men would not go, the doctor would see after them. 
He then told Manyow he would give him an hour to make a move over the border; and 
Manyow asked him what he meant by the border; and the doctor said he knew quite well 
where the border was. He was to be on the move towards the border, not tube over the 
border. The border is about 15 or 20 miles from here where thej’’ crossed. ]Mi*. Hapier 
interpreted to him that he must get his men on the move within an hour. The 
Matabele have not got hours. Hapier pointed to the sun, and when it Avould be an 
hour. !Manyow understood that. It was simply impossible, and out of the question, 
that Manyow and his impi should be across the border in an hour. It was not taken 
that way bj- Manyow, or any of the others present. Hone of the Europeans put that 
construction on it. There were only three of us there who thoroughl}' understood the 
language—^Mr. Napier, Mr. Bead, and myself. Manyow went away, I am sure, clearly 
understanding that he and his men had to be moving in an hour. 

We waited about an hour and forty minutes, and then we went out along the road. 
We rode about three miles out. I was riding in the third section, of wluch I had 
charge. When the advance guard went out, my section became the second. I was 
riding outside the line on the right. I had been flanking and just joined the main 
body again, when we sighted some Matabele. I saw them myself. We all saw them 
about the same time. We could see the advance guard moving on slowly, and the 
natives moving on ahead of them. When we first saw the Matabele, they were taking 
their time; some of them-had been raiding, and were carrying grain, just coming 
from a kraal. Hmgandan was there too. I did not see any cattle with that lot. I 
heard a shot fired from the Matabele. I saw it fired. It was on our right front. It 
was just about the time the advance guard .sent the message back. I think it was 
Hmgandan who fired the shot, because a rifle was picked up by the Makalakas after- 
wards, which looked very much like Hmgandan’s, which I had seen before. He was 
the only man I saw with a riflle that afternoon. It was a Martini. There were 
Matabele with rifles on the right, because I heard heavy firing from there. The shot 
was fired just as Captain Lendy’s message to the advance guard was leaving. That 
was the first shot I heard or saw fired. After that w'e advanced in skirmishing order. 
We found the Matabele. They were running between 200 or 300 yards, dodging in 
the long grass. We advanced on the main body walking. We got within about 200 
yards of them. The only shot I saw fired by the Matabele was the one above-mentioned. 
I heard some of the Matabele say, “ Stand, why are we running?” They continued to 
retreat. On the right they stood and Captain Fitzgerald was nearly shot by one of them 
The “ assembly ” then sounded, and we were coming back when we saw Makoombi’s 
kraal be.sieged by them (the Matabele). We fired a couple of shots at 800 or 900 yards 
bo the right of the kraal. The Matabele rushed out of the kraal. We fired a couple 
more at 600 or 700 yards, but none of them were hit. They ran off to the right. We 
went straight to Makoombi’s kraal. Aflor we fired the first two shots the Matabele 
left. The Matabele had been besieging that kraal for some time, and had had several 
fights there. They had taken all the cattle. We then came back to camp. I myself 
fully expected an attack on the Victoria laager that night, as Umgaiidan had said, as ho 
was walking away from the doctor in the morning, “We must collect all our men and 

M flsico. E 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 77



(Iriyo, the white men out of this.” t heard him say that. I do not thinh Napier 
or Reed heard him. I was mounted, standing behind him. 

When we first came upon the Matebele, I do not consider they were retiring as Rr. 
Jameson had instructed them. From what Uingandan had said that day, and on 
previous occasions when I had to interpret, I think that he never meant to move at all. 
When I saw them, they were coming from the left side, the south, where they had been 
raiding; and were moving north towards the main body. There were about five or 
si-\ at first, and then there were more—^l)etween 30 and 40. It is hard to say how 
many there were killed: I only saw two; I do not think there were as many as 30 
killed that afternoon. I ain quite clear on the point that I saw a Matebele fire a 
shot before Captain Lendy’s order to commence firing reached the advance guard. I 
never SUAV anything like buck-shooting {exf/ract from A. read), I do not believe it 
occurred. I saw one man, tTmgandan, himself with two bullets in him. He was 
shot at about 300 yards. Sergeant Stead shot him. As he fired, he said : “ Fve hit 
him.” 

(JUJxtract from {Statement D.) letter,Ga]itain Lendl/then, m-derred . . . six yards 
aicdyf read.)—That is untrue; all the shots I saw fired by any of our men were 
over 200 yards away. 1 never saw any potting at men 5 or 6 yards off. 

{Farther extract, The Mataleh . . . been givenf^ read.)—^Iknow nothing whatever 
about that. It is not a likely thing. A Zulu, especially a Matebele, Avill die fighting. Will 
never ask for quarter. I never heard of a Matebele asking for quarter. The attitude 
described is not natural. A Kaffir vrould throw his arms away in token of submission. 
That is my experience of what a native would do, and has done in such a case. I have 
lmo\vn that happen in this last expedition. I have seen several throw their arms away 
in token of submission. I did not see it on this occasion. Had the doctor not taken the 
step he. did on that day, the Company might as well have withdrawn. Had he not 
done anything, the general public would have taken it up. I consider all the acts of 
the patrol on that day were entirely justifiable. They could not have been more 
lenient. Resides driving away the Matabele as described, the patrol also relieved 
Makoombi’s kraal, and saved the grain from being burnt. 

The Matebele were not retiring at all •when we went after them. They were simply 
dawdling about, waiting to see what would happen next. Hmgandan, I am cei-taiii, 
wanted to fight and was hanging back. 

(Signed) J. S. BRABANT, 

Native Commissioner. 

'Twentieth Witness.—WILLUM BKSTEBN, Trooper in the British South Afi’ica 
Company’s Police. 

Was in Victoria last July. I had been farming' about IS miles to the north of 
Victoria. Early in July, about 30 Matabele came to my farm. I asked what they 
wanted. They said they had come to punish some Makalakas for stealing the King’s 
cattle. Most of the Matabele were drunk from Kaffir beer, and were very impertinent, 
asking for presents, looking into huts, and asking where my boys were. I pointed out 
my cattle, which they did not touch. They leftj. and went to a kraal near. There one 
of my boys an old Makalaka turned up. They stabbed him, and killed him. They 
lulled another man that night, the head man of the kraal. That same night Brook and 
Wallace came out and Avarned me, and I came into camp, where I found everyone in 
laager. I Avas attached to the police and stayed in the fort. I Avas one of the escort 
Avho went out to stop the Matebele coming to the indaba Avitli their arms. They left 
their arms behind Avhe3i they Avere told. I Avas present at the indaba. I heard 
Hr. Jameson tell them to be on the move toAvards the border within an hour’s time. I 
neA-er heard it said that he told them to be across the border Avithin an hour. That 
would be an impossibility. It is froni 20 to 25 miles off. 

After the indaba, about two hours, AA’^e went out, I was one of the patrol. I was 
almost the rear half section Avith the police. About four miles out, I heard a couple of 
shots, tAvo or three. I just saAv the smoke, just in front. I could not see Avho fired 
the shois. They were rifle shots. The smoke Avas almost 500 yards or more. Then 
the firing became general. We all raced up, and advanced. I saAv no Matebele before 
the shots "were fired. We were left in the rear. I only saAv oho Matebele lying doAvn, 
that Avas TJmgandan, Avho was shot. I saAV two others running. I saAV another body 
afterwards. When the bugle sounded^ I AvaS Avith Captain Londy, and the others 
straggled back. Hmgandan AVas shbt in tAVo places. ' ’ 

(Signed) J. W- EK§TJ3EN. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 78



THniD DAY. 

:U 

mh Jmif 18^ ’ 

Twonfcy-first 'Witness.—RbuKRT ;ft[cCoiiMick Si’KorAN, Sergeant in British 
South Africa Company’s Police. 

■Was in; Yictoria last year. Was trooper in the police. The Matabele impi came 
here SimcTay 9th July, was all ronncl the town. I Avas one Avho accompanied Captain 
Lendy Jo interview ManyoAv, and tliose Avith him, I was one of Dr. Jameson’s.^escort 
at the indaba. I heard Avhat happened. I heard the doctor tell them he Avould give 
them an hour to be oii the move towards the border. I think it Avas Mr. ilfapier who 
interpreted. I am certain that Avas wjiat he said. He gaA-e .them an hour to IcaAm. 
We remained here in the yard for an hour and forty minutes, then Ave went out to see 
Avhere the ^fatabele Avere. The police Avere in the rear. I Avas in the last section. I did 
not see the start of the affair at all. I heard several single shots fired. Then the firing 
began generally. I was not in front to be able to see the- jMatabele, Avhen they Avere 
first seen by our party. We rode out afterwai-ds. When I saw them first, they A\mre 
scattered all over the place. It is difficult to say hoAV many there Avere. 1 should say 
there Avere 200 or 300. I got to Avithin about 400 yards. They AA*ere moving off towards 
the kopjes. We did not knoAv if they AA'ere going to fight in the kopjes or clear aAvay. 
I did not see any shot. I saw some of fhein after they Avere shot. Only about three. 
I did not see any shoot back. I did not see any cattle. I did not see any Matabele 
being carried by the others. I do not know hoAv 'man3' AA'ere killed. I do not think more 
than 20, not (piite that either. 

(Signed) ROBEKX C. StnorAK. 

TAventy-second Witness.—^ALFRED DREW, Clerk to the Resident Magistrate, Victoria. 

Was in Victoria last July in that capacity. T Avas here on >Sunday the 9th July, and 
Aveut out Avith Captain Lend}- that afternoon. We met about 100 of them about 200 
yards from the barracks and close to the ho.spital. They said in rcpl}' to Captain Lcnd)r 
that they Avere folloAA'ing Mashunas. They stayed in the neighbourhood for the 
folio AA'ing Aveek. 

O 

I remember Dr. Jameson coming here. I AA'RS sent out Avith Brabant and some 
others to bring in the Indunas. Wa told them to. fa}' doAA'n their arms before coming 
in. They did not do it very Avillingly, but did eA-entiially. 

I AA'as present at the indaba. I understood Avhat took place through the interpreter. 

I remember Dr. Jameson telling them they AA'OuldJiaA'e to make a mo\'e toAAmrds the 
border AA'ithin an hour ; I am sure he said that. The interpreter iadicated by the sun 
Avhat an hour Avas. He did not say they must be across by a certain time. Dr. 
Jameson said an hour. And the interpreter translated it by pointing to the sun. I 
ncA'er heard at the time such a construction put upon it, that they Averc to be across 
the border Avithiii an hour. I have beard of it since through the papers. 

lust before the doctor told them they Avould have to clear out, he a.sked Manyow 
Avhether it was true that he had lost control of his young men. He said it Avas. The 
doctor told him he had better clear put AA'ith His old men, and he (the doctor) Avould 
look after the young ones. 

Uingandan Avas a young man. He seemed to, interrupt pretty often. 

I Avas attached to the police. About two hours after the indaba, Ave rode out. I 
Avas in the rear of the column. The first shots fired Avorc distinct and separate. Tlicro 
Avere tAA^o or three shots fifed before the bugle sounded. I do not knoAv who fired the 
first shot. It Avas said at the time it Avas Uingandan. I did not see it. When I o-ot 
up to the front there yere only two or three . Matabele to be seen. They Avere about 
500 yards off. .1 got to Avhefe Captain Leiidy was and heard him give the oi’der to 
“ cease fire ” and “ assembly.” That Avas about five minutes after the first shot was 
fired. I do not know hoAV many men Avefe killed. I thought at the-time about 20. 
I only saw about four or five lying dead. I only saAv about a dozen Matabele scattered 
about during the pursuit. > . 

B 2 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 79



36 

6 

I 
No liorsomen hardly fco be seen. We were in the rear of the column, on bad horses, 
think Ekstecn and Chalk were with mo. 

(Signed) ALFRED DREW. 

Twenty-third Witness.—^JMAKOOMDI, Masliuna Chief. 

We were at our kraals, perfectly satisfied with the white men, who told us to plough, 
&c., when the Matebele came down and attacked us saying: “ We don’t want you to 
“ be mixed up with the white men, or to plough anywhere- near them.” They came 
down and suiTOunded my kraal, taking my cattle and womou and children. This was 
in July. On the day the white men went out, tlie Matebele had. surrounded my ki*aal. 
There were between 30 and 40. It is hard to tell the number. We could not see them 
aU. Tliey retired from the ki'aal as soon as the white men fired the shots. That was 
about 3 to 4 o’clock in the afternoon. The Matebele then cleared out and ran away. 
No, they never came back again. They had come from Magaraoli’s, where they had 
tneir scherms built. They had been to Mazibibis kraal as well. The Matebele killed 
three of my people, and wounded three. There were nine females, women and girls, 
taken awav. 

The Matebele Averc at mv kraal on tliat afternoon, saving: ** Come out, we want to 
kill you.” 

The killing of men and canying off of women took place the day the}' arrived in the 
country. The Avomen have ne\"er come back. They are in Madlodhli’s district, near 
the Insinda. 

MA* kraal is on a stone kopje, and the Matebele Avere besieging it on the day^ the 
Avhite men Avent out. My kraal is close to the place where the Avhite men pursued the 
Matebele. We could see the Avhite men from my kopje. 

There were only three proper Matebele shot, Umgandan and two others. The 
others Avere dogs. Ilieard there were about 20 of them killed. I saAV four dead 
bodies. 

liis 
M.AKOO.AIBI -f- 

mark. 
Witness, 

J. S. BR.4B.ANX. 

Bnclosuro No. 4. 

PALAPYE. 

ISth June 1894. 

Twenty-fourth Witness.—WILLFAM CHARLES WILLOUGHBY, Missionary of the London 
Missionary Society, at Palapye. 

I do not know the actual writer of the letter, and hai’-e never known his name. And 
I cannot honourably furnish the name of the man who showed it me. I saiv part of 
the original letter, and am absolutely certain it was a genuine letter. I am under the 
impression it Avas a family letter, certain portions of Avhich probably were passages which 
it AVas undesirable for an outsider to see. 

{Exl/rad read from the liev. W. WUloughby's letter, re ,Dr. Jamesou ordering imp 
across hol’d jr.)—I have no doubt that was the expression in the letter; although the 
distance to the frontier Avas probably not mentioned. The Avhole of the account in my 
letter is taken down from memory, after hearing the letter read. I listened Avith the 
object of making notes, I road parts of it myself. Very much of the language 
probably closely resembles that of the letter. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 80



37 

{IMmd about » quarterremark is taken from the letter, and I made it 
tlie more readily because of other information received from other sources, for inscanco, 
the plea of the Chiefs to Lobengula, mentioned in the preceding paragraph, when ho 
charged them with allowing their men to be shot down without offering resistance. I 
have lived much amongst natives worse than the Matebele. I have ifo experience as 
to giving quarter by natives in war; except that I heard that when Khama’s foim-ht 
Selika’s, he gave quarter. The attitude described of the Matebele warrior is taken 
from the letter. If there is a pa.ssage which closely resembles the lano-uao-e of the 
letter, it is that one. ° "" 

Ue statement from Aratebeleland (previous paragraph of Willoughbvs letter). I 
think—I am sure, I heard that from iS'atives, or from white men from Matebeleland. 
I took a great deal of trouble to verify all I said. !N^o one writing from here on that 
date (16th October) could have sent more carefully—acquired information than I did. 
Had I been seeking to send sensational news there was plenty here I could have for- 
Avarded ; but it was not sufficiently authenticated I could not give the name of the 
Chief in command, but I heard it at the time. I heard nothing more than what is said 
there as to the shooting of the sick Induna. 

I know nothing more of the Victoria affair than what I have said on the 16th 
October. How I can reconcile two contradictory statements about the entrance of the 
impi into the town. They entered the township according to map, but not according 
to actual buildings. The information I had abouc their not entering the town was from 
Hative sources. The Europeans probably meant within the boundaries of the township 
according to a map. 

(eJigned) W. C. AViLLOUGEmv- 

Twcnty-fifth Witness.—Jonx SMITH 1^1'OFFAT. 

{JUxiracti re quarter, read.)—think a Matebele might ask for quarter. In dealing 
w’ith Avhite men, it is likely. I cannot say they would adopt that attitude as described! 
I think they Avould put up their hands. I have seen a Matebele, AVIICU pursued, turn 
round and hold up his hands, to shoAv he had nothing. I do not think a Matebele 
would give quarter. I think he would ask for it from a white man; he w'ould believe in 
a white man’s Avillingness to spare him. 

The capture of cattle, as between two tribes, is certainly a declaration of war. The 
capture of white men’s cattle and keeping it by Matebele Avould also be so. The 
Matebele would think himself liable to be fired upon, and open to reprisals. 

(Signed) J. S. MOFF.AT. 

Enclosure 5. 

From NEWTON, Special Commissioner, Victoria Inquiry, to W. S. B.ISTARU, C/O Gh. 
Southey (to be forwarded), Culmstock, Middleburg Hoad. 

23rd. Have just returned from Victoria. Am still getting evidence where possible 
on Victoria incident. I should be much obliged if you could give me your evidence, 
either personally or by affidavit sworn before a magistrate. I should be glad, if you 
would state Avhat you know as to wliat passed at indaba on IStli July before patrol 
went out, when Doctor Jameson ivarned ManyoAv, and also the full account of the 
patrol under Captain Lendy, especially on following points: What were Matabele 
doing when hostilities actually commenced ? Who fired the first shot? Did Matabele 
resist? Did you see them fire back? Was quarter asked by any Matabele to your 
knowledge and refused. Did you see anything of a sick Induna being carried, and 
alleged to have been shot? I think an affidavit dealing with these points Avould be 
sufficient. Will you post it to me at Vryburg ? 

E 3 
E. J. HEWTON. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 81



38 

Before mo, OiiAiiT/US SOUTIIEV, Jusbico of Peace, appeared AVILLUUI S. BASTARD, wlio 
being duly sworn says : — 

On July ISbli, 1893, felieMatebele impi, about 2,000 in number, were encamped about 
nine miles from A^icfcoria, and were besieging a Masbuna kraal,, called Makoombi’s. 
Dr. Jameson bad tbc previous day sent out to them, to request tbo leading Indunas to 
come in and interview him. At about 10 a.iii. on tbo 18tb July, tbe Xndunas and 
about 20 followers were seen approacbhig : tbey were escorted by tbe police just outside 
Fort Victoria, tbc Matebelc having left tbeir arms in tbe veldt. Dr. Jameson asked 
them wbat they were doing in the- white men s country. They replied that tbey knew 
of no border between tbe countries, and that tbe}*^ bad been sent out by tbeir King, 
Lobengula, in order to punish tbe Masbunas for stealing tbe King's cattle, but that 
tbeir King bad instructed them, not to barm the wliite men. Dr. Jameson replied, 
that they were liars ; tbe King bad not sent them, and they Av^ere to leave tbe country 
at once, and if they did not leave, bis young men Avould drive them; and finally gaA'e 
them one hour to leave the country. Dr. Jameson then got up and tbe indaba A\-as 
ovcj*. As tbe Matebele were dispersing, Mr. Brabant beard tbe Induna, second in 
lunk, Umgandan, say, ‘'Vo must drive them.” Orders Avere shortly afterA\*ards given 
for all aA'ailable mounted men to get ready for active sei’A-ice. Thirty-eight men in all 
were mustered. And one hour and forty minutes after notice was given, tbe party 
rode off, in the direction of Makoombi’s laual, under tbe leadership of Captain LendA^ 
The column proceeded at a walk by half sections, and proceeded for about one hour 
and a half, Avheii Sergeant Kennellj with a section of four men Avas sentforAvard as an 
advance guard, keeping in front of tbe main body about .500 yards. Tbe Matebelc 
when first seen, about 60 in number, Avere in small parties, some Avere sitting doAvn at 
tbe foot of a kopjie, and others Avere driAung on toAvards MakoombXs 10 oxen branded D, 
belonging to a transport rider, called Dunscombe. Immediately they AA*ere sighted. 
Captain Lendy gave the order to commence firing, which Avas sounded on tbe bugle. 
Tbe main body commenced to charge, and tbe advance party commenced firing. I was 
riding near Bergeaiit Fitzgerald, and saAv a Matabele fire steadily at liiin, at 50 yards, 
giAung him a narrow escape. The men Avere at this time A*eiy much scattered;, and a 
dropping fire was going on in different directions, Avlien Captain Lendy caused the 
“ cease tiring” and “ assembly” to sound, and the affair was OA'er. 

I neither saw nor beard of a Matebele asking for quarter. Kor did I see or bear, 
any repoi.c of a sick Induna baAdiig been shot, AA’bicb report I believe to be Avbolly 
false. 

Before me, 
CHARLES SOUTIIEA', .T.P. 

(Signed) 'W. S. BASTARD. 

Enclosure Ko. G. 

From KEWTO.N' to SPUKCKLEV, A^ictoria. 

27th.—^Alany thanks for sending on things, and all your trouble. I am anxious to 
get evidence of AA'eil, employed at AlaSbonaland Agency. He AA^as trumpeter to patrol 
at A'ictoria on 18tb. AVill you ask him to make a statement by affidavit before you as 
to AA'bab be saAv, beard, and <did on that occasion, and particularly oh following 
questions:—AA'lio fired first sbok? Did be bear shot fired before “ Commence firing ” 
AA'as sounded 1 Did be sound '‘Commence firing” more Iban once? AVboAvaswitb 
Captain Lendy Avben be gaA'e tbe order ? Ploaso send copy of this telegram and 
of AVeil’s statement to Galdicott. I have inforraed him I am askinsr YOU to do 
this. 

F. J. NEWTO.V. 

From AGTIKG ADMUVISTRATOK, Salisbury, to KEWTON, Vryburg. 

lOtb.—A’^our Aviro received. AV^’cll’s statement as folloAvs;— 
I, Manse! EdgeAVcil, of Victoria, in tbc territory of Masbonaland, make oath and say as 

folloAVS: (1)1 am at present in the employ of tbo Victoria District Gold Mining Company 
at Fern Spruit. (2) On tbo 18tb July last year, Avbcn tlic Matebele Avero raiding in the 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 82



House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 83



ENC LOSURE 8. 

MOCOMOLE'S KRAAL 
fMashoTLa) 

TIN. 

KRAAL 
fojh'hjonw) 

VICTORIA 

Wyindn ItSons.L’M'kIi.fiJ Cj-ko* l>'‘ 
6361-8-S^ 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved, 

Page 84



39 

V 

iioiglibourliood ot Victoria, I was m ibo service of fche British South Africa Oompanv 
at, foiestoi, and w^as prcsqiifc at the interview Dr. Jameson had ivith tho Induna^s on 
that date. (3} I have a fair knowledge of the Matehelo language. I heard Mantmw 
asked by Dr- Jameson if it was true that he had lost control of his youno- men M-in 
yoAv replied that such was the case. Dr. Jameson then told him, he h?d bettor edear 
with his oW men and he (Dr. Janioson) would look after the young ones. Dr. Jameson 
finall} told them that he would give them one hoiit to make a move in the direction of 
the border the interpreter indicatirig by the sun ivhat an hour was. Tho Indunas 
then left, Dm^andan, who had been insolent throughout tho interview assuuiim^- a 

tni^atening attitude as he went away. (4) It was fully two hours after the departure 
of |he Indunas that the patrol under L/aptain Bendy left to see that Dr. Jameson’s 
orders had been obeyed. I ivas rvith the patrol as triinipcter. About three miles from 
camp I heard shots bred ahead, and immediately two or three of the advance cniard 
i-eturned and reported having seen a number of i\ratebele and having been iirod upon 
^e pak-ol at once cantered iii? to the advance guard and firing then commenced on 
both sides, our men becoming scattered in all directions. I did not hear Captain 
Lendy give tne order to “ commence firing, ’ nor did I sound it. Captain Lendv and 
myse f, with two or three of the police who were in the roar of the patrol, remained 
near the spot where tjie firing commenced. As far as I can remember the police Avero 

A Chalk. I remember leceiving the order to sound the “ Cease fire ” and Assembly fromOaptam Lendy, two or three minutes after the firing commenced 

1 sounded contimionsly for about five minutes; in that time the men assembled, and 
Ave returned to camp. (5) I did not think at the time that more than a dozen Matcbelc 
Avere snot. 

cj IP ^ ^ - 1 • , (Signed) M. E. IYEALE. Sworn before me at Victoria this 30th day of June 1S94. 

(Signed) J. A. SPKECKLKV, 
Acting Besident iSIagistralc. 

Enclosure 5fo. 7. 

LIST OF PATROL. 

Dead. Wiinesses'. Al)-cnt- 

Lciuly, Captain K.A. (in com- 
inaud. 

J)illon, U. S. A. Co. Police. 
J’itzgcrald, Scrg«:int ;uid Acting 

Adjui^int li. iS. A. Co. Police. 
.Tndd, A'oluntcer. 
Kirton ,, 
llolxjrtson „ 
Welby „ 

Bnabaiit, J. S., Sergeant, Victoria Pangers. 
Brook, V'oliinteen 
Chalk, T. A., Co]our-.Sergeanfc B. .S. A. Co. 

J?olice. 
I)re«', A., attaciicd to Police, clerk. 
Bekstein, J. W., A'olnntcer farmer. 
Forast.'ill, P., Volunteer, farmer. 
Glo.ng, K, Corpora , Victon.a Rangens. 

, Kcimclly. W. P., Sergeant, A'ictoria Rangers, 
contractor. 

Lloyd, II. Iv., Corporal, Vicloria Rangers, 
hotel-keeper. 

Bapier, AV., Captain, A’'olnn(ccr, merchant. 
; Neal, Volunteer, pro-^pector. 

I’ossclt, TL, A’^olnnteer, fanner. 
Slater .T. A., Volunteer, auctioneer. 
Stoke.*!, U. I/., A’^oluntecr, Manager ^fasliona- 

land Agency. 
. Strpyan, R Me., In.spcctoi-, B- S. A, Co. Police. 

Weir, P. \V., A’’olimleer, merchant. 

I Evidence on Atlidavit. 

Behan. 
Bc/.uidcniiont. 

■ Brown. 
Campbell. 
Clark. 
Davis. 
Drcyer. 
Dunn. 
Durden, B. S. A. Polict*. 

, Everard. 
' Harris. 

Harrell. 
Long. 
Long, II. 
Noclians. 
Omatra. 
Stead. 

, Stoddart. 
Swan. 
\Vallace. 

, AVare. 
i AVilliams. 

Bastard, ,f. S., Volmitecr. 
AA’ealc, M. E., Volunteer, Truihpctcr, forester, 

B. S. A. Co, 

Doubtful. 

Viljocu. 
jMcGecr. 

Ehclbsiife .hfo. '8'. 

HAI>. 

E 4 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 85



Enclosure No. 9. 

Si’KoiAL IssuK of the MASUONALAND TIMES containing full Particulars of the latest 
MATABELE PAID. 

Price Is. Victoria, Thursday, July 20th, 1893. Price Is. 

CONTENTS. 

The Topic of 'the Week 
A^ictoria under Arms - 
Garrison Orders 

1. 
2, 3. 
4, 5, 6. 

Public Meeting - - 7. 
Our Fighting Strength - 8. 
AJvs.* - - - 9,10. 

To^ic of the Weeh 

Space forbids any lengthy statement as to tlio present aspect of theMatabelo question 
Our opinions, fully expressed as far back as September last, have, from then until now, 
been repeatedly ridiculed by our Salisbury contemporary. Bight months ago, we 
stated what is now* proved true, namely, that theMatabele would daily become more and 
more impertinent, witb the result that during the last Aveek the}' have taken some 
hundreds of cattle from the Avhite man, first, in many instances, killing the Makalanga 
herds that Avere in charge. The presence of such a large body of natives as has 
recently been in the vicinity naturally causes alarm, Avhile the loss of Makalanga 
servants, Avho promptly leaA'e at the first prospect of trouble, means, at the least, mines 
shut doAvn, and business at a standstill. From a statement made by the Administrator 
and published on another page, it Avill be seen that our opinions are noAv shared by both 
the Chartered Company as AVCII as the public. Events haA-e proved whether the 
credence placed in our statements by down-country journals has been “ misplaced.” 
To quote a favourite expression of the Editor of the Herald, he has certainly this time 
completed “ the reductio ad absurdum,” of the Avhole question. 

A^ICTORTA UNDER ARMS. 

From the time when the British >South Africa Company’s force first entered Mashona- 
land, Matabele “ scares,” have been of frequent occurrence. AVithin the last 10 days, 
A'ictoria has been in a state Avhich, to a stranger, Avould appear to imply that there Avas 
something more in the air than the usual rumour. On Sunday the 9th instant, there 
appeared in the neighbourhood of Victoria, an impi of Matabele, the numbers o^' w'hich 
are vaiiously reported at anything betAveen three and six thousand. To commence the 
story at the beginning, about a month ago, a small party of Matabele made a raid on 
Bara’s kraal, .situated about 14 or 15 miles to the North-west. Captain Lendy, E.M. 
of the district, immediately left Avitli a party of police, and interviewed the maraudo s, 
Avho then informed him bnat it Avas Lo Bengula’s intention to send a large irapi to 
thoroughly wipe out the Makalangas, Avhom the King accuses of crossing theMatabele- 
land border about 25 miles west of Victoria, and stealing cattle from outlying Matabele 
posts. Captain Lendy gaA^c the ieader of this party a letter to Lo Bengula, and on the 
8tli in.stant, received a reply, forwarded from BulaAvayo by runners to Palapye, and 
thence by telegraph, stating that although a strong party was to be despatched to punish 
these Makalangas, the Induna in charge had strict instructions not in any Avay to molest 
the white man or to touch his property. 

On Saturday, farmers in the neighbourhood saAV the M.akalangas running in all direc- 
tions driving their cattle to the mountains. On Sunday afternoon, Victoria Avas 
disturbed from its accustomed sleepy condition by the andval of Natives seeking 
protection from their enemies the Matabele. In the vicinity, Avithin a mile of camp, 
might be seen small wandering parties on the Avatch for the fleeing Makalanga, Avhile, 
in the distance, the rising smoke proclaimed that the raiders had adopted their usual 
course of Avholesale destruction, burning kraals, crops, and all else that came in their Avay. 
Bub a tew minutes had elapsed before the Besident Magistrate with a party of police 
had interviewed the parties near the camp. One and all told the same tale, that their 

* Nol. priniwl. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 86



41 

Induna >v.ouid cpmc ia next morning witli a leUor from tlie King wliicli would explain 
all. Under .the; circumstances, it seemed that; something more than mere explanation 
was wanted. Taking into consideration the proximity of the Matabole and their large 
numbers, as learnt from the reports of the fugitives. Captain Lendy wisely determined 
to have everything iii readiness in case of attack. Gatling and Maxim guns were 
mounted, and everything that could bo Was done. Messrs. Porrestall, Diiiistablo, 
Brooks, and many others reported los.s of cattle. Volunteers in readiness all night. 

Monday.T^Kraals burning all round during night. Captain Lendy with 26 men rode 
out to Matabele ; about nine miles away fell in with a party of some hundreds; loaders 
stated that their “ boss ” Induna had gone intO'Cainj) with letter. On return Lendy 
saw Induna, who produced letter from Lo Beiigula, requesting resident magistrate to 
give up Makalakas who had stolen cattle. Lendy said would do so after proper trial. 
Induna left promising to send back white men’s cattle. Bugitivo Makalakas clearing 
through camp, a gO(M number found assegaied around camp. 

Tuesday.—Patrols and guards all da}* and night. Kraals still burning. Burghers 
held meeting and elected otHcers (sea page 44). 

Wednesdaijy Thursdayy Friday.—^Prospectors and farmers come in from all parts. On 
parade Lendy states that men are turning out smarter on sound of alarm. B very one 
sleeps at his post. 

Saturday.—Various rumours afloat. Everyone wants to light, and anxiously waiting 
for Dr. Jameson. 

Sunday.—^Rev. Sylvester, as military chaplain, holds service after parade for inspec- 
tion of arms. The rev. gentleman stood on ammunition cases, and said that the soi:s 
cf Ham would all he cleared out. He considered the Chartered Company had not 
quite forgotten its duty, it had left us four walls to get behind. Cricket match in 
afternoon. 

Monday.—^Dr. Jameson and Lieutenant Hapier arrived. Everybody surprised and 
pleased at the doctor’s attitude. Sergeant Chalk left witli escort to inform the 
Matabele that “ the great "White Chief ordered their Indunas to come to an indaba.” 
Fellows cheer the Officer Commanding eveiy opportunity. Everyone full of military 
ardour. Mounted troop of 50 men inspected. 

Tuesday.—The Administrator’s action successful. Hklatabele indunas arrive. Dr. 
Jameson asks no question, simply, tells them to clear within an hour or he will make 
them. One Induna reraarkalily impertinent. Two hours later mounted party under 
Lendy ride after Matabele; fall in with about 150 of the enemy who promptly clear, 
30 being killed, including the impertinent Induna; no white man killed or wounded. 

Wednesday.—^Mounted troop report Matabeles cleared from neighbourhood. 

THE COMPANY’S POLICY. 

Dr. Jameson informs us that, although no details of the Company’s intended action 
can yet bo published, he is now in communication with Lo Bengula, and that the 
strongest measures will be taken to make Lo Bengula understand that these impis 
must now cease‘to come over our border. G-reat satisfaction is felt at Dr. Jameson’s 
action. 

GAKIHSON ORDEUS. 

By Captain G; F. LENbYi Officer Commanding. 

Orderly Officer, Lieutenant DAIRS. 

Orderly Sergeant, Sergeant SU.MMERS. 

Victoria, llth July, 1893. 

(1.) All. guards to fall in inside the Barrack Square at 11 p.m. daily. 
(2.) The volunteers will fui’nish a mounted patrol tomight, to leave camp at 3 a.ra,, 

and patrol from east to west north of the hospital, returning 6.30 a.m. 
(3.) The burghers still furnish a guard of eight men to b® stationed at the 

Bmehekwe Drift,, double sentries to bo posted and relieved every two hours, also eight 
men fo be stationed at tfmshagashi Drift. 

u 831G0. F ’ • - : .1 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 87



(4.) lii case of any umisual occurrence tlio non-commissioned officer in charge of 
guards will send one man to the Court House to report. Should the alarm sound, men 
will at once tako up positions allotted to them. 

(Signed) I*. TITZGERALD, 

Acting Adjutant. 

Victoria, 12th July 1893. 

Orderly Officer, Lieutenant BRETT. 

Orderly Non-commissioned Officer, Sergeant SMITII. 

(1.) The police will find a mounted patrol to leave Camp at 11 p.m. and return at 
2 a.m. 

(2.) The Volunteers will find patrol of four mounted men; parade 2 a.m. 
(3.) The burghers w-ill find gate guard of six men. 
(4.) Heveille Avill be sounded at 6.30 a.m. unless the assembly and alarm be 

previously sounded, in Avhich case all will double to the fort and take up allotted 
positions. 

(5.) In case of alarm men will take up positions wthout unnecessary noise or delay. 
(6.) All duties to parade inside the Barrack Square. 
(7.) After the sounding of the alarm no man will be allowed to leave the Barrack 

Square without permission. 
(8.) Parade for inspection of arms daily at 5 p.m., everyone to attend. 

(Signed) F. FITZGERALD, 

Acting Adjutant. 

Victoria, 13th July, 1893. 

Orderly Officer, Lieutenant DAIRS. 

Orderly Non-commissioned Officer, Sergeant B. A. SLATER. 

(1.) Caution is hereby given to all under arms that on no account are their rifles to 
be loaded unless in face of the enemy, or by order of the officer commanding. 

(2.) The burghers wdll furnish for to-night a gate guard, consisting of one 
non-commissioned officer and six men. 

(3.) The Victoria Bangers will furnish a mounted patrol consisting of four men to 
leave Camp at 3 a.m. and return at 6 a.m. 

(Signed) T. A. CHALK, 

Acting Adjutant. 

Victoria, 14th du/y ^593. 

Orderly Officer, Sergeant KENNELLY. 

Orderly Non-commissioned Officer, Sergeant J. V. "WILLIAMS. 

(1.) The police will furnish a mounted patrol of four mon to parade at 11 p.m. 
(2.) The burghers will furnish a' mounted patrol of four men to leave Camp at 

2 a.m. and return at 6.30 a.m. 
(3.) The Victoria Bangers will furnish a main guard of one non-commissioned officer 

- and six mon to parade at 11 p.m. 
(4.) Until further orders everybody will sleep within the precincts of the Barracks. 
(5.) The burghers will furnish a picquet of one non-commissioned officer and six 

men to parade at 9 p.m. 
(6.) Last post will sound at 11 p.m. by which time every inhabitant must be within 

the precincts of the barrack square. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 88



43 

(7i) There ^vill be the usual parade for the inspection of arms and accouti’ements 
to-morrow at 5 p.m. 

(Signed) F. FITZOERALDJ 

Acting-Adjutant. 

After Order, 

(1.) Any persons going sick will report themselves to their troop orderly non- 
commissioned officer who will report to the military surgeon (Dr. Lichfield) who will 
attend. 

Victoria, loth July 1893. 

Orderly Officer, Captain JfESBiTi'. 

Orderly Sergeant, Sergeant P. H. BROWN. 

(1.) The Victoria Rangers will furnish a mounted patrol of four men to parade at 
11 p.m. and return at 2.30 p.m.* 

(2.) The burghers will furnish a mounted patrol of four men to parade at 2.30 a.m. 
and return at 6.30 a.m. 

(3.) The burghers will furnish a main guard for the night cousisting of one non- 
commissioned officer and six men, and a - icket consisting of one non-commissioned 
officer and six men. Picket to parade at 9 p.m. 

(4!) The police ^vill Tarnish a patrol (mounted) to leave camp at 7 a.m. 
(5.) Gunner Rixon is promoted to lance-sergeant from this date. 
(6.) Captain Lord Henry Paulet having arrived, is taken on the strength, and 

assumes command of the Volunteers. 
(7.) The T.O. non-commissioned officers will see that all prisoners get blankets 

and rations. 
(8.) The 0. non-commissioned officers will attend orderly room at 10 a.m. 

daily. 
(9.) Any man wishing to draw rations will parade in front of the orderly room 

daily. 
(10.) No man will be allow'ed to leave camp without permission fi’om the officer 

commanding, 
(11.) Troopers Forrestali, Campbell, and Collyer, are detailed t6 assist Sergeant 

Brabant in Native Contingent. 
(12.) Until further orders first post will be sounded at 9.30 p.m. and last post at 

10 p.m. 
(Signed) F. FITZGERALD, 

Acting Adjutant. 

By Captain F. C, LENDV, Officer Commanding. 
Victoria, 16th July 1893. 

Captain of the day. Captain NESBITT*. 

Orderly Sergeant, Sergeant FIRMIN. 

(1.) The burghers will furnish a mounted patrol of four men to parade at 11 p.m. 
and return at 2.30 a.m., and a mounted patrol of four men to parade at 2.30 a.m. and 
return at 6.30 a.m. 

(2.) The Victoria Bangers will furnish a main guard of one non-commissioned 
officer and nine men to parade at 11 p.m. 

(Signed) F. FITZGERALD, 

Acting Adjutant. 

Victoria, 17th July 1893. 

Orderly Officer, Lieutenant BASTARD. 

Orderly Sergeant, Sergeant KENELLT. 

(1.) The Victoria Bangers will furnish a mounted patrol of four men to parade at 
11 p.m. and return at 2.30 a.m. 

• Sic. (\y, “a.m.” 

F 2 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 89



44 

(2.) The burghers will furnish a mounted patrol to parade at 2.30 a.m. and' to 
return at 6,30, a.m. 

(3.) The burghers will furnish a main guard of one non-commissioned officer and 
nine men to parade at li p.m. 

(4.) Men Avho have l)een told oft’ to horses are to liold themselves and horses in 
readiness to leave at a moment’s notice.' 

(Signed) F- FITZGERALD, . 

Acting Adjutant. 

Victoria, 18th July 1893. 

Orderly Officer, Lieutenant HATiEEi.' 

Orderly Sergeant, Sergeant MCPHERSON. 

(1.) The burghers will furnish a mounted patrol of four men to parade at 11 p.m 
and to return at 2.30 a.m. 

(2.) The Victoria Rangers will furnish a mounted patrol of four men to parade at 
2.30 a.m. and to return at G.30 a.m. 

(3.) The Victoria Rangers will furnisli a main guard of one noh-epmmissioned officer 
and nine men to parade at 11 p.m. 

(4.) The Victoria Rangers wdll furnish a gate guard to parade at 7 p.ni, until 9 p.m. 
(5.) Men desiring to receive rations are to give in their names to Trooper Pease.at 

the orderly room at 10.30 a.m. to-morrow. 
(Signed) F, FITZGERALD, 

Acting Adjutant; 

Victoria, 19th July 1893. 

Orderly Officer, Lieutenant DAIRS. ^ 

Orderly Sergeant, Sergeant II. SMITH. 

(1.) The Victoria Rangers will furnish a mounted patrol of four men to parade at 
11 p.in. and to return at 2.30 a.m. 

(2.) The burghers will furnish a mounted patrol of four men to parade at 2.30 • 
and to return at 6.30 a.m. 

(3.) Sergeant Kenefty is promoted to be Acting Lieutenant of the right 
Victoria Rangers from date. Corporal Hurrell is promoted to be Acting Lieutenant 
of the left wing of Victoria Rangers from date. Dr. Lichfield is appointed Surgeon 
Major of the garrison from this date. 

(4.) No fires will be permitted within the compound^ except in the camp kitchens. 
No slops will be allowed to be emptied within the compound, except in the pails 
provided for that purpose. No water is to be used from the tanks or barrels after 
5 p.m. 

(5.) Corporals McPherson and "Wynnstanlcy are promoted to sergeants from this 
date. 

(6.) Fort Quartermaster Sergeant McHattie is appointed Garrison Fort Quarter- 
master Sergeant and will attend stables. 

(Signed). NEIL A. SWAN, 

G.R.S.-M., for Acting Adjutant. 

l^OBLic MEETING. 

A public meeting of the inhabitants of Victoria, and district, was held on Saturday 
the 15th instant, in the Market Square. 

Mr. B. A. Slater, speaking from a waggon, said that the meeting had been called to 
ask Dr. Jameson what protection farmers, prospectors, traders, and others might expect 
from tho Company. The speaker said, that had not Captain Lendy acted -he hadj 
we-might, all have been killed in a moment. (Here three cheers were given for Captain 
Lendy.) He trusted that on the arrival of Dr. Jamoson all would support Captain Lendy. 
They should ask for proper protection, and sco that they got it. He asked anyone who 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 90



45 

had losb cattle to com© to the committee which would be formed, and prove their lo%s. 
They must not be afraid to speak up. Ho also referred to the fact of certain 
Makalangas being killed under our very eyes. 

At this point it was proposed by Mr. Whiteman, and duly carried, that Mr. E. A. 
Slater be chairman, which post he accepted. 

Mr. J. Stoddart was called for to speak on behalf of the mining iudustiy. On rising, 
he said it was impossible for them to lose their time at this, the dry season of the year. 
He maintained that the volunteers should be properly equipped, that the Company should 
see that their cattle -were returned, and that the standing police force should be greatly 
increased. Mr. Dunsterville, in course of a speech in which he occasionally wandered 
from the subject, said that he believed the Company, under their Charter, was obliged 
to keep up an efficient police force. He asked where they were. If this present state 
of affairs "was allowed to blow* over, where -would they get for their boysj, or -whore 
would they get their boys to -work the mines. The fact ot tlic Matebele passing through 
the camp -was simpl}’^ a challenge to the -white man. They dared not do it, unless they 
had permission from Lo Bengula. Dr, Jameson must settle the Matebele question at 
once, now and for ever. 

At the conclusion of meeting, tlu-ee cheers -«'ere again given for Captain Lendy. 

The following comprise the committee elected:— 

E. A- Slater, Chairman. 
J. Clarke (representing Traders). 
Diinsterville (Transport Hidors). 
— Keed (Farmers). 
— S-wift (Mechanics). 
— Hamilton (Secretary). 

THE FIGHTING STATE OF VICTORIA. 

Commanding Officer, Captain C. 

The Victoria Eangers. 

Captain Lord Henry Paulet. 
Lieutenant I^apier. 

„ Bastard. 
„ Kennelly. 
„ Hurrall. 

Paymaster, G. 11. Vigers (Captain). 
Surgeon-Major, J. W. Lichfield. 
Chaplain, Eev. A. D. Sylvester. 
Acting Adjutant, F. Fitzgerald (Captain). 
E.S.-M., Neil A. Swan. 

94 non-commissioned officers and men. 

F. Lendy, Eesident Magistrate. 

The Victoria Burgher Force. 
Commandant J'udd. 

A. Troop.—Captain Nesbitt. 
Lieutenant Weir, P. V. 

„ Slater, B. A. 
B. Troop.—Captain Sampson. 

Lieutenant Wynnstanley. 
„ Harrison. 

C. Troop.—Captain 0. Dairs. 
Lieutenant. 

„ Purssell. 
223 non-commissioned officers and men. 

In addition to the above, arras have been served out to about 75 men, who are not 
on the roster of either the volunteers or burghers. There are therefore about400 white 
men properly armed in camp. All trustworthy Cape Boys and Indians have also been 
armed and placed under the command of Sergeant Brabant, the Court Interpreter. The 
artillery troop, under Sergeant-Major Eeid, who has had experience through the Zulu 
War, is in charge of one Gatling and two Maxim guns. The horses in camp number 82. 
A barbed wire entanglement has been made all round the fort, platforms built from 
which men can fire over the walls, a hospital, attended by the three Victoria- Sisters and 
Mother Clare, established; all arrangements made for a proper food and water supply, 
and the distances marked off in all directions round the fort white flags. The police, 
numbering seven men under Sergeant Chalk, have not had a whole night, or even half, 
in bed during the last 10 days; and, while all have, we think, done their duty 
willingly, the Officer Commanding, the Police, and the Adjutant, have certainly done 
the hardest work. 

F 3 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 91



House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 92



47 

PART II. 

C 0 II11E S P 0 N :D E N C E 

IN CONNEXION WITH 

ME. E. J. NEWTON’S REPORT. 

No. 1. 
Siu H. B. LOCH to the MARQUESS OF lUPON.* 

(Received August 1, 1893.) 

Government House, Cape Town, 
MY LOUD H.IKQUESS, July 12, 1893. 

I ii.wE the lionour to enclose, for your Lordship's information, a copy of a 
telegram from Dr. Jameson to Dr. Harris, on the subject of a raid by the Marabelc near 
Victoria. 

(Sigiid^)^'^’ liENIlY B. LOCH, 
Governor and High Commissioner. 

O 

Enclosure in No. 1. 

COPY of TELEGRA.M from Du. J.VMESO.V, Salisbury, to Du. HARUIS, (Jiartor, Cape Town, 
dated July iOth, 1S93. 

Exaggerated reports about jMatabele, near Victoria, sure to reach Colony; so that 
you may contradict, give you full text. To-day a large Impi sent by Lobengula to 
punish .Mashonas for theft, some came near Victoria, and while Lendy wiring me about 
it, I received the following telegram from Colcnbrandcr, Zicg-rw.v:—As you will, no doubt, 
" have heard from Captain Lendy, the King had some of his cattle stolen by Beres 
“ people near Victoria. The King now wi.shcs me to let you know that he is sending a 
“ large force to punish Bores and others for various reasons, and to tell 3'ou that he has 
“ had special messengers despatched yesterday^ to Lend}* telling him of his intentions, 
“ and asking Lend}- and the people there not to he scared, as the expedition was not 
“ against the white to whom he is friendly and has had no cause of complaint, and that 
“ he has told his people not to molest an}' white man they might meet. 1 may add that 
“ whilst I was away yesterday at Hope Fountain to engage runners, the King in the 
“ meantime had secured them himself, and, f being away, would not wait, and asked 
“ Dawson to write for me, and I trust this will reach Lend}- in time; my private opinion 
“ is that the king intends to punish the recent wire cutters, as a fairl}' large force has 
“ been sent to punish the offenders.”—Fmds. I wired the following answer, begins:— 
“ Thank the King for his friendly message and tell him I have nothing to do with his 
" punishing his own Mahblis, but must insist that his Iinpis arc not allowed to cross the 
“ border agreed on between us. He not being there, the}’ arc not under control, and 
“ Captain Lendy informs me that some of them have actually been in the town of 
“ Victoria, burning kraals within a few miles, and killing Mashonas who arc servants of 
“ the white men; also that they have captured some cattle of the Government and 

of other white men. I am now instructing Captain Lendy to seethe head Induna, 
“ tell him that those cattle must all be returned at once, and his Impi must retire 
“ beyond our agreed border, otherwise Captain Lendy is to take liis police and at once 
“ expel them, however many they arc. The King will sec the necessity of this, othcr- 
“ wise, the white men getting irritated, the expedition may never return to Buluwayo.” 
 EiidL Now the Victoria people naturally have got the jumps, volunteers called out, 
rifles distributed, &c. I have told Lendy to repeat King’s message and iny answer to 
the Induna, and use his tact to get rid of them without any collision, which 1 feel sure 
he can do, as the Impi is only too glad to run away from the whites ; at the same time 

* Keprinted from 0,—7J71, p. 50, 

F 4 
s 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 93



48 

to give confidence to the Victorians, last night it was necessary to give Lendy power to 
carry out ray message to the King, if absolutely necessary. Leiidy’s description of 
burning kraals, and Masiionas killed, of course, very harrowing, but that was at first 
blush and after sundown. Will wire you this morning when I hear from Lendy that 
they kave all cleared; have told Lendy to prevent exaggerated press telegrams. 

No. 2. 

SIR H. B. LOCH to the MARQUESS OF RIPONV= 
(Received August 7, 1893.) 

(Extract.) Government House, Cape Town, 
July 19, 1893- 

I H.\tK the honour to enclose, for your Lordship’s information, with reference to 
my despatch of the 12th instant,f a copy of correspondence on the subject of llie 
Matabele raid near Victoria. 

Enclosure in No. 2. 

From JAMESON, Victoria, to HIGH CO.MMISSIONER, Cape Town. 

TELEGRA.M. 

18th July.—I thank you for your telegram and feel sure your Excellency’s message 
to Lobengula will prevent any general disturbance. The Indunas arrived after 1113- last 
telegram; after some conversation, during which they’ would not consent to return 
bey’ond the border, I told them I would give them an hour to retire, and if they did not 
would send my men to drive them out as I had informed the King. At the stated time. 
Captain Lendy, with thirty-eight mounted men, rode out, found about 300 still on 
commonage; these fired on Lendy’s party, Lendy then fired and pursued for about nine 
miles; a few men were killed, including two head men. Lendy has now returned; no 
casualties ; I believe the whole lot will now return to Matabeleland and further raiding 
cease. We are taking all due precautions in case of any returns, wiiich I do not 
anticipate. 

No. 3. 

Dr. JAMESON, Victoria, to BRITISH SOUTH AFRICA COMPANY, 
Cape Town.J 

(Dated July 22, 1893.) 

TELEGRAPHIC. 

You ask for details of Matabele troubles. I will now give them for the last two 
years, that y-ou may understand how we have done our utmost to avoid collision. 
Early last year, a Matabele impi raided Loraagunda, killing Chief and large numbeis 
of men, and taking women and children to slavery. Being far away, oiir police were 
too late to prevent, but I sent warning message to Lobengula; later last year, when 
I was here, some fugitive Makalaka came to me, asking protection against a large 
Matabele impi who were killing and raiding Chibi and other kraals across our Tuli road. 
I sent police, who interviewed impi, and sent them away again; I sent severe message 
to Lobengula; alway.<5 the same answer, that some cattle had been stolen, and his impi 
was not to interfere witli white men. A month ago Mashona reported to Captain Lendy 
raiding Matabele across our border; Captain Lendy with police went out, and impi 
retired. Lendy sent letter by them to Lobengiila, reminding him of my messages, that 

* Reprinted from C.—717J, p. 52. ■}■ "No. 1. 
t Enclosure ia Sir H. Looli’s Despatch of July 26, 1893 (received August M, 1893), No. 62 in C.—7171. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 94



49 

C 

his men must keep beyond border. Lobeii’s answer was that he was sending a large 
impi to punish Mashonas, but again that they were not to interfere with w.hite; tin’s is 
the impi which has given the present trouble, and whicii is still encamped just beyond 
the border. Last Sunday week, its presence was first announced by a number cf 
Makalakas from a kraal on the commonage nishing into Victoria for protection. Two 
of these Avere killed between the hospital and the church, and several others in the 
streets of Victoria before the police got out to drive the Matabclc off. The garden 
boy of the English clergyman, Sylvester, ran away; Sylvester, looking for him, found 
him assegaied about a mile out of town. Altogether about 20 were killed in Victoria. 
Captain Lendy informs me, in ever}- kraal for miles around Victoria, men, women, and 
children have been murdered, cattle and grain taken away, and what could not be 
earned off burnt. V'hen Lendy with mounted party drove off the impi the other 
day they found them encamped round a kraal on a kopje, cutting off the water supply. 
It seems this is their method; not to attack a dangerous place, but to starve them out 
for water, and then b-alcher. As a specimen of the abject condition they have reduced 
these natives to, on 1113- wa}*^ down here, Avhen outspanned, some Mashonas came down 
from a kraal to talk, then Matabele reported from neighbouring koj)jes a sudden rush 
to their kopje, and placed a woman on a rock at some distance, hoping the Matabele 
would take her, and be content (o leave them alone. Captain Lend}' naturally had 
great difficulty in preventing the people fro:n firing on the Matabelcs. At the first 
outrage, he went out with his men and interviewed the indunas; these gave tUc usual 
talc. King’s orders to punish Mashonas, and not to interfere with white men; also to 
give up men, women, and children refugees. I instructed him to give up no women and 
children, but tell indunas he, as magistrate, Avould try men if they made accusations. 
Indunas were impertinent, and refused to remove impi. In meantime, I at once sent 
message to Lobengula that his impi Avas killing Avhite men’s servants and stealing 
GoA'crnment cattle, and that I had told Lendy to order them across the border, and, if 
ihcy did not go, drive tliem; thvii I came down, and found raiding and burning going 
on in all directions, even on the commonogc, in the kraals Avhere the Avhites principally 
get their servants; also passed large party of Matabclc carrying aA\-ay loot. I at once 
sent for indunas, AVIIO arrjA'cd next morning, ordered them to cross border at once, giving 
a short time to obey, and celling them 1 Avould drive them out if they did not; the rest 
you know. 

I think the High Commissioner and Mr. Rhode.s will agree that AA'C have gone as far 
as po.ssible to prcA'cnt a collision, and that further negotiating AA-OUM rather have preci- 
pitated than aA'cricd trouble. Three years of negotiations has only induced them to 
encroach more. Work is absolutely stopped, many Avaggons IiaA'c oti-loadcd machinery 
at Matipis and gone back to Middle l)rift; people and Govcrniucnt have lost large 
number of cattle, and I feel sure Avork Avill not be recommenced, or CA'cn transport 
carried along the roads till some definite action on our part is taken of going into 
Matabeieland to settle the cpiestion finally, which can easily be done by {sic) in 
Ma.shonaland alone. The clergy, Avhoni 1 have talked to freely, agree Avitli me on 
CA'cry point. 1 may add that, tiiough the people throughout Mashonaland arc now 
determined that sometiiing decisive must be done, they behaved Avitli great restraint 
in the beginning. In two instances, vouched for by Captain Lendy, piospcclors had 
tlieir small boys butchered beside them on their Avay into Victoria, and yet not a 
Matabele was fired at till after niy arrival here. 

No. 4. 

The MARQUESS OE RIPON to Sm H. B. LOCH.* 
[Answered hj No. 6.] 

SIR, UoAvuing Street, November 2, 1S93. 
IN the telegram from the Administrator of Mashonaland, dated the 18th of .July, 

a transcript of Avhich accompanied your Despatch of the 19th of July! last, it is stated 
that, after the Matabcles Avho had visited Victoria on the 18th ,luly had been Avarned to 
reiire, Captain Lendy, Avith 38 mounted men, had, under Dr. .Jameson’s orders, ridden 
out after them; that Captain Lendy found about 300 si ill on the commonage, 
and that these fired upon his party, and that Captain Lendy thereupon fired and 
pursued them. 

• Dcsp-atch reprinted from 0. [7290], p. 7. t “• 
K 83160. Gf 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 95



60 

Tv 

111 the telegram from Dr. Jameson to Lobcngiila of which a transcript, dated the 24th 
July, is enclosed in your Despatch of the 26‘ih July,"*' the Administrator states? tliat 
the police found ihe Matabcle encamped on the commonage, and that they actually fired 
on the police. 

It appears that the Malabelc, on their return to Buhiwayo, reported to Lobengula that 
they had been fired into as they were retreating, and had not tliemselvcs fired. 

Since these occurrences, several letters and extracts of letters, purporting to have been 
written by cye-wituesses who accompanied the party under Captain l4endy% have been 
published in various newspapers in this country and South Africa. 1 transmit to you, 
herewith, press cuttings with some of these extracts. 

These statements agree in an account o£ the incident in (juestion nmterially difterent 
from that adopted by Dr. Jameson, as it would appear from them that the Matabcle, to 
the number of about 60 or 70 men, were overtaken by Captain Lendy’s party six or 
seven miles from Tictoria in full retreat, and that they had not fired, or attempted 
resistance, ivhcn tiic police opened fire upon them. 

1 shall be glad if you will investigate the matter as soon as the conclusion of the 
present operations enables ymu to do so. 

I have. See. 
(Signed) III PON. 

Enclosure 1 in No. 4. 

EXTRACT from the “TI.MES,” iCtli October. 

The following are extracts from a private letter just received b\- a Swansea gentleman 
from his brother, wl'.o has a farm about three miles from Eort Victoria. It gives, as 
will be seen, the writer's experience.^ of the recent Matabcle raid, which Wiis the cause of 
the present disturbarice in Mashonaland :— 

“Eort Victoria, Aug. 10, 1S93.—On the morning of July 9, the Mahlahas, Mashona- 
land people, came to my farm and told me that the Matabcle were within six miles. 
They, the ^Inhlahas, were all flying to the mountains. I did not think much of it at 
the time, as they have never come, so close to Victoria before. Three boys Avhom I had 
working in the garden ran a-way, so I went out to sec if the cattle were all right. I found 
the herders had run away* also and the cattle had strayed. I collected all 1 could and 
took them home. F had not l;een half an hour at the house, when my Manqiiatoo boy 
told me the iMatabele were in sight. It was not lorn: Ixiforc about 1.50 of them were 
round my bouse. They were very civil and said they had strict orders from Lobengula 
not to touch the white man’s cattle or to interfere at all. While I Avas talking to them, 
my' boy told me he thought he recognised some of my cattle amongst a large herd 
which was being taken away\ I told the chief to send some boys to bring them back, 
but I thought it best to go myself 1 caught them up at a point v/hcrc the Head Chief 
had made his camp. He gave me up the cattle. On my -way back, I had great difficulty- 
in keej)ing the Matabcle I met from killing my* Manquatoo boy. They tried to make 
out he was a Makalaka. When I got back, I found that the cattle I had left at the 
house had been jumped. It was then getting dark, so I counted what I had left and 
found that I was 20 cows short, bc.'ides calves. I had bought all the cattle, 30 cows, 
two hulls, a few yearlings, and calves, just a week before this happened. The next 
morning I started for camp with everything. I found the camp in a state of fortification. 
All the farmers had lost cattle and were in to report their losses. .4ftcr breakfast 
Captain Lcndy- and about 20 men, of whom I was one, rode out to demand the cattle. 
The Chief promised they should be returned the following morning. Next morning 
there were no signs of them, so we waited all day, and in the evening Dr. Jameson, the 
administrator, arrived. The next morning he sent five police to tell the head induna to 
come to an indaba about midday. He came, and refused to give up the cattle until wc 
had given up the refugees who were in the town {i.e., Makalaka women and children), 
adding that he would not kill them in front of us, nor would he kill them in our river, 
but he would take them out of sight. The end of it was, Jameson told him he gave him 
an hour to give up the cattle and get over the border, and if they w'ere hot across by 
then wc should help them. At the end of the hour Captain Lcndy with 50 mounted 
men, started after them. I was riding an old crock that could liardly stand on its legs. 
We caught them up about six miles from camp, making for the main body. As soon 
as we got within 300 yards of them, the word was given to open fire. We followed 
them for about three miles. There were between 40 and 50 killed. We only just 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 96



51 

retired in time, as we were nearly on the top of the main body, which was 5,000 strong, 
when the bugle sounded. We are now doing all. we can to strengthen our position. 
All the cattle have been sent to the mountains. The Company will have to give us full 
compensation for what we have lost. A border police has been Ibrmcd ; I have joined 
for two mouths. All the people are called out to man the fort. Tlie general opinion is 
that the Compan^r want to light, as Mataheleland is a magnificent cimntiy, healthy, and 
also very rich in minerals. A free farm will he given those wlio go into fight, I liavc 
just come in from a ten days’ patrol over the border.” 

Enclosure 2 in No. 4. 

EXTRACT from the “TI.MRS,” 24ih October. 
THE POSITION IN MASIIONALANU. 

The following are extracts from private letters received from a young Englishman 
who has been located a few miics from Eort Victoria:—“Some people will argue that 
“ tliere is no reasonable e.xcuse for fighting the Matabele, and ix'ill sum up b}- sajMiig, 
“ ‘ Lobcngula sent an inipi with strict injunctions not to interfere with the white men, 
“ ‘ but to raid the Makalahas and Maslion.ns. They obeyed those injunctions and 
“ ‘ never injured a single white, and when requested by tlie Great White Chief to return 

‘ over the border were on their way there when they were fired tipon and chased.’ 
“ From that view, many would sympathise with Lobcngula. But, looking at it from a 
“ looker-on’s view, it is plain the impi did as much as they dared. Had they broken 
“ the King’s order in any one respect they knew it meant death on their return; but 
“ they also knew that, if they could prov*oke the whites to attack them first, the King 
“ could only justify them in retaliating; thcrcrorc they tried their hand at-that game. 
“ The only kraals attacked were those all round Victoria (with which Victoria trades 
“ for meal, &c.) The white men’s Makalaka servants were murdered in the camp before 
“ our ev'cs, and in one case a iVIakalaka was assegjiied through the hack while on his 
“ knees requesting his boss to protect him. The boss himself had an assegai put on his 
“ breast in a defiant manner. They openly ciilled the whitc.s ‘ dogs,’ they killed the 
“ par.son’s Kaffir a short distance from the church, they snapped their fingers in 
“ contempt at the indaba with the doctor when he ordered them to quit, and, instead 
“ of hurrying away, they went towards the bod}^ of the impi by the koppie.s, About 

two hours after, they were overtaken by Captain Lcnd3^ and some horsemen, and the 
*• captain, seeing tlicv had not obeyed orders by hajitcning off, fired on tliem and chased 
“ them.” 

Enclosure 3 in No. 4. 
EXTRACT from “ TUCTH,” IQth October. 

Durban, I5th (Special). 
A private letter received in Durban from Victoria contains the following:—“ Last 

“ Tuesday Matahelc come into camp. The alarm was sounded and every one was shut 
“ in the fort. Dr. Jameson held an indaba, and gave them one hour to get out of 
“ Maslionaland (30 miles). An hour and a half afterwards, fifty of us mounted and were 
“ sent to see if they had cleared, when we came across about .sixt}^ of them about seven 
“ miles from camp. Captain Lendy gave us the order to charge and fire, which we did, 
“ killing between 25 and .30. The others got into a kopje among the rocks, so we bad 
“ to leave them. It was like buck-shooting, for the poor devils took to their heels and 
“ we galloped up and almost shot them point blank. I don’t suppose any of them got 
“ less than four or five bullets in him. Two days ago, a mounted party (12) went out 
“ as far as the border to see if any more Matabeles were about, and news came in this 
“ morning that they had had another brush with them, killing several.” 

No. 5. 

The MARQUESS OF RJFON to Siu H. B. LOCH.* 
[Aomoered hj No. 7-] 

SIR, Downing Street, November 20, 1893. 
I T'RAN'SMIT to you a copy of a letter which appeared in the “ Daily Clironicle” 

of yesterday, from the Rev. R. Wardiaw Thompson, Foreign Scci-etary of the Loiidon 

* Despatch roprintedsfrom [0. 7290], p. 17. 
Gt 2 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 97



52 

\ 

Missionary Society, concerning a letter received ti'oin a friend of his at Palapye, Mr. 
"W". C. Willoughby, relating to the origin of the recent hostilities with the Matabele. 

Without going into the general questions of policy discussed in these two letters, 
1 would draw your attention to tliose parts of the second letter which bear on the 
conduct of Captain Lendy, and to point out to you that the statements which Mr. 
Willoughby makes appear to have a material bearing on the question raised in my 
Despatcli of the 2nd instant,* whothcr the information supplied correctly described the 
circumstances under which Captain Lendy and his men fired on the retiring Matabele. 
You will observe that one of Mr. AVilloughby’s correspondents alleges that quarter was 
refused to the Matabele, even when they went on their knees and begged for it. The 
whole subject needs the most searching investigation. No satisfactory inquiry can, of 
course, take place before the close of the present operations, and meanwhile-1 should be 
glad if ymu Avould let me know which, in your opinion, would be the best inode of 
securing a full, impartial, and independent investigation into all the cii'cumstanccs of 
the case. 

I have, &c., 
(Signed) RIPON. 

Enclosure in No. 5. 

The “DAILY CIIIIONICLE/’ l6th November 1893. 

The JBdifor of ihc Daily Chronicle. 

14, Blomfield Street, E.C., 
SIR, November 14, 1893. 

1 HAVE read with interest the information you have given to the public about the 
war which is at present being waged against the Matabele. I have not been able entirely 
to agree with you in some of y^our opinions, but none the less I have been grateful to you 
and others for ventilating the subject, and enabling the British public to know something 
of the real stare of the case. Complaints have been made that the inissionarj* interest has 
all gene in favour of fhc Chartered Company of British South Africa, and no small 
criticism has been passed upon the missionaries for their belligerent attitude. I. confess, 
the utterances, as reported, of the Bishop of Derry and the chaplain at Fort Victoria have 
seemed to me to warrant all the criticism that has been passed u2)on them. I am 
Condons also that there is good reason for saying that the missionary interest has been on 
the side of the Chartered Company. The fact is, some of us who have been pretty closely 
connected with work in Mutabelcland for many years past have been sorely troubled as 
to the attitude we ought to take. X, myself, visited that country 10 years ago, and came 
home with a strong conviction that sooner or later there would inevitably be a war with 
the Matabele, and that nothing but a strong hand would suffice to break up a power 
Avbich Avas a standing menace to peace, and Avhich lived the cruel oppression of its 
Aveaker neighbours. A \dsit to Palapye last, year, and all I heard then from men long 
resident in the country, confirmed tlie opinion I had formed 10 years ago, and led me to 
expect that the crisis could not be very long delayed, '’’he Matabele tTiemsch'es are fine 
specimens of the savage, and would be likely, under a different government, to dcA'elop 
quite as rapidly as any uncivilised nafu^e race Avith Avhich I am acquainted. But the 
government under which they have lived has rendered aiivancemeot utterly impossible. 
This society has had a mission in Matabeleland for 30 years, but the effort to get 
children to school, or permanently to influence the adults for good, has been so constantly 
frustrated by the fear in Avhich the people liA^e that visible results have been almost nil, 
and we have again and again discussed the expediency' of AvithdraAving our missionaries 
and sending them to some field Avhere they Avould be able to work under different 
conditions. 

I cannot, therefore, in the least sympathise Avith much that has been said and Avritten in 
favour of the Matabele, as if they Avere an ill-nsed and innocent people, I never came 
across any tribe Avhose manner of life and mode of dealing Avith their neighbour.s excited 
such universal indignation and dislike, even among peace-loving and native-loA'ing men. 
Yet, having said this, I have felt tliat the utterances of the men Avho have talked freely 
about “ wiping out ’’ the Matabele, and driving them beyond the Zambesi, Avere as 
barbarous as the habits of the tribe Avhom they sought to punish. There is no need to 

* No. 4. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 98



53 

wipe out the Matabele people. Indeed, it would be great folly, on economic grounds, to 
think of such a thing. All that is needed is that the tyranny under Avliich the^^ live 
should be broken, and a different government substituted for it. I have also been much 
troubled by the story of the way in which the present war lias been commencc'l. It has 
seemed to me that the official accounts left much to be desired, and that it would have 
been well for our credit had the war, which seemed to be a stern necessity sooner or later, 
been commenced under different conditions. I was confirmed in this feeling by a letter 
from a friend who has been many years in jMalabelcland, and who, miting before 
hostilities actually broke out, said, “ You know what I have long thought about the 
Matabele, but I wish we had gone into the ivar with cleaner hands.’’ 

I have now received from another friend at Palapye the enclosed letter, Avhich he asks 
ine to send to the editor of some influential newspaper. The report he gives fully 
justifies the expression of the wish of my previous correspondent. 1 send it to 3’ou in 
the hope that it may find publicity through your columns. Mow that the war has been 
commenced, and the hlatabele iiave learned the power of the white man, I can only hope 
that it will bc speedil}* terminated, and that Her Majesty’s Government will insist upon 
having the country brought under Imperial rule, instead of leaving it to be managed by 
a great trading corporation, whose control nccessaril}* must be largely affected bj-con- 
siderations of self-interest, and of the accounts which must sooner or later be rendered to 
their shareholders. 

I am, &c. 
II. WAUDLAW TIIO.MI'SON, 

Foreign Secretary London Missionary Socict3^ 

The following is the letter which the Rev. 11. Wardlaw Thompson asks us to publish :— 

Palapve, Bamangwato, British Bechuanaland Protectorate, 
October 16, 1«93. 

It is, perhaps, inevitable that the British race should be continually extending its SAva3^ 
The genius of our people, our historj', and our present necessities, ;ill combine to bring this 
about. And it is doubtful liow much of praise or blame for this we jiisth* deserve.^ He 
would be a rash man, and short-sighted withal, AVIIO should venture to draw a permanent 
frontier to all oiir dominions. But I submit that tlic mctliods by which we extend our 
dominions are surely matters of firsl-rate importance, calling for the scrutin\' of all who 
love our nation. And it is to some of these methods that I desire to draw the attention, of 
your readers. English papers arc alwa3*s a month old before they reach us at this remote 
place, and, thanks to the sweet Ava3*warducss of our Bechuanaland postal arrangements, 
they are sometimes permitted to mellow at Vi*3-burg, or some other place. Mine went 
astra3' last week. So I am five weeks in arrears with newspaper information. I see, 
however, that many papers have already referred to the troubles in Matabcleland, and it 
is probable that during the last five weeks liic references have been more numerous and 
more lengthv'. All the references that I have seen arc evidentlj' based upon official 
reports or down-country rumours. And the officials of the Chartered Company are pos- 
sibly not encouraged to put both sides of the question before the public. All information 
from Mashonalaiid or Matabcleland passes through Palapye—if it passes at all; some of 
it probabl3’^ goes no farther. So it is not presumptuous to that we are well posted 
with the latest information from this quarter. 

The official report of the conflict at Fort Victoria told how an impi of Matabele 
soldiers had raided the district, around that fort; killed a large number of Msshonas, 
many of them being slain in close proximity to the fort; raided one English farmstead; 
and caused general alarm and apprehension among the white settlers within the sphere 
of=the Company’s influence. Of the raiding of the English farmstead, no other report 
has yet reached here. But there can be no doubt tiiat the other statements are well 
founded, and that the Matabele behaved in their usual bloodthirsty and. savage manner 
toward their unfortunate serfs. Nor is there any doubt that trade, mining, and 
agriculture in Mashonaland were more or less paralysed by the flight of servants and 
workmen who, being for the most part Mashona or Makalanga, sought safety in the hills. 
It is not my business to apologise for the cruelties of the heartless Matabele; nor do I 
intend b}' any word in this letter to attempt the task. It is the general opinion here— 
even among those who know the Matabele best and have the most genuine and unselfish 
interest in the welfare of the tribe—that a thorough military castigation Avould be for the 
benefit of this people and for the peace and progress of their neighbours. And if Great 

G 3 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 99



54 

41 

liritam feels inclined to enter upon a oorder war from purely pbilanthropic motives, there 
is scope in Matabeleland for the enterprise. But, Sir, if we undertake the work of 
chastisement, let us at least abstain from copying- tlic treachery and cruelty of the savages 
that we chastise. 

Now, to come back to that official report. Tlic report went oh to say that Dr. Jameson 
ordered the indunas of the Matabele impi to come into the fort for an “ Indaba ” ; that 
he gave them a certain time to clear off “ the commonage ” (whatever that may mean), 
and that after that time Captain Lendy went out with a handful of men and routed the 
Matabele, killing many, and without loss on our side. Now the Matabele are not cowards 
in the sense that they are afraid to fight, though they may be cowards in the sense 
that they take every advantage of a man’s Aveakness when he is in their power. And 
this seemed like a great achievement for the Chartered Company’s forces. There is, 
howcA’cr, a small paper published at Victoria and called the “ Mashonaland Times,” and a 
cop3‘ of its “special issue,” dated “Victoria, Thursday, July 20, 1893,” fell into my 
hands not long after the above date- It appears to be produced by some stylographic 
process, but, modest as it is in appearance, it seems to ainr at independence of statement. 
This paper predicted some eight months ago that the Matabele would continue to grovt- 
more impertinent, and upon the whole it seems pleased that its prophecy has been 
fulfilled, and that there is a prospect of war between the English and Matabele. It avers 
also, in a paragraph headed “ Saturday,” that Evciyone wants to fight.” And taking 
it altogether it is more than evident that this paj)cr would not minimise any grand victoiy 
over the Matabele. You shall Iiear what it says. The quotation is fVoni page o, and runs 
as follows:— 

Monday. Dr. Jameson and Lieut. Napier arrived. Ever3^body surprised and 
pleased at the doctor’s attitude. Sergeant Chark left with escort to inform the Matabele 
that ‘ the Great Wliite Chief ordered their indunas to come to an indaba.’ Bellows cheer 
the O.C. every opportunity. Everyone full of military ardour.” 

“ Tue.'iday.—^The administrator’s action successful. Matabele indunas arrive. Dr. 
Jameson asks no questions : simpl3' tells them to clear Avithin an hour, or he Avill make 
them. One induna remarkably ’impertinent. Two hours later mounted part3^ under 
Leiidy rode after Matabele, fell in with about 1.50 of the enemy, who promptly clear, 
30 beiu^ killed, including the impertinent induna, no Avhitc man killed or wounded.” 

NOAV in this report there are some remarkable omissions if the official statement is 
entirei3* correct, and not onl3* omissions, but even variations from tlie official statement, 
and some of its readers here began to wonder what there was behind it all We knew 
the truth w'ould come if we Availed for it, because there is constant cominiinication 
betAveen Palapye and Victoria. It Avas not long before reports began to come in from 
Matabeleland, Avhich Averc still more out of harmony Avith the official report. Lobengula 
had. sent his impis to punish his vassals, the Mashona and Makalanga, for various offences 
against his authority, one offence being that iff* cutting the Chartered Company’s 
telegraph Avire, of Avhich the Company had complained to him. 'fhere has been no 
dispute betAveen him and the Company as to the sovereignt3' of Mashonaland. This the 
Company does not claim. The3" pay him indeed about 100/. a month for the right to 
carry on certain trading, mining, and agricultural operations in this portion of his country. 
The “ frontier,” referred to in coiinesioii Avith this affair, is the line be3mnd Avhich the 
Chartered Goinpain* has no right to carry its operations. It has nothing to do Avith 
sovereignt3^ Lobengula AA^amed his indunn.s before he sent them away that they Avere 
not to interfere Avith the Avhite man or his propcrt3% and he claims to have sent 
information to this effect to the officers of the GoA-ernment, and Avlien his indunas 
returned Avitli the stoiy’^ of their disaster, and AA'ere sharply censured for allowing their 
men to be shot doAvn by the AA'hite men Avithout attempting resistance, they quietly 
replied to Lobengula’s Avrathful Avords, “ You told us, Chief], not to touch the Avhite men, 
and Ave did as Ave Avere told.” And his great complaint to a,friend of mine, Avho passed 
through his capital a day or tAA^o later, Avas that the Avhite men had fired upon his soldiers 
when they V)cre retiring. We further heard from Mataljelelaiid that the Matabele 
Avarriors Avho Avere attacked Averc the rear-guard of the impi; that they Avere carrying a 
sick induna, and that both the sick induna and the induna in charge of the party Avere 
shot. 

Since then, I have been favoured witli the sight of a private letter from a gentleman at 
Fort Victoria, and the letter, Avhile giving an ampler account of Avhat transpired, is in 
strict accord with the noii-official accounts to which I have referred. TJie letter says 
that Dr. Jameson ordered the indunas across the frontier, Avhich Avas 30 miles aAvay, 
within two hours. The doctor must have had a high opinioti of the physical powers of 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 100



55 

the Matabele. About one hour later, however, Captain Lencly rode out with about 40 
men and overtook a part}* of'Afatabcic about two or three miles away, who were inaldng- 
for the so-called frontier.” The number of Matabele is variously estimated at 50 and 
150 men. Captain Lendy then ordered hi.s men to charge an.l (ire, which they did. 
The impi took no notice, but quietly v/ent on. Leiuly’s horsemen pursued thenf, each 
picking out his man and bring at him, sometimes when not more than live or si.x yards 
awa3^ 'fhe Matabele hid, and tried to escape, but they uttered no sound and showed 
no fight. Not even a groan was heard. W'^hen a Matabele warrior found that he could 
not escape, he turned towards his pursuer, fell on one knee, and held up his little shield 
ill token of submission. But no quarter seems to liave been given. The iiumber of the 
slain can only be guessed at, for there was no attempt to count them. It was probably 
not far from the number stated in the official report. Now, whatever one may think of 
the necessity for a war with the .Matabele, it is surely a disgrace to the British nation to 
have these things done in its name. And it seems about time that the healthy air of 
public opinion were allowed free pla^' among the forces of the Chartered Compan3^ [Ic 
must he a strong man wdio can live among those who are ever thirsting to be at the 
throats of the “ niggers,” and who can yet preserve a high standard of justice towards 
offending natives ; and it seems only lair that men who have thus become enervated should 
be reminded at this crisis that the eyes of healihier men in the British Snipirc arc upon 
them, and that the Briiisli public will knoiv how to deal with the cruelty and treachery 
of white men, as well as with the same qualities in the black. 

Now, iny letter is alrcad3' long, but I must add a few lines more. Since this conflict at 
Tort Victoria, correspondence lias been passing frecl}'between the lligli Commissioner 
and Lobcngula. All this correspondence, wlietlier telegraphic or postal, has to be 
forwarded between Palapx'c and. Buluwaj-o by special messengers. Khama, Chief of the 
Bamangwato, furnishes the Assi.stant Ooniinissioner, who resides here, with men for this 
purpose. It is not cas3' to know what is contained in a. Government Despatch ; we shall 
sec tliat when the Blue Book is published. But I faiic}' it will then be seen that no definite 
demand for compensation has been made, nor for* apologj', and that no declaration of 
war, or even ultimatum, has ever been sent to Lobcngula. His tone lias been pacific, 
things have been going as pcaceabl}*- and orderby in Bu1uAva\'^o as thc\- usually do. His 
messenger, who went to ihiglaiid some j-cars ago, passed through iicrc on his wa>' to the 
Cape, as a special envox' to the High Commissioner. He seems to be at the Cape still, 
as far as xx'c can hear, and Lobcngula is still awaiting a message from him. The mail 
from'Buiuwajm reached Palapx'e last Monday in the usual xvav, and saw nothing 
unusual on the road, and }'Ct xve are now at war with the Matabele. Three columns 
from Salisburx', Victoria, and Macloutsie, arc closing in on the country. Two Matabele 
boys reached Palapyc last Saturday xxdih some men belonging to a friend of mine. They 
brought these men out of Matabeleland without hindrance or dilliculty, and on the way 
they met Khaina and his men marching to join the British forces. “ What docs it 
mean ? ” thej' a,sked. “ Our people do not expect this. Wc left them sowing their 
“ garden.*!, and not preparing to light the Euglish.” Is this xvorthy of a great and strong 
nation, which .should be an example of honesty and justice to the loyal natives of 
Bechuanaland, and cx-en to our troublesome neighbours aeross the northern border? 
Our Chief hej c, Khama—a true man, a just and iirm ruler of his people, and a loyal 
servant of our Governinent, wa.s asked to send his regiments to the Macloutsie drift to 
co-operate xvith the B,B.P. force from the Macloutsie camj), and he left last Monday 
xvith four rcgiiricnts. He has done ex'erything that he could do to aid the Government. 
The most reliable information that has rcache.d . Phlapyc has come by his. scouts. And 
now he has gone xvitb his regiments. • But these arc methods that he would ucx'cr have 
descended to, and they are not likely to increase his respect for the Government. 

My only plea for troubling you xvith this letter is the fact that T can vouch for all I 
have said in it, and the still inore.iiiiportant fact, that the righteousness of a nation is the 
rightful business of every one of its citizens. And I beg to subscribe myself, yours 
faithfully, 

W. C. WiLLOUGHIJY. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 101



4 

6G 
t 

\ 
No. 6. 

Sill H. 33. LOCH to the MARQUESS OF RIPON.* 
(Received December 22, 1893.) 

Government House, Cape Town, 
MY LOUD MAHQUESS, December 5, 1893. 

I iiAvu tlic honour to enclose, for your Lordship’s information, with reference to 
your despatch of the 2nd ultimo,f a copy of correspondence on the subject of Captain 
Lendy’s collision with the Matabelc at Victoria. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) HENRY B. LOCH, 

Governor and High Commissioner. 

Enclosure 1 in No. 6. 

From the IMPERIAL SECRETARY, Cape Town, to SECUBTARY, BRITISH SOUTH AFIHCA 

COMPANY, Cape Town. 
Govenmient House, Cape Town, 

SIR, November 29, 1893. 
I AM directed by his Excellency the High Commissioner to enclose, for your 

information, a copy of a Despatch wliich lie has received from the Secretary of State, 
covering newspaper cuttings, giving accounts of what took place in the collision between 
Captain Lendy’s force and the Matabelc. 

His Excellency has no doubt the British South Africa Company will be us anxious 
as lie is liimsclf to have this matter fully investigated, and he will be glad if Mr. Rhode.s 
will, on bis return, confer with him as to the best means of arriving at the facts. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) GRAHAM BOWER, 

To Secretary, British South Africa Company, Imperial Secretary. 
Cajic Town. 

Enclosure 2 in No. 6. 

From SECRETARY, BRITISH SOUTH AFRICA COMPANY, Cape Town, to the IMPERIAL 

SECRETARY, Cape Town. 

SIR, Cape Town, December 2, 1893. 
I HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 29th ultimo, 

covering a Despatch which his Excellency the High Commissioner has received from 
the Secretary of State, relative to the collision whicii took place at Victoria between the 
forces under Captain Lend}' and the Matabelc. 

The British South Africa Company are equally anxious to have the matter fully 
investigated, and upon Mr. Rhodes’s return 1 will communicate his Excellency’s wish 
to confer with him as to the best means of arriving at the facts; though I have little 
doubt that the results of such investigation will corroborate the information already 
reported by the Administrator upon the matter. 

1 have, &c. 
(Signed) E. RUTHEUFOORD HARRIS, 

To the Imperial Secretary, Cape Town. Secretary. 

No. 7- 

SIR H. B. LOCH to the MARQUESS OF RIPON.-^= 
(Received January 8, 1894.) 

[Answered hj No. 8.] 
Government House, Cape Town, 

MY LORD MARQUESS, December 15, 1393. 
r HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Lordship’s Despatch of the 

20th ultimo,{ covering a copy of a letter published in the “ Daily Chronicle,” reflecting 
on the conduct of Captain Lendy. 

• Heprintcd from [0. '7290], pp. 31 und 39, I No. 4. t No. 5. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 102



57 

The charges made in this letter will be investigated as soon as the present hostilities 
are over, and it has occurred to me that either Mr. Newton, the Colonial Secretary 
of Bechuanaland, or Major Sawyer, my military secretary, might be entrusted with the 
inquiry. 

In the meanAvhile, and until the investigation takes place, I think it only right tliat 
charges against officers and men who are not in a position to defentl tlieinsclvcs should 
be received with some reserve. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) HBNRY B. LOCH, 

Governor and High Commissioner. 

No. 8. 

The MARQUESS OF RIPON to Sm U. B. LOCH.=== 

SIR, Downing Street, February’ 15, 1891- 
I HAVE the honour tj acknowledge the receipt«f your Dcspatcli of the 15th 

December,! respecting the selection of an officer to inquire into the circuinstiinces in 
which fire was ojiened on the Matabcle impi when retiring from the vicinity of Fort 
Victoria on the LSth July last. 

If the sole object of the proposed inquiry had been merely to inquire into the personal 
conduct of Captiiin Lendy, as the officer in command on that occasion, I should, on 
receiving the sad intelligence of his death, have considered it only proper to direct thai 
the inquir}' should not be proceeded wiili. But Dr. Jameson and the Directors cf the 
British South Africa Company have taken upon iheniselves the full responsibility for 
the proceedings in this matter, and, consequently, the orders given b}^ Dr. Jameson 
on the occasion, and the action of the Company generally, would have formed principal 
subjects of investigation, and as, moreover, a promise has been given to Parliament that 
the'^inquiry would be held, I have, upon full consideration, come to the conclusion tiiat it 
should still take place 

1 am of opinion that the investigation of the circumstances will most fitly be entrusted 
to some officer of ihe necessary professional training, but wholly unconnected with the 
political aspects of the question. I would observe that in the instructions wiili whicli 
the officer selected will be furnished it -will be pointed out, that, while ascertaining all 
the facts of the case, he should abstain from countenancing reflections on C iptain Lendy's 
personal character. 

I still have the question of the person who had best be selected to conduct the 
investiaation under mv consideration, and will telegraph you my decision. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) RIPON. 

No. 9. 

SIR W. G. CAMERON to the MARQUESS OF RIPON. 
(Received May 21, 1894.) 

(Extract.) Government House, Cajie Town, 
May 1, 1894. 

I HAVE the honour to enclose, for your Lordship’s information, with reference to 
previous correspondence, a copy of correspondence and other documents on the subject 
of the inquiry into the occurrences at Fort Victoria in July last. 

* Reprinted from C.—7290, p. 85. t No. 7. 

u 83160. H 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 103



. Enclosure 1 in No. 9< 

Prom SECRETAUV, BIUTISU SPUTII AFRICA COMFANV, Cape Town, to the IMPERIAL 
SECRETARY, Cape Town. 

SIR, Cape Town, April 25, 1894. " 
REFERRING to your letter of* the J4th instant, I beg to state-that the-British 

South Africa Company is of opinion that Victoria and Buluwaj’^o would be convenient 
localities for the Commissioner to visit for the purpose of instituting inquiries into the 
occurrences at Victoria in J11I3' last, because at these two centres evidence would no 
doubt be more readily obtained than in other portions of the country. 

The Company can have no objection to an investigation into the occurrences, and the}-- 
trust that his Excellency the lliglL.Commissioner may^be.,pleased to make provision for 
their being represented by Counsel or some other officer autliorised to cross-examine 
witnesses who may be called to give evidence at the inquiry. 

I have, &c. 
The Imperial ,Secretiir3*, (.Signed) P. IIUTHERFOORD HARRIS, 

Gape Town. Secreiarj-. 

Enclosure 2 in No. 9- 

Prom the IMPERIAL SEGRETART, Cape Town, to SECRETARY, BRITISH SOUTH AFRICA 

COMPANY, Cape Towii. 

(Extract.) Government House, Cape Town, 
April 27, 1894. 

WITH reference to. previous correspondence relative to the incidents- that tbok 
place at or near Fort Victoria i« the inontli of Jul}: lastj I am. directed-by his-Excellency 
the High Commissioner to acquaint you that the Secretary of State has directed’that 
Mr. Newton be appointed to hold the inquiry. 

Enclosure 3 in No. 9. 

Prom the IMPERIAL SECRETARY,.Cape Town,, to the SEC«ETARY,..BRITISH SOUTH AFRICA 

COMPANY, Cape Town. 

Government House, Cape Town, 
SIR, April 27, 1894. 

T AM directed b}' his Excellency the High Commissioner to acknowledge the 
receipt of )-our letter of the 2.5th instant, relative to the localities at which the inquiry 
into the Victoria incident is to be held, and asking that the British South Africa 
Company ma}* make provision for their being represented by Counsel or by some other 
officer. 

His Excellency has no instructions relative to the representation of the British South 
Africa Company, but as he is satis-fied that it is the desire of Her Majest3’’s Government 
to give every facility for eliciting the truth, he will take on himself the responsibility of 
instructing Mr. Newton to admit Counsel or some officer appointed by the British South 
Africa Compan3" to cross-examine witnesses, &c. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) GRAHAM BOWER, 

The Secretary, British Soutli Africa Company, Imperial Secretaiy. 
Cape Icwn. 

Enclosure 4 in No. 9- 

COMMISSION. 

To FRANCIS JAMES NEWTON, Esq., C.M.G. 
GREETING : 

I, William Gordon Cameron, Knight Commander of the Most Honourable Order of 
the Bath, Senior Officer in command of Her Majesty’s Troops in the Colony of the 
Cape of Good Hope, Administering the Government of the said^ Colony and the 
territories and dependencies thereof, Governor of the territory of British Bechuanaland, 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 104



!KK 
59 

am Her Ma]esty s High Commissioner, &c., &c., cS:c., confiding in your knowledge and 
ability, hereby nominaie and appoint you as a Commissioner for and on behalf of Her 
Majesty’s Government for the purpose of inquiring into and reportino- npon the 
circumstances and occurrences which took place at or near Fort Victoria in iflashonaland 

the month of duly 1893, precedent to, and loading up to, the outbreak 
qt hostilities in Mashonaland and Matabeleiand, in which the forces enrolled by the 
British South Africa Company were engaged, with full power and authority for the above 
purposes to proceed to any portion of the territories defined by Her Majesty’s Order in 
Council of May 9th, 1891, to hold sittings therein, and at the said sittim^s to take 
evidence touching the matters referred to, to reduce the same to writing and transmit 
the same, together with your written report thereon, under your seal, *to<rcther with 
this Commission, to me, and to do ail other matters and things neccssarv for, and 
incidental to, the above purposes, subject to all the provisions of my Proclainatiou 
of 30th day April lS9t, and for all matters and things so done in the exercise of 
the powers hereunder conferred this Commission shall be sullicicnt uuthoriiv. 

Given under my hand and seal at Cape Town tin's 1st day of May 1894r 
(Signed) W. G. CAMERON, General, 

High Commissioner. 

Enclosure 5 in Ho. 9* 

From SECRETARY, BRITISH Soum AFRICA CO.MPANV, Cape Town, to the IMI‘ERIAL 

SECRETARY, Cape Town. 

Cape Town, April 30, 189-1. 
1 ii.AVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 27th instant, 

relative to the inquiry to be held into tlic occaircnces at Victoria in July last, and I 
beg to thank his Excellency the High Commissioner for making provision for the British 
South Africa Company to be represented at the inquiry by Counsel or some other officer 
to cross-examine witncssc.s, &c. 

J have, &'c. 
The Imperial Secretary, (Signed) F. BUTIIERKOORD HARRIS, 

Cape rown. Secretary. 

Enclosure 6 in No. 9- 

From His Excellency the HIGH COMMISSIONER, Cape Town, to F. J. NEWTON, 

Esq., C.M.G. 

Government House, Cape Town, 
May I, 1S94. 

I HAVE the honour to enclose the following documents :— 
1. A Proclamation constituting a Commission to inquire into events that took place at 

Fort Victoria in July last. 
2. A Coiiiinissioii appointing you the Commissioner for the. above purpose. 
3. A Government notice notifying your appointment. 
I enclose also copies of correspondence that has taken place on this subject. You will, 

on receipt of this Despatch, proceed to Matabeleiand, and, after eommunicatiiig with Dr. 
Jamc.son, arrange to hold inquiries at such places as you may think fit. 

As it is of importance that you should not be any" longer than is absolutely 
necessary, it will be convenient that you should travel by the post-cart whenever 
practicable. 

In case you should find it desirable to do so, you have authorify to requisition from 
the police now stationed at Matabeleiand, any horses or waggons that you may require, 
and you will show this Despatch to Colonel Goold-Adanis, as your authority for the 
requisition. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) W. G. CAMERON, General, 

F. J. Newton, Esq., C.M.G. Administrator and High Commissioner. 

u 8»1C0. I 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 105



V \ 60 

Enclosure 7 in No. 9* 
I'rom His Excellency the HIGH CO^J-MISSIONKR, Cape Town, to His Honour ihe 

Adininistralor, Vryburg. 

(government House, Cape Town, 
SIR, May I, 1894. 

I iiAVK the .lonour (o enclose, for your perusal, and for transmission to 
Mr. E. .T. Newton, by the earliest opportunity, a letter addressed to him on the subject 
of the inquiry to be held into the events that took place at Fort Victoria in July- 
last. 

1 have, &c. 
His Honour the Administrator, (Signed) W. G. CAMKRON, General, 

Vryburg. Administrator and High Coinmis'iloncr. 

Enclosure 8 in No. 9- 

PROCLAMATION by His Excellency General Sir WILLIAM GORUON CA.MRUON, Knigiit 
Commander of the Most Honourable Order of the Bath, Senior Officer in command 
of Her Majesty’s Troops in the Colony of the Cape of Good Hope, Administering 
the Government of the said Colony,, and the Territories and Dependencies thereof. 
Governor of the Territory of British Bechuanaland, and Her Majesty’s High 
Commissioner, &c., &c., &c. 

Whereas it is expedient that all necessary powers should be conferred upon a Com- 
missioner to be appointed to inquire into and report upon the circumstances and 
occurrences at or near Fort Victoria in Mashonalaiid, in or about July 1893, precedent 
to the outbreak of hostilities in Mashonalaiid and Matabelcland. 

Now, therefore, under and by virtue of the powers, jurisdictions and authorities 
vested in and conferred upon me, I do hereby proclaim, declare and make known as 
follows :— 

1. A Commissioner shall be appointed with the powers herein-after referred to, to 
inquire into and report upon the circumstances and occurrences at or near Fort Victoria, 
in Mashonaland, in or about July 1893, precedent and leading up to the outbreak of 
hostilities in Mashonaland and Matabelcland : the said Commissioner shall be appointed 
by the High Commissioner, by notice in tlie “ Government Gazette ” of the Colony of 
the Cape of Good Hope. 

2. For the above purposes, the Commissioner shall have power to hold sittings at such 
places within the territories comprised within the limits of Her Majesty’s Order in 
Council of May 9th, 1891, as may be most suitable and convenientj and to issue 
subpoenas or summonses, calling upon any persons witbin the said territories to appear 
and give evidence before him concc-riiiug the subject matters of the said inquiry, at 
such places and at such time as may be mentioned in the said subpoenas or summonses, 
and all persons shall be bound and obliged to obey all summonses or orders under the 
Commissioner’s hand. 

3. The penalty for wilful default in complying with any such summons or order as 
aforesaid shall be by way of summary fine in any sum which the Commissioner may 
assess, or by way of summary attachment and imprisonment for contempt for any period 
not exceeding 12 months, or by way of both such fine and imprisonment. 

4. For the purposes of the last preceding section the Commissioner shall iic clothed 
with all powers conferred by the Jaw of the Colony of the Cape of Good Hope upon the 
Supreme Court. 

.0. The jiowcrs and authorities conferred upon the Commissioner by this Proclamation 
shall be exercised, such inquiry as aforesaid shall be pursued, and such report as aforesaid 
shall be made, subject to such conditions and in accordance with such direciions and 
in.structions as may be defined by law, or by the tf>rms of his commission. 

6. All proceedings by or before tlie Commissioner shall be subject to such rules of 
procedure or practice as the Commissioner may lay down and prescribe : the said rules 
shall be as far as possible, and save as herein otherwise provided, not inconsistent with 
the laws of the Colony of the Cape of Good Hope. 

7. The Commissioner shall have power to take the oral evidence of witnesses on oath, 
and to administer an oath for that purpose, but he may, at his discretion, admit affidavits 
and receive ail such evidence, whether upon oath or not, us may appear to him best 
calculated to elucidate the truth in respect of the matters forming the subject of the 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 106



inquiry ; provided that lie slnill record the manner in which all evidence taken or 
received by liim is given, so that it shall appear from the record of the proceedings 
whether sucli is given orally, on oath, or otlierwisc- 

8. All witnesses, wheiher testifying on oath or not, shall be liable for false testimony 
to prosecution before any court having jurisdiction, and on conviction to the punishment 
provided for the crime of perjury. 

9. d he Commissioner shall take down the oral evidence in writing, and shall attach 
to the said record all documents which may be put in and admirted by him, and shall 
transmit the record of the proceedings together with his written report thereon to the 

Commissioner at the conclusion of the inquiry. 

GOD SAVK THK QCEH.V. 

Given under my hand and seal this 30th day of April 1894. 
(Signed) W, G. CAMKKON, General, 

High Commissioner. 
By command of his Excellency the High Commissioner. 

(Signed) GHAIIA.M BOWKU, 

No. 1, 1891. Imperial Secretary. 

Enclosure 9 in No. 9. 

HIGH COM.MISSIONEU’S NOTICE. 

No. 11, 1894. 

His E.xcclicncy the High Commissioner has been pleased, in accordance Avith section 1 
of his Proclamation of the 30lh day of April 1894, to appoint Francis James Newton, 
Esquire, O.M.G., to he Commissioner under the said Proclamation. 

By command of his Excellency the High Commissioner. 
(Signed) GHAUAM BOWEK, 

Government House, Cape Towm, Imperial Secretary. 
30th April IS94. 

No. i(>. 

SIR VF. G. CAMERON to the MARQUESS OF RIPON. 
(Received June 2, 1894.) 

(Extract.) Government House, Cape Town, 
May 16, 1894. 

L HAVE the honour to enclose, for \'Our Lordship’s information, Avith reference to 
previous correspondence, a copy of telegraphic correspondence 011 the subject of the 
inquiry into the iticidenls at 7ictoria, Mashonaland. 

Enclosure in No. 10. 

TliCKGltAM. 

From His Excellency the HIGH COMMISSIOKEK, Cape Town, to His Honour the 
AD.AiitNisTRATOU, Vrybiifg. 

May 10.—Yours of 9th M r. Newton. ICindiy telegraph to Mr. Newton and make 
it clear to him that his mission is merely to inquire into the events at Victoria that 
preceded the Matabelc war in July last. He has nothing to do with the conduct of 
tlic Matabelc war itself or other extraneous subjects. As he is proceeding to take 
evidence in anticipation of the receipt of his instruclions, it is desirable that lie should 
understand clearly that the inquiry is limited in clinracter, and ihat he should not be 
led into an inquiry into all the various debatcablc subjects Avhicli have been discussed in 
newspapers, and on Avhicb the Avitnesses may feel strongly. 

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 107



House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online. 
Copyright (c) 2005 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. 

Page 108



 

Version: 1, Last saved: 05/01/21 14:47 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

19 January 2021 

 

1. Key issues 

1.1 Treasury Management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control 
of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks. 

1.2 The Council adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of 
Practice (the CIPFA Code), which requires the Council to report on 
performance of the treasury management function at least twice yearly (mid-
year and at year end).  

1.3 The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21 was reviewed and 
approved by Cabinet on 29 January 2020, and approved by Council on 27 
February 2020, and has been consistently applied since the beginning of the 
financial year. 

1.4 This report is an interim statement of treasury activities for the first six months 
of the financial year, to the end of September 2020. The Council has 
borrowed and invested substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed 
to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 
changing interest rates. This report covers treasury activity and the 
associated monitoring and control of risks.  

Please Enter Title Treasury Management Half Yearly Report 2020/21 

Purpose of the report To note 

Report Author Anna Russell, Deputy Chief Accountant 

Cabinet Member Councillor Sati Buttar 

Confidential No 

Corporate Priority Financial Sustainability 

 

Recommendations 

 

Overview and Scrutiny is asked to: 

 

Note the treasury position achieved during the first six 
months of 2020/21 and the financial environment in global 
markets. 

 

Reason for 
Recommendation 

Not applicable 

Page 109

Agenda Item 9



 
 

1.5 The 2017 Prudential Code includes a requirement for local authorities to 
provide a Capital Strategy, a summary document approved by full Council 
covering capital expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-
treasury investments.  The Council’s Capital Strategy, complying with 
CIPFA’s requirement, was approved by Council on 27 February 2020 and will 
be refreshed in February 2021 for financial year 2021-22. 

External Context - Economic background 

1.6 The spread of the coronavirus pandemic dominated during the period as 
countries around the world tried to manage the delicate balancing act of 
containing transmission of the virus while easing lockdown measures and 
getting their populations and economies working again. After a relatively quiet 
few months of Brexit news it was back in the headlines towards the end of the 
period as agreement between the UK and EU on a trade deal was looking 
difficult and the government came under fire, both at home and abroad, as it 
tried to pass the Internal Market Bill which could override the agreed Brexit 
deal, potentially breaking international law. 

1.7 The Bank of England (BoE) maintained Bank Rate at 0.1% and its 
Quantitative Easing programme at £745 billion. The potential use of negative 
interest rates was not ruled in or out by BoE policymakers, but then a 
comment in the September Monetary Policy Committee meeting minutes that 
the central bank was having a harder look at its potential impact than was 
previously suggested took financial markets by surprise. 

1.8 Government initiatives continued to support the economy, with the furlough 
(Coronavirus Job Retention) scheme keeping almost 10 million workers in 
jobs, grants and loans to businesses and 100 million discounted meals being 
claimed during the ‘Eat Out to Help Out’ (EOHO) offer.  

1.9 GDP growth contracted by a massive 19.8% (revised from first estimate -
20.4%) in Q2 2020 (Apr-Jun) according to the Office for National Statistics, 
pushing the annual growth rate down to -21.5% (first estimate -21.7%). 
Construction output fell by 35% over the quarter, services output by almost 
20% and production by 16%. Recent monthly estimates of GDP have shown 
growth recovering, with the latest rise of almost 7% in July, but even with the 
two previous monthly gains this still only makes up half of the lost output. 

1.10 The headline rate of UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) fell to 0.2% year on 
year in August before rising to 0.5% in September, further below the Bank of 
England’s 2% target, with the largest downward contribution coming from 
restaurants and hotels influenced by the EOHO scheme.  The Office for 
National Statistics’ preferred measure of CPIH which includes owner-
occupied housing was 0.5% year on year. 

1.11 In the three months to July, labour market data showed the unemployment 
rate increased from 3.9% to 4.1% while wages fell 1% for total pay in nominal 
terms (0.2% regular pay) and was down 1.8% in real terms (-0.7% regular 
pay). On the back of this, the BoE has forecast unemployment could hit a 
peak of between 8% and 9%. 

1.12 The US economy contracted at an annualised rate of 31.7% in Q2 2020 (Apr-
Jun). The Federal Reserve maintained the Fed Funds rate at between 0% 
and 0.25% but announced a change to its inflation targeting regime. The 
move is to a more flexible form of average targeting which will allow the 

Page 110



 
 

central bank to maintain interest rates at low levels for an extended period to 
support the economy even when inflation is ‘moderately’ above the 2% 
average target, particularly given it has been below target for most of the last 
decade. 

1.13 The European Central Bank maintained its base rate at 0% and deposit rate 
at -0.5%. 

External Context – Financial markets 

1.14 Equity markets continued their recovery, with the Dow Jones climbing to not 
far off its pre-crisis peak, albeit that performance being driven by a handful of 
technology stocks including Apple and Microsoft, with the former up 75% in 
2020. The FTSE 100 and 250 have made up around half of their losses at the 
height of the pandemic in March. Central bank and government stimulus 
packages continue to support asset prices, but volatility remains. 

1.15 Ultra-low interest rates and the flight to quality continued, keeping gilts yields 
low but volatile over the period with the yield on some short-dated UK 
government bonds remaining negative. The 5-year UK benchmark gilt yield 
started and ended the June–September period at -0.06% (with much volatility 
in between). The 10-year gilt yield also bounced around, starting at 0.21% 
and ending at 0.23% over the same period, while the 20-year rose from 
0.56% to 0.74%. 1-month, 3-month and 12-month bid rates averaged 0.02%, 
0.06% and 0.23% respectively over the period. 

1.16 At the end of September, the yield on 2-year US treasuries was around 0.13% 
while that on 10-year treasuries was 0.69%. German bund yields remain 
negative across most maturities. 

External Context – Credit Review 

Credit default swap spreads eased over most of the period but then started to 
tick up again through September. In the UK, the spreads between ringfenced 
and non-ringfenced entities remains, except for retail bank Santander UK 
whose CDS spread remained elevated and the highest of those we monitor at 
85bps while Standard Chartered was the lowest at 41bps. The ringfenced 
banks are currently trading between 45 and 50bps. 

1.17 After a busy second quarter of the calendar year, the subsequent period has 
been relatively quiet for credit changes for the names on our counterparty list. 
Fitch assigned a AA- deposit rating to Netherlands lender Rabobank with a 
negative outlook and prior to that, while not related to our counterparty list but 
quite significant, revised the outlook on the US economy to Negative from 
Stable while also affirming its AAA rating. 

1.18 There continues to remain much uncertainty around the extent of the losses 
banks and building societies will suffer due to the impact from the coronavirus 
pandemic and for the UK institutions on our list there is the added 
complication of the end of the Brexit transition period on 31st December and 
what a trade deal may or may not look like. The institutions on Arlingclose’s 
counterparty list and recommended duration remain under constant review, 
but at the end of the period no changes had been made to the names on the 
list or the recommended maximum duration of 35 days. 

 

  

Page 111



 
 

Local Context 

1.19 With the purchase of properties starting with the BP international campus site 
in Sunbury during 2016/17, the Council now has significant levels of long-term 
borrowing, secured to fund historic property acquisitions. 

1.20 The Council’s current strategy for funding capital developments is to take 
advantage of the cheap borrowing rates available when needed, while 
maintaining the investment portfolio that has been built up. 

1.21 For the year ended 31st March 2020, the Council had: capital expenditure of 
£78m, including £14.6m (18.7%) on investment properties; and net borrowing 
of £1,030m arising from its revenue and capital income and expenditure. The 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are 
the underlying resources available for investment. These are summarised at 
Tables 1 and 2 below. 

 

Table 1: CFR Summary as at 31st March 2020 

  2019/20 

  £'000 

 Opening Capital Financing Requirement  1,051,120  

 Capital investment    

   Property, Plant and Equipment  62,507  

   Investment Properties  14,640  

   Intangible Assets  19  

   Revenue Spend Funded from Capital under Statute  964  

 Total Capital Investment  78,130  

 Sources of Finance    

   Capital Receipts  (565) 

   Government Grants and Contributions  (784) 

   Revenue contributions (750) 

   Repayment of debt (11,052) 

 Total Sources of Finance  (13,151) 

 Closing Capital Financing Requirement  1,116,100  

 

1.22 As this shows, the CFR represents the cost of capital expenditure that 
remains to be financed, after applying sources of finance.  This therefore is 
the underlying need to borrowing.  The opening CFR (1 April 2019) of £1.05m 
was increased by £78.13m capital expenditure during 2020/21 and decreased 
by £13.15m of funds applied, leaving a closing CFR of £1,12m. 

1.23 Lower official interest rates have decreased the cost of short-term, temporary 
loans and investment returns from cash assets that can be used instead of 
borrowing. The Council pursued its strategy of keeping borrowing and 
investments below their underlying levels, sometimes known as internal 
borrowing, in order to reduce risk.  

1.24 The treasury management position on 30th September 2020 and the change 
over the six months is shown in Table 2 next. 

  

Page 112



 
 

 

Table 2: Treasury Management Summary 

  31/03/2020   30/09/2020 

  Balance Movement Balance 

  £m £m £m 

Long-term borrowing (1,068) 8  (1,060) 

Short-term borrowing (45) (48) (93) 

Total borrowing (1,113) (40) (1,153) 

Long-term investments 31  6  37  

Short-term investments 35  45  80  

Cash and cash equivalents 17  (12) 5  

Total investments 83  39  122  

Net borrowing (1,030) (1) (1,031) 

 

1.25 Short-term investments total £80m, and cash balances £5m, reflecting the 
increases in income generation.  These cash funds are being kept liquid to 
ensure that funding is readily available for development project costs 
expected over the coming months. 

2. Borrowing Update 

2.1 The Chancellor’s March 2020 Budget statement included significant changes 
to Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) policy and launched a wide-ranging 
consultation on the PWLB’s future direction. Additional £1.15bn “infrastructure 
rate” funding at gilt yields plus 0.60% has been made available to support 
specific local authority infrastructure projects for England, Scotland and 
Wales, for which there is a bidding process.   

2.2 In November, HM Treasury published the consultation results, and 
announced changes to PWLB lending terms: reduction by 1% on certainty 
rate loans (which had been increased by 1% in October 2019) that councils 
can access; but access only if an authority has no intention over three years 
to buy investment assets primarily for yield.  

2.3 Municipal Bonds Agency (MBA): The MBA revised its standard loan terms 
and framework agreement. Guarantees for the debt of other borrowers are 
now proportional and limited and a requirement to make contribution loans in 
the event of a default by a borrower has been introduced. The agency has 
issued 5-year floating rate and 40-year fixed rate bonds in 2020, in both 
instances Lancashire County Council is the sole borrower and guarantor.  

2.4 If the Council considers future borrowing through the MBA, it will first ensure 
that it has thoroughly scrutinised the legal terms and conditions of the 
arrangement and is satisfied with them.  

 

3. Borrowing Strategy during the period 

3.1 On 30th September 2020, the Council held £1,153m of loans, an increase of 
£40m from 31st March 2020, as part of its strategy for funding previous and 
current years’ capital programmes.  Outstanding loans on 30th September are 
summarised in Table 3 next. 

  

Page 113



 
 

Table 3: Borrowing Position 

  31/03/2020   30/09/2020 

  Balance Movement Balance 

  £m £m £m 

Public Works Loan Board 1,057  (5)  1,052  

Local authorities - long-term  11  (3)  8  

Local authorities - short-term  45  48   93  

Total Borrowing 1,113  40  1,153  

 

3.2 On 30th September 2020, the Council also had short-term borrowing totalling 
£93m. This reflected the cash-flow impact of some of the costs associated 
with development capital projects. These funds were borrowed from other 
local authorities because of the affordable rates on offer. 

3.3 The Council will also consider borrowing additional funds on both a long- and 
short-term basis for future development projects. Work is ongoing with 
Arlingclose and the portfolio holder to ensure that the cheapest and most 
appropriate duration and source are secured 

3.4 The Council’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an 
appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest costs and 
achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds are required, with 
flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Council’s long-term funding and 
asset management plans change.  

 

Treasury Investment Activity  

3.5 Both the CIPFA Code and Government guidance require the Council to invest 
funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its treasury 
investments before seeking the optimum rate of return, or yield.  The 
Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance 
between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults 
and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income. 

3.6 Continued downward pressure on short-dated cash rate brought net returns 
on sterling low volatility net asset value money market funds (LVNAV MMFs) 
close to zero even after some managers temporarily lowered their fees. Net 
negative returns are not the central case of most MMF managers over the 
short-term, and fee waivers should maintain positive net yields, but the 
possibility of net negative returns cannot be ruled out. 

3.7 On 25th September the overnight, 1- and 2-week deposit rates on Debt 
Management Account Deposit Facility (DMADF) deposits dropped below zero 
percent to -0.03%, the rate was 0% for 3-week deposits and 0.01% for longer 
maturities.    

3.8 The return on Money Market Funds net of fees also fell over the six months 
and for many funds net returns range between 0% and 0.1%.  In many 
instances, the fund management companies have temporarily lowered or 
waived fees to maintain a positive net return.  

3.9 In the light of the pandemic crisis and the likelihood of unexpected calls on 
cash flow, the Council has kept more cash available at very short notice than 

Page 114



 
 

is normal. Liquid cash was diversified over several counterparties and Money 
Market Funds to manage both credit and liquidity risks.  

3.10 As at 30th September 2020, the Council’s investment portfolio totalled 
£123.5m, with £46.0m of this being short-term and cash funds. A breakdown 
of investments is given in Appendix A.     

 

Externally Managed Strategic Funds 

3.11 Funds totalling £32.5m of the Council’s investments are held in externally 
managed strategic (bond, equity, multi-asset and property) funds, where 
short-term security and liquidity are lesser considerations, and the objectives 
instead are regular revenue income and long-term price stability. These funds 
generated a return of £0.39m to end September 2020 (October £0.56m, 
annualised 3.61%). A full list of these and their current performance is 
detailed in Appendix B. 

3.12 In a relatively short period since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in 
March and the ensuing enforced lockdown in many jurisdictions, the global 
economic fallout has been sharp and large. Market reaction was extreme with 
large falls in equities, corporate bond markets and, to some extent, real 
estate, reflecting lockdown-induced paralysis and the uncharted challenges 
for governments, businesses and individuals.  

3.13 The Council is invested in bond, equity, multi-asset and property funds. The 
falls in the capital values of the underlying assets, in particular bonds and 
equities, were reflected in the 31st March 2020 fund valuations, with most 
funds registering negative capital returns over a 12-month period.  Since 
March, there has been improvement in market sentiment which is reflected in 
partial recovery in capital values of funds in the Council’s portfolio.    

3.14 Similar to many other property funds, dealing (i.e. buying or selling units) in 
the CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund and the Columbia Threadneedle 
Property Fund was suspended by the funds in March 2020.  The relative 
infrequency of property transactions in March as the pandemic intensified 
meant that it was not possible for valuers to be confident that their valuations 
correctly reflected prevailing conditions. To avoid material risk of 
disadvantage to buyers, sellers and holders of units in the property fund, the 
management company was obliged to suspend transactions until the required 
level of certainty is re-established. The dealing suspension was lifted in 
September 2020.  There has also been a change to redemption terms for the 
CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund; from September 2020 investors are 
required to give at least 90 calendar days’ notice for redemptions.  

3.15 The Council’s investment in externally managed funds has been maintained 
on the basis that such funds are expected to yield returns over the long-term.  
Such funds have no defined maturity date but are available for withdrawal 
after a notice period.  Consequently, fund performance and continued 
suitability in meeting the Council’s investment objectives are regularly 
reviewed. Strategic fund investments are made in the knowledge that capital 
values will fluctuate, up and down, over months, quarters and even years; but 
with confidence that, over a three- to five-year period, total returns will exceed 
cash interest rates.  

Page 115



 
 

3.16 In 2020/21, the Council expects to receive significantly lower income from its 
cash and short-dated money market investments and from its externally 
managed funds than it did in 2019/20 and earlier years.  Dividends and 
income paid will ultimately depend on many factors including but not limited to 
the duration of COVID-19 and the extent of its economic impact, the fund’s 
sectoral asset allocation, securities held/bought/sold and, in the case of 
equities, the enforced or voluntary dividend cuts or deferral.  The budget for 
income from investments, has been decreased from £1.34m (2020/21) to 
£1.25m (2021/22). 

 

Non-Treasury Investments 

3.17 The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised Treasury Management Code 
now covers all the financial assets of the Council as well as other non-
financial assets which the Council holds primarily for financial return. This is 
replicated in the Investment Guidance issued by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), in which the definition of 
investments is further broadened to also include all such assets held partially 
for financial return.  

3.18 The Council held such investments in directly owned property valued at 
£985m at the end of March 2020, as well as shareholding in Knowle Green 
Estates Limited, with investment property of £4.7m.  A new company 
delivering commercial waste services, Spelthorne Direct Services Limited, 
was set up during 2020/21. 

3.19 These investments are expected to generate £50m of investment income for 
the Council, representing a rate of return of 4.8%.   

 

Investment Performance Monitoring 

3.20 Security of capital has remained the Council’s main investment objective. This 
has been maintained by following the Council’s counterparty policy as set out 
in its Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2020/21. 

3.21 The Council seeks professional advice from Arlingclose and closely adheres 
to the advice set out in the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) guidance. Given Spelthorne’s dependency on 
investment returns to balance the budget, the Council’s investment strategy is 
also kept under constant review and quarterly review meetings are held with 
Arlingclose, the Council’s treasury advisor.  

 

Estimates for income 2020/21  

3.22 The corporate world is still adjusting to the economic shock, with probably 
more to come, and it is still too early to tell which companies will withstand the 
economic damage in the short- to medium-term or which will choose to 
conserve cash in very difficult economic conditions simply to survive.  

3.23 Investment income in 2020/21 was set against a very different economic 
backdrop. Bank Rate, which was 0.75% in February 2020, now stands at 
0.1%.  Interest earned from short-dated money market investments will be 
significantly lower. In relation to income from the Council’s externally 
managed strategic funds, dividends and income distributions will ultimately 

Page 116



 
 

depend on many factors including but not limited to the duration of COVID-19 
and the extent of its economic impact, the fund’s sectoral asset allocation, 
securities held/bought/sold and, in the case of equities, the enforced or 
voluntary dividend cuts or deferral.   

 

Compliance  
3.24 The Chief Finance Officer reports that treasury management activities 

undertaken during the first half year complied with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice and the Authority’s approved Treasury Management Strategy, 
although noting that limits on the bank account were exceeded on three 
occasions.  

3.25 On one occasion, the current bank balance exceeded limits by end of day; on 
two occasions the bank account was overdrawn over the facility limit.  The 
underlying reason for these instances was limited staff availability in the 
context of increasing treasury management activities,  with the COVID-19 
crisis resulting in a sudden and unexpected increase in the volume of work 
and frequency of Government returns that the Finance Team had to deal with.   
In response to these breaches, the Treasury Management team has tightened 
up on processes with particular regard to in-day progress checks. 

3.26 The CS Lucas TM system has been implemented, and the team will continue 
to integrate that system into the Treasury Management function and reporting 
during 2020/21.  This system includes reporting on upcoming loans and 
borrowing, which has helped strengthen related processes. 

 
4. Other 

 
4.1 IFRS 16: The implementation of the new IFRS 16 Leases accounting 

standard has been delayed until 2021/22.  

5. Financial implications 

5.1 The financial implications are as set out in this report. The ability to maximise 
interest returns is paramount to generate sufficient funds to support the 
General Fund and even a small decline in interest rates can mean a 
significant reduction in cash returns. Therefore, it is our aim to continue to 
maintain flexibility commensurate with the high level of security and liquidity 
and minimal risk when making investment decisions. 

6. Other considerations 

6.1 The Council fully complies with best practice as set out in CIPFA’s 2019 
Treasury Management and Prudential Codes and in MHCLG’s Guidance on 
Investments effective from April 2018.  As issues arise, as when limits were 
breached noted at section 3, measures are taken to address the underlying 
reasons. 

6.2 Nothing in the Council’s current strategy is intended to preclude or inhibit 
capital investment in local projects deemed beneficial to the local community 
and which have been approved by the Council. 

7. Sustainability/Climate Change Implications 

7.1 None. 

Page 117



 
 

8. Timetable for implementation 

8.1 Not applicable. 

 
Background papers: None. 
 
Appendices:  TMHY20-21 Appendix A - Details of Investments 
    TMHY20-21 Appendix B - Strategic Funds 
 

Page 118



Appendix A

Details of investments held as at 30 September 2020

Investment Type Valuation Yield

£m % Start   Date Maturity Date

Pooled Investment Funds                                           

(see Appendix B for details)

Charteris Elite Premium Income Fund 0.6 2.33% 11-May-12 N/A

Schroders UK Corporate Bond Fund 1.9 1.16% 11-May-12 N/A

Schroders Income Maximiser Fund 0.7 4.70% 06-Jul-12 N/A

Schroders Income Maximiser Fund 0.6 3.82% 24-Jul-15 N/A

Schroders Income Maximiser Fund 0.6 4.06% 26-Aug-16 N/A

Schroders Income Maximiser Fund 1.9 3.97% 25-Feb-19 N/A

M&G Global Dividend Fund 1.7 5.43% 27-Jun-12 N/A

M&G Global Dividend Fund 2.9 3.21% 20-Feb-19 N/A

M&G Optimal Income Sterling 1.7 2.76% 13-Apr-15 N/A

M&G UK Income Distribution Sterling 1.6 3.42% 15-Aug-16 N/A

Investec Diversified Income 2.8 3.71% 25-Aug-16 N/A

Investec Diversified Income 1.4 3.86% 20-Feb-19 N/A

Threadneedle Inv Services - UK Equity 1.7 2.94% 08-Sep-16 N/A

Threadneedle Inv Services - UK Equity 1.3 2.90% 21-Feb-19 N/A

Threadneedle Global Equity Fund 1.5 2.96% 21-Feb-19 N/A

CCLA - The LAs Property Fund 1.9 5.24% 31-Mar-13 N/A

CCLA - The LAs Property Fund 1.1 4.49% 30-Apr-14 N/A

UBS Multi- Asset Income Fund 1.4 4.24% 22-Feb-19 N/A

Kames Diversified Monthly Income Fund 2.8 4.08% 21-Feb-19 N/A

Total 30.1 3.61%

Fixed Rate Deposits

Network Housing Group 2.0 3.60% 28-Apr-16 27-Apr-21

Total 2.0 3.60%

Total - Core Inv. Portfolio 32.1 3.61% Average

Cash Flow Investments

Aberdeen Liquidity Fund 5.0 0.08% N/A Instant Access

Aviva (ICD Portal) 5.0 0.06% N/A Instant Access

CCLA (ICD Portal) 5.0 0.12% N/A Instant Access

Federated - Class 4 (ICD Portal) 5.0 0.05% N/A Instant Access

Fidelity (ICD Portal) 5.0 0.05% N/A Instant Access

Goldman SLR (ICD portal) 1.0 0.01% N/A Instant Access

Insight (ICD Portal) 5.0 0.01% N/A Instant Access

Invesco (ICD Portal) 5.0 0.04% N/A Instant Access

JP Morgan (ICD Portal) 5.0 0.01% N/A Instant Access

LGIM - Class 4 (ICD Portal) 5.0 0.04% N/A Instant Access

Total 46.0 0.04%

Local Authorities 35.0 0.44% N/A Short term

Bank Deposits 5.0 0.02% N/A Short term

Close Brothers 5.0 1.20% N/A 20-Dec-19

Funding Circle

Loans to small businesses * 0.4 1.29% N/A N/A

Total Investments at 30/09/19 123.5 1.17% Overall Av.

* Valuation as at 31 March 2020

Note that the Yield on Pooled Funds is based on the initial investment as given at Appendix B.

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B

Strategic Investment Funds as at 30 September 2020

Fund

Date of 

Purchase

Initial 

Investment

Value as at 

30/03/20

Value as at 

30/09/20

Dividends 

Received to 

30/09/20

Annualised 

Dividend 

Yield

Capital Gain(+)/ 

Loss(-) as at 

30/09/20

Total Return 

as at 

30/09/20 Total Return

£ £ £ £ % £ £ %

DMS Charteris Premium Income Fund 11/05/12 800,120        573,549           649,165            -                     3.99% -150,955 -150,955 -18.9%

Schroders UK Corporate Bond Fund 11/05/12 1,500,000     1,663,380       1,878,873        17,342              3.60% +378,873 +396,215 26.4%

Schroders Income Maximiser Fund 06/07/12 1,000,000     771,474           739,150            14,751              5.89% -260,850 -246,099 -24.6%

Schroders Income Maximiser Fund 24/07/15 1,000,000     627,159           600,882            11,992              4.79% -399,118 -387,126 -38.7%

Schroders Income Maximiser Fund 26/08/16 1,000,000     666,341           638,422            12,741              5.09% -361,578 -348,837 -34.9%

Schroders Income Maximiser Fund 25/02/19 3,000,000     1,953,262       1,871,423        37,348              4.97% -1,128,577 -1,091,229 -36.4%

M&G Global Dividend Fund 27/06/12 1,000,000     1,378,729       1,656,996        12,519              3.66% +656,996 +669,515 67.0%

M&G Global Dividend Fund 20/02/19 3,000,000     2,443,084       2,936,167        22,183              1.48% -63,833 -41,650 -1.4%

M&G Optimal Income Sterling 13/04/15 1,690,636     1,560,599       1,696,313        444                    2.71% +5,677 +6,121 0.4%

M&G UK Income Distribution Sterling 15/08/16 2,000,000     1,584,287       1,597,861        34,117              3.18% -402,139 -368,022 -18.4%

Ninety One Diversified Income 25/08/16 3,000,000     2,613,812       2,780,835        39,712              2.95% -219,165 -179,453 -6.0%

Ninety One Diversified Income 20/02/19 1,500,000     1,360,391       1,447,320        20,669              3.08% -52,680 -32,011 -2.1%

Threadneedle Inv Services - UK Equity 08/09/16 2,000,000     1,619,055       1,736,480        11,091              2.62% -263,520 -252,429 -12.6%

Threadneedle Inv Services - UK Equity 21/02/19 1,500,000     1,198,499       1,285,423        8,210                 2.59% -214,577 -206,367 -13.8%

Threadneedle Global Equity Fund 21/02/19 1,500,000     1,305,138       1,464,561        26,294              2.63% -35,439 -9,145 -0.6%

CCLA - The LAs Property Fund 31/03/13 1,500,000     1,954,202       1,872,919        18,834              3.97% +372,919 +391,753 26.1%

CCLA - The LAs Property Fund 30/04/14 1,000,000     1,115,818       1,069,407        10,754              3.40% +69,407 +80,161 8.0%

UBS Multi- Asset Income Fund 22/02/19 1,500,000     1,288,907       1,390,108        19,247              3.60% -109,892 -90,645 -6.0%

Aegon Diversified Monthly Income Fund 21/02/19 3,000,000     2,545,539       2,762,793        74,007              4.48% -237,207 -163,200 -5.4%

Value at 30/09/2020 32,490,756  28,223,225     30,075,098      392,255            3.61% -2,415,658 -2,023,403 -6.2%

Strategic Fund Performance to 30 September 2020

Capital depreciation of these investments was -7.4%as at 30/09/20. However, capital gains and losses may fluctuate throughout the period the investments are held.

Any gains would only be realised when the funds are sold and losses would impact on the General Fund. Dividends are received at various times during the year,

generally month, quarterly or half yearly.

The income yield for 2020/21 as at 30/09/20 is 1.2% and the estimated annualised income yield on these funds is expected to be in the region of 3.6%.

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2020-2021        

 

    

Date of 
Meeting  

ISSUE Lead Officer  Objectives 

19 January 
2021 

1. Minutes  Chairman  To agree the minutes of the previous meeting. 

2. Lendy Lion Petition Deborah Ashman/Cllr 
Barratt 

To consider a recommendation to Cabinet on the Council’s 
response to the petition 

3. Draft Budget proposals Terry Collier/Cllr Buttar To consider draft Budget proposals for 2021/2022. 

4. Treasury Management half-yearly report Paul Taylor / Cllr Buttar To note the Treasury Management situation. 

5. Treasury Management Statement Paul Taylor/Cllr Buttar To note the TM Statement for 2021 

6. Project Management and Commercial 
Property update 

Sandy Muirhead/Heather 
Morgan/Cllr Noble/Cllr 
McIlroy 

To receive an update on the status of current Council projects.  

7. Task Group updates Lead Councillors To receive updates on the work of the O&S and Leader’s Task 
Groups 

8. Work Programme and Cabinet Forward Plan  Chairman / Terry Collier  To note the proposed work programme and consider issues of 
interest for the future work programme from the Cabinet 
Forward Plan. 

 

    

Extraordinary Meeting  ISSUE Lead Officer  Objectives 

2 February 2021 Review of the Eco Park Tracey Willmott-French/ 
Cllr Noble/ Surrey County 
Council/Environment 
Agency  

To review the operation of the Eco Park with the relevant 
responsible agencies. 

P
age 123

A
genda Item

 11



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2020-2021        

    

Extraordinary Meeting  ISSUE Lead Officer  Objectives 

9 February 2021 Draft Budget proposals Terry Collier/Cllr Buttar  To consider draft Budget proposals for 2021/2022. 

 Capital Strategy Heather Morgan/Cllr 
Boughtflower 

To consider an update of the Capital Strategy and agree 
recommendations to Cabinet as required. 

 

    

Date of 
Meeting  

ISSUE Lead Officer  Objectives 

23 March 
2021 

1. Minutes  Chairman  To agree the minutes of the previous meeting. 

2. Any other items previously identified by the 
Committee 

  

3. Capital Monitoring Report Q3 Paul Taylor / Cllr Buttar To receive and note the current Capital spend position.  

4. Revenue Monitoring Report Q3 Paul Taylor / Cllr Buttar To receive and note the current Revenue spend position. 

5. Project Management and Commercial 
Property update 

Sandy Muirhead/Heather 
Morgan/ Cllrs Noble and 
McIlroy 

To receive an update on the status of current Council projects.  

6. Task Group updates Lead Councillors To receive updates on the work of the O&S and Leader’s Task 
Groups 

7. Work Programme and Cabinet Forward Plan  Chairman / Terry Collier  To note the proposed work programme and consider issues of 
interest for the future work programme from the Cabinet 
Forward Plan. 

 

P
age 124


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Cabinet Forward Plan
	6 The Lower Sunbury Lendy Memorial Lion
	The Sunbury Lendy Memorial Submission to Spelthorne Council 3 Dec 2020
	The Sunbury Lendy Memorial Submission to Spelthorne Council
	Report by F.J. Newton on Collision between Matabele and Forces of British S. Africa Company at Fort Victoria, July 1893, and Correspondence


	9 Treasury Management Strategy - half yearly report
	TMHY20-21 Appendix A - Details of Investments
	TMHY20-21 Appendix B - Strategic Funds

	11 Work Programme

